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& 936 Office Depot superstores
in 49 states and the District of
Columbia

33 Office Depot superstores
in Canada

& Retail destination for ink and
toner, other core office supplies,
furniture, technology and copy,
print and ship services

® Availability of 8,500 stock
keeping units

Qver 25,000 employees

10 crossdocks

m Deliver products and services
through a dedicated sales force,
catalogs, call centers, and elec-
tronically through the Internet

m Operate under Office Depot,
Viking, and Tech Depot
brand names

® 1,400 sales professionals,
10 public web sites

m Offer over 14,500 stock
keeping units

& Develop customized intranet sites
in tandem with our customers

m 22 delivery warehouses

Number one office products
reseller in Europe

Serve customers in 21 countries—
Office Depot, Viking, and Guilbert
brand names

Multi-channel operations:
catalog (13 countries),
contract (13 countries),
and retail (four countries)

153 joint venture/license
retail stores in an additional
seven countries

E-commerce operations via
30+ web sites

25 warehouses in 11 countries
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Oiiffice PEPOT

Taking Care of Buriness

Corporate Profile

WITH ANNUAL SALES APPRCACHING $14 BILLION, Office Depot sells more office products to more customers
in more countries than any other company. Incorporated in 1986 and headquartered in Delray Beach, Florida,
Office Depot conducts business in 23 countries and employs 47,000 people worldwide. The Company operates
under the Office Depot®, Viking Office Products® Viking Direct®, Guilbert® and Tech Depot® brand names.

Office Depot is a leader in every distribution channel—from retail stores and contract delivery to catalogs and
e-commerce. With $3.1 billion in online sales in FY’'04, the Company is the world’s number three Internet retailer.

in North America, Office Depot has 969 retail stores in addition to a national business-to-business delivery network
supported by 22 delivery centers and more than 60 local sales offices. Internationally, the Company conducts
wholly-owned operations in 14 countries via 78 retail stores and 25 distribution centers, and operates 153 retail
stores under joint venture and license arrangements in another seven countries.

The Company reports financial results for three operating segments: North American Retail Division (retail operations
in the U.S. and Canada); Business Services Group (North American delivery channels including catalog, contract,
and e-commerce sales); and International Group (wholly-owned catalog, contract, e-commerce and retail sales
operations outside of North America).

Office Depot's common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ODP and is included in
the S&P 500 Index.

Financial Highlights

in millions, except share and return data

2004 2003 2002
Sales $13,564.7 $12,358.6 $11,356.6
Operating Profit 530.0 466.0 496.5
Net Earnings . 335.5 273.5 308.6
Diluted Earnings Per Share 1.06 0.87 0.97
Working Capital 1,297.8 1,297.7 1,217.7
Total Assets 6,767.4 6,194.7 4,765.8
Return on Invested Capital 10.9% 10.1% 12.9%
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Neil R. Austrian
Interim Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

To Our Shareholders

On balance, 2004 was a good year for Office Depot: Sales
and operating profit increased in all three of our business
segments; earnings per share grew 22%; we recorded
$255 million in free cash flow despite increased levels of
investment; and we ended the year with nearly $1 billion
in cash and short-term investments on our balance sheet.
However, despite this commendable financial achievement,
we ultimately failed to achieve internal performance goals
set earlier in 2004,

In October, the Board of Directors decided that a change in
Company leadership was necessary. | accepted the Board’s
request that | assume the position of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer until such time as a permanent CEO could
be identified and hired.

Immediately after assuming my role as Chairman and CEQ,
| set out to accomplish two things: to clearly articulate our
priorities for the remainder of 2004 and 2005, and then to
focus all of our energies and resources on completing them.

Specifically, we are striving to effectively execute against the
following three priorities:

1. improve North American Retail profitability while aggres-
sively rolling out new stores both in the Northeast and in _
our core geographical areas of retail strength;

2. Increase Business Services Group (BSG) delivery markst
share; and

3. Profitably grow European contract sales to fulfill the
promise of the Guilbert acquisition.

Our management and employees have done an outstanding
job of remaining focused on these priorities, while allowing
our Board of Directors to concentrate on finding a new Chief
Executive Officer to lead us into the future. | am optimistic
that by the time you receive this Annual Report we will have
named a person to assume this critical leadership position.

2004 Financial Summary

As | mentioned earlier, we made solid financial progress
in the past year: Global sales grew 10% to $13.6 billion;
consoclidated operating profit grew 14% to $530 million;
and earnings per share increased to $1.06 as compared
to $0.87 in 2003.

We improved both the sales and profitability of our North
American Retail Division. The 3% rise in comparative store
sales was our best performance since 1999. The addition
of 69 net new stores to our North American Retail portfolio—
aided by our acquisition of the former Kids “R" Us stores—
increased our presence both in the Northeastern U.S. and
in our existing markets. In June, we launched our new M2
retail store format. This innovative retail concept delivers an
improved shopping experience that costs less to open and
less to operate. At the end of 2004, we had over 100 new
and remodeled M2 stores in operation. Finally, our focus on
increasing store profitability yielded greater retail operating
margins compared 1o the prior year. We will continue our
emphasis on profitable retail growth in 2005 and beyond.

Business Services Group sales grew at 2%, with profitability
increasing at a slightly higher rate. Qur supply chain team’s
focus on efficiency yielded a fourth consecutive year of
declining warehouse and deli\)ery expenses, measured as
a percent of sales.

To support our growth objectives, we strategically realigned
and invested in our contract sales force in 2004. Over 100
new sales professionals were added to the BSG team in the
past six months in an effort to aggressively grow this segment
of our business. On the direct side of our delivery segment,
we enhanced our catalog management capabilities to foster
growth in both the Office Depot and Viking brands in the

coming years.




International Group sales and operating profit grew sub-
stantially in 2004 as compared to 2003. These increases
were mostly attributable to a full-year contribution from the
Guilbert transaction and favorable translation benefits from
a weak U.S. dollar compared to major European currencies.
Market conditions in Europe challenged our performance
last year, and the sales contribution from the Guilbert acqui-
sition fell short of our expectations. Achieving the objectives
of this key acquisition remains a top priority as we move
forward. We are also taking steps to improve our cost struc-
ture in Europe. '

Building For The Future
In the fourth quarter of 2004, we took several actions to
reduce the Company’s overall cost structure:

* Rationalized our workforce, both in North America and in
Europe;

* Cancelled plans to construct a new corporate head-
quarters in South Florida;

* Outsourced a significant portion of our BSG call center
operations to & domestic third-party provider; and

* Redeemed $250 million of existing high yield debt.

- This past January, we reintroduced our brand to business

customers with a number of bold initiatives and new brand

positioning under the umbrella of Taking Care of Business.

_ This strategic marketing program reflects Office Depot’s
unwavering commitment to the business customer—the
segment responsible for over 80% of our Company's sales.
Our decision to use Taking Care of Business was built on
our in-depth understanding of the needs and perceptions

~of our core office supply customers. This strategy has gal-
vanized and strengthened our Company, provided much-
needed momentum and a differentiated message that strongly
resonates with our key stakeholders. Taking Care of Business
is the approach to success—both internally and externally—
that we will pursue in 2005 and beyond. It returns our
Company to the customer commitment made during its
period of greatest expansion and strength, and we feel
strongly that it will serve us well in the future.

In conclusion, | remain fully confident in our stated strategies
and in our employees as we pursue greater growth and
profitability, and | know that our entire Board and senior
management team share this viewpoint. Our efforts to improve
the profitability of North American Retail, grow market share
in our North American delivery businesses and deliver on
our expectations for the Guilbert acquisition are generating
results. We will continue our Taking Care of Business phi-
losophy—both inside the Company and at every point of
interface with our customers—as we strive for additional
improvement in execution that will bring further earnings
growth in 2005.

Neil R. Austrian
Interim Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 2005

UPDATE—Steve Odland was
named Chairman, Chief Exec-
utive Officer and a Director on
March 11, 2005. Immediately
prior to joining Office Depot,
Inc., he was Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and a direc-
tor of AutoZone, Inc., from
January 2001 untit March 11,
2005, and President of that company from May 2001 untii
March 11, 2005. Previously he was an executive with Ahold
USA from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Odiand was President of the
Foodservice Division of Sara Lee Bakery from 1997 to 1998.
He was employed by The Quaker Qats Company from 1981
to 1996 in various executive positions. Mr. Odland is also a
director of General Mills, Inc.

nded vear Opened ‘e Depot stor
lion i ] Hungary, Thailand and Japan
via licensing and joint venture
agreements. At year-end, 45
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Caring and Making a Difference

OFFICE DEPOT STRONGLY BELIEVES THAT BUSINESSES

today have an obligatior to give back to the communities in
which they operate. Our core values affirm our commitment
to “the principles of good corporate citizenship, positive
social impact and environmental stewardship.”

Highlights of Office Depot's initiatives include:

National Backpack Program—In the fourth year of our
signature Community Relations program, we donated more
than 250,000 new backpacks filled with school supplies to
schools and organizations that serve underprivileged children.

Product Donations—Through an ongoing partnership with
Gifts In Kind International, our stores and delivery ware-
houses make regular product donations to local nonprofit
organizations.

Teachers and Schools—We demonstrate our commitment
to education through our 5% Back to Schools Program,
which provides millions of dollars in credits for free school
supplies, and the Star Teacher Program, which gives teach-
ers access to valuable educational resources while also
saving them money.

Grand Openings—We believe that it is essential to become
involved in local communities from the moment a new
Office Depot store opens for business. Every retail store
grand opening incorporates contributions to local nonprofit
organizations.

In December 2004, Office Depot was honored with the
Corporate Stewardship Award for Large Businesses from the
United States Chamber of Commerce’s Center for Corporate
Citizenship. To learn more about our programs, please visit
www.community.officedepot.com. ’

Commitment to Diversity

AT OFFICE DEPOT, WE ARE COMMITTED TO CREATING
an inclusive environment where all people are valued and
respected. Diversity is an important dimension of respect for
the individual—one of our core values—and a key to our
success in the global marketplace.

As we conduct business, we strive to achieve the following
objectives:

® Recruit a workforce that is reflective of the communities in
which we do business;

Provide a work environment based on honesty and
mutual respect;

Ensure that all people-related decisions are made
objectively, based on merit; and

Utilize a base of diverse suppliers.

Managers at all levels are accountable for implementing
action plans to achieve these goals.

In recent years, Office Depot’s innovative approach to diver-
sity has been recognized by the following organizations:

8 DiversityBusiness.com (formerly DIV2000.COM)—
Top 50 Corporations for Multicultural Business Opportunities
(5th consecutive year)

Women's Business Enterprise National Council—
Top Corporations for Women Business Enterprises

National Association for Female Executives (NAFE)—
Top 30 Companies for Executive Women

@ Florida Minority Supplier Diversity Council—
Corporation of the Year

Our unwavering commitment to diversity enables us to be
an employer of choice, serve the needs of our customers
and stand as a valued corporate citizen in the communities
in which we do business.

5 a fSure.com,
irect technology hardware and
ervices provider to SOHO Tustom-
ers and small- and medium-sized

s opean Business
ision expanded into
erlands and Ireland.



The Nature of Business™

OFFICE DEPOT IS DEEPLY COMMITTED TO ENVIRONMENTAL
stewardship, and has pledged to lead the industry on environmental
issues. Our commitment to the environment is not new. Itis an
integral part of our cultural fabric, and we continue to build upon
past efforts to promote responsible corporate citizenship.

VYalues Based—Market Driven

Our corporate values are the foundation of this environmental
strategy. We are supportive of corporate initiatives and stakeholder
coliaborations that foster innovation and environmental performance
and create value for the Company and its stakeholders—while
promoting action and business conduct in accordance with the
Office Depot’s environmental principies. This philosophy is reflected
in Office Depot’s environmental strategy—"values based and
market driven.”

Stakehclder Engagement

Our approach to environmental issues is one of inclusion and
consultation for the mutual benefit of the environment and our
stakeholders—our customers, shareholders, suppliers, employees,
and the conservation science community. Operating within this
strategic framework, Office Depot’s corporate environmental initia-
tives and stakeholder partnerships contribute to a project-based
stakeholder engagement process that:

m Delivers solutions with integrity and purpose,
m Is responsible, transparent and accountable;
@ Produces results that are tangible, measurable and reportable; and

@ Rewards innovation and leadership.

Green @ Work

Office Depot established a new level of environmental respon3|b|hty
transparency and accountability in 2004 with the release of the
industry’s only independently verified Environmental Stewardship
Report. Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Report provides
a detailed look at Office Depot’s environmental initiatives and
accomplishments. To download or order a copy of the report,
visit www.officedepot.com/environment.
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~ The M2 format has become Office Deﬁpot’s standard retail
configuration for both new and ,r,emo.,dczgeled stores. This highly-
- differentiated design will support our North American Retait
wstrategic goals in 2005 and beyond.




Business Services Group

Office Depat’s Business Services Group delivers
office products and services to over two million
customers in North America through multiple busi-
ness unit segments:

m The Business Services Division uses dedicated
sales professionals, call centers and e-commerce
sites to serve medium, large and national business
accounts, as well as education and government
accounts.

m Office Depot Commercial and Viking Commercial
segments serve Small Office Home Office (SCHO),
small- and medium-sized business customers
through catalog, call center and e-commerce
resources.

m Tech Depot uses an e-commerce site and profes-
sional telephone account managers to provide
technology products and solutions to SOHO
customers, small through enterprise accounts, as
well as governmental and educational institutions.

Our Business Services Group works in conjunction
with our North American Retail Division to offer
customers a multi-channel, integrated approach to
purchasing office supplies and services. Our "Call,
Click, or Come By” options, coupled with the ser-
vices of our sales professicnals, provide a wide
range of purchasing and fulfillment flexibility to meet
the needs of every office products buyer.

International Group

The International Group encompasses Office
Depot’s wholly owned mail order, contract, retaif,
and Internet operations in 14 countries outside of
the United States and Canada.

& Catalog (Viking and Office Depot brands;
13 countries)—Viking, our primary international
mail order brand, uses advanced database mar-
keting technology to enable unique and effective
catalog personalization. This capability, along
with fanatical customer service, convenience and
speedy delivery, differentiates Viking from other
office products resellers around the world.

& Contract (Guilbert and Office Depot brands;
13 countries)—QOur Business Services Division
targets medium- to large-sized corporate accounts
through a specialized sales force, individualized
pricing for key corporate accounts and overnight
order fulfiiment in each country.

Retail (Office Depot brand; four countries)—Our
international retail presence includes 78 Company-
owned stores. Retail, the smallest component
of our international business, remains a focused
strategy for Office Depot.

Office Depot is Europe's undisputed office prod-
ucts leader. We are uniquely positioned to serve
customers of all sizes across most major European
markets. Looking ahead, we intend to leverage our
scale and multi-channel capabilities to drive inter-

national growth both in Europe and beyond.
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Detailed Financial Summary

The following table sets forth the consolidated historical selected financial data of the Company:

(In thousands, except per share amounts and statistical data) 2004 20032 20020 2001® 2000®
Statements of Earnings Data:
Sales $13,564,699 $12,358,566 $11,356,633 $11,082,112  $11,495,493
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs 9,308,560 8,483,820 8,021,471 7,940,067 8,435,928
Gross profit 4,256,139 3.874,746 3,335,162 3,142,045 3,059,565
Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses 3,037,257 2,807,112 2,342,556 2,331,013 2,498,146
General and administrative expenses 665,825 578,840 486,279 445,538 447,693
Other operating expenses 23,080 22,809 9,855 12,125 6,733
Operating profit 529,977 485,985 496,472 353,369 106,993
Interest income 20,042 14,196 18,509 12,980 11,345
Interest expense (61,108) (54,805) (46,195) (43,339) (32,683)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (45,407) — — — —
Miscellaneous income (expense), net 17,729 15,392 7,183 (9,057) 4,632
Earnings from continuing cperations before income taxes and
cumuiative effect of accounting change 461,233 440,768 475,969 313,953 90,287
Income taxes _ 125,729 141,524 166,554 112,296 41,972
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change 335,504 299,244 309,415 201,657 48,315
Discontinued operations, net — 176 (775) (614) 1,017
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net —_ (25,905) — — —
Net earnings $ 335504 $ 273515 $ 308640 $ 201,043 $ 49,332
Earnings per share from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting change:
Basic $ 1.08 § 097 3 1.0 $ 068 % 0.16
Diluted 1.06 0.95 0.98 0.66 0.16
Cumulative effect of accounting change: .
Basic — (0.08) — — —
Diluted — (0.08) — — —
Net earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.08 § 088 $ 101§ 067 % 0.16
Diluted 1.06 0.87 0.97 0.66 0.16
Statistical Data:
Return on invested capital® 10.9% 10.1% 12.9% 10.1% 2.7%
Facilities open at end of period: ‘
United States and Canada:
Office supply stores 969 900 867 859 888
Customer service centers 22 22 24 24 25
Call centers 13 13 13 13 7
International®:
Office supply stores 78 64 50 39 35
Customer service centers 25 25 15 14 12
Call centers 31 31 13 11 11
Total square footage—North American Retail Division 24,791,255 23,620,343 23,203,013 22,842,403 24,384,355
Percentage of sales by segment: '
North American Retail Division 43.8% 45.7% 51.1% 52.7% 56.4%
Business Services Group 29.8% 321% 34.5% 34.0% 31.5%
International Group 26.4% 22.2% 14.4% 13.3% 12.1%
Batance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 1,297,814 $ 1,297,701 $ 1,217,706 $ 721867 $ 790,752
Total assets 6,767,351 6,194,679 4,765,812 4,331,643 4,196,334
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities 583,680 829,302 411,970 317,552 598,499
Common stockholders' equity 3,223,048 2,747,121 2,252,926 1,848,438 1,601,251

(1) Statements of Earnings Data for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, and Balance Sheet Data for 2003 have been restated to reflect adjustments that are further discussed in
Note B—Restatement of Financial Statements of the Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements included in this report. Earlier periods have not been adjusted as the

impact was immaterial.

(2) Reflects the acquisition of Guilbert in June. Also, net earnings and net earnings per share data reflect cumulative effect of adopting EITF 02-16.
(3) As applicable, amounts have been adjusted to reflect the Australian business as discontinued operations.

(4) Reconciliation available at http://investor.officedepot.com.
(5) Company-owned facilities of our International Division.

(6) Includes 53 weeks in accerdance with our 52-53 week reporting convention. Fiscal year 2005 will include 53 weeks.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1234

For the fiscal year ended December 25, 2004

or

[] Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Cormmission file number 1-10948

Office Depot, inc.
{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Office pEPOT

lakirng Care of Buriness
—
Delaware - 59-2663954
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) ~ Identification No.)
2200 Olid Germantown Road; -Delray Beach, Florida 33445
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(561) 438-4800
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange on

Title of each class v which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share New York Stock Exchange
Preferred Share Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein and will
not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infarmation statements incorporated by reference
in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [[]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes No []

The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 26, 2004 (based on the closing
market price on the Composite Tape on June 26, 2004) was approximately $5,608,949,029 (determined by subtracting from the num-
ber of shares outstanding on that date the number of shares held by directors and officers of Office Depot, Inc.).

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock, as of the latest practicable date: At February 25, 2005,
there were 312,777,143 outstanding shares of Office Depot, Inc. Common Stock, $0.01 par value.

Documents Incorporated by Reference:

Portions of our Proxy Statement, to be mailed to shareholders on or about April 1, 2005 for the Annual Meeting to be held on
May 13, 2005, are incorporated by reference in Part 11l hereof.
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PART |

Item 1. Business.

Office Depat, inc. is a global supplier of office products and
services. The company was incorporated in 1986 with the open-
ing of our first retail store in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. In fiscal
year 2004, we sold almast $14 billion of products and services
to consumers and businesses of all sizes through our three
business segments: North American Retail Division, Business
Services Group, and International Group. These segments
include multiple sales channels consisting of office supply
stores, a contract sales force, Internet sites, and catalog and
call centers, all supported by our network of crossdocks, ware-
houses and delivery operations.

Additional information regarding our business segments is
presented below and in Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) else-
where in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

North American Retail Division

Qur North American Retail Division sells a wide selection
of merchandise, including brand name and private label office
supplies (many carrying the Office Depot® brand), business
machines and computers, computer software, office furniture
and other business-related products and services through our
chain of high-volume office supply stores. Most stores also con-
tain a multipurpose copy and print center offering printing,
reproduction, mailing, shipping, and other services.

Our retail stores are designed to provide a positive shop-
ping experience for the customer, while promoting an effective
and efficient supply chain. We strive to optimize visual presen-
tation, product flow, preduct placement, shelf capacity, in-stock
positions, and inventory turnover, as well as our distribution

_capacity and handling costs. Most store replenishment is han-
dled through our crossdock flow-through distribution system.
Bulk quantities of vendor merchandise is received at one of our
central locations, sorted for distribution and generally shipped
the same day to stores needing to replenish their inventory.

In recent years, we launched a pilot store re-design pro-
gram, initially referred to as "Millennium.” The initiative was
intended to improve lines of sight, update signage, lighting and
other features, and to enhance the overall shopping experi-
ence for customers. We subsequently modified the initial design
to create an enhanced "M2” version that is now our standard
retail store configuration, both for new and remodeled stores.
We believe this design has better graphics and layout. At the
end of 2004, we had 101 M2 stores in operation.

Additionally, we offer copy, print and ship services in many
of our retail stores. We have an extensive selection of packag-
ing and shipping supplies, and established relationships with
carriers, such as United Parcel Service, that allow us to offer a
portfolio of U.S. domestic and international shipping services at
regular customer counter rates.

During 2004, we committed to purchase from Toys “R” Us

124 retail locations, formerly operated as Kids “R” Us stores, -

10 | Office Depot 2004 Annual Report

with plans to convert approximately 50 of these sites into Office
Depot stores and to sell or sublease the remaining sites. This
transaction closed in phases during the year, and by year-end,
we had opened 36 of these locations, all configured in the M2
format. This transaction gave us an accelerated entry into many
areas of the highly desirable Northeast region of the country
where we historically have been under-represented. We plan to
supplement these converted stores with new store openings in
this region.

At the end of 2004, our North American Retail Division
operated 969 office supply stores in 49 states, the District of
Columbia and Canada. The largest concentration of our retail
stores is in California, Texas and Fiorida, but we have broad rep-
resentation across North America. As of December 25, 2004,
the average size of our North American retail stores was approx-
imately 26,000 square feet. Stare opening and closing activity
for the last three years has been as follows:

Open at Open at
Beginning End
of Period Opened Closed of Period Relocated
2002. .. 859 21 13 867 8
2003. .. 867 36 3 900 12
2004 . . 900 80 11 969 1

In 2005, we plan to continue our store expansion by adding
approximately 100 new retail stores, averaging approximately
20,000 square feet, and remodeling approximately 50 existing
locations. In recent years, we have launched initiatives into non-
traditional retail selling, such as selling our products within other
retailers’ locations or on military bases. We expect to continue
to pursue various types of non-traditional solutions to expand
the reach of our products and services.

Business Services Group (“BSG”)

We have provided office supply products .and services to
businesses through our catalog and contract sales operations
for over ten years. In 1998, we expanded our catalog business
and strengthened our international operations through our
merger with Viking Office Products ("Viking"), a company that
sold from catalogs and used customer call centers in the United
States and several European countries. The European catalog
business is now managed as part of our International Group.

Currently, BSG sells branded and private label products
and services by means of a dedicated salss force, through cat-
alogs and call centers, and electronically through our Internet
sites. We strive to ensure that our customers' needs are satis-
fied through the delivery channel that is most appropriate for
them, and ccntinue to develop the systems and processes to
enable us to do that flawlessly and cost-effectively.

Our contract business employs a dedicated sales force
that services the office supply needs of medium- to large-sized
businesses. Depending on the size and type of customer, our
sales force tailors its service offerings to optimally serve the
customer’s needs at the lowest possible cost. Sales represen-
tatives increase revenues, we believe, by building relationships
with customers and providing information, business tools and
problem-solving services to them. We also allow contract

EEEE———— ]




customers the convenience of shopping in our retail locations,
while honoring their contract pricing. These sales are included
in the results of our North American Retail Division.

Our direct business is tailored to serve small- to medium-
sized companies. Our direct customers order products using our
Office Depot and Viking brand catalogs and via the Internet at our
Office Depot and Viking public web sites (www. officedepot.com
and www.vikingop.com), and our public web site for technology
purchases (www.techdepot.com).

BSG orders are filled primarily through our 22 Customer
Service Centers (“CSCs") located across the United States,
although some orders are filled from delivery stores. CSCs
provide warehouse and delivery functions for cur catalog, con-
tract and Internet customers. Some CSCs also house sales
offices, call centers and administrative offices. During 2004,
we announced plans to consolidate our call centers from 13
down to three locations and to outsource certain aspects of
call center processes by the end or the third quarter of 2005.
However, we plan to retain what we believe to be the most
critical points of customer interaction.

Over the past several years, we have implemented
advanced technologies to assist with reordering, stocking, the
pick-and-pack process, and delivery operations. We have also
increased our use of third party delivery services and reduced
our own fleet of vehicles where cost reductions can be achieved
without compromising customer service levels. As a result of
these and other initiatives, warehouse costs have continued
to decline in recent years. Furthermore, we are more aggres-
sively cross-utilizing our CSCs and crossdocks to better
serve our customers and reduce costs. We expect to continue
to find ways to take out supply chain costs while improving
service levels.

Because sales and marketing efforts and catalog pro-
duction have similarities between BSG and International, those
topics are addressed separately after the three segment dis-
cussions, though they are integral to understanding the pro-
cesses and management of BSG.

International Group

Our Internationai Group sells office products and services
in 21 countries outside the United States and Canada through
direct mail catalogs, a contract sales force, Internet sites, retail

stores (in France, Japan, Spain and Hungary), and through
international joint venture and licensing agreements. In June
2003, we doubled the size of our business in Europe through
the acquisition of Guilbert, S.A. ("Guilbert"} and established
Office Depot as the leading seller of office products in the larger
European countries.

International operations are managed predominately on a
country basis, rather than a channel basis; however, for con-
sistency of discussion, channels will be used to describe the
International Group’s activities.

The international catalog business was launched in 1990
under the Viking Direct® brand with the start-up of operations in
the United Kingdom. We now have catalog offerings in 13 coun-
tries outside of North America. In March 1999, we introduced our
first international public web site (www.viking-direct.co.uk) for
consumers and businesses in the United Kingdom. Today, we
operate over 30 separate international web sites. Our interna-
tional e-commerce business increased 58% during 2004 and
additional growth is expected in future years.

We launched our Office Depot contract business in the
United Kingdom in 2000 and subsequently expanded into
Ireland, the Netherlands, France, Japan, ltaly, Germany, Switzer-
land and Hungary. In June 2003, we further expanded our con-
tract business with the Guilbert acquisition. Guilbert sold to
business customers in France, the U.K. Germany, ltaly, Ireland,
the Netherlands, Spain, Belgium, Portugal, and Luxembourg
through a contract sales force and through e-commerce and
other Internet solutions, under the Guilbert® and NiceDay™
brand names. Our acquisition of Guilbert has added purchas-
ing power and scale 1o the International Group. We have made
substantial progress with integrating Guilbert into our existing
country systems and operations.

We have been selective about opening retail stores inter-
nationally. At the end of 2004, our International Group served
customers through 78 company-owned stores, and 153 addi-
tional stores operated under licensing and joint venture agree-
ments. During 2004, we acquired three stores in Hungary that
formerly were operated as Office Depot stores under a licens-
ing agréement. We opened an additional store in Hungary dur-
ing 2004 and intend to continue to expand our presence in
Eastern Europe. In 2005, we plan to open five to ten company-
owned stores in existing retail markets in Europe.
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International Group company-owned store and CSC oper-
ations for the last three years are detailed below.

Office Supply Stores

Open at.
Beginning Opened/ Open at End
of Period Acquired Closed of Period
2002 . .. 39 13 2 50
2003 . .. _ 50 16 2 64
2004 . .. 64 15(1) 1 78
Customer Service Centers
Open at
Beginning Opened/ Open at End
of Period Acquired Closed of Period
2002(2) | 14 3 2 15
2003 . .. 15 10(3) — 25
2004... . 25 2(4) 2(5) 25

(1) Includes three retail stores obtained in the acquisition of the busi-
ness in Hungary.

(2) Fiscal year 2002 information adjusted to reflect Australia as a dis-
continued operation.

(3) Acquired and operating {post-integration) warehouses obtained
as a result of June 2003 acquisition of Guilbert.

(4) Includes one customer service center obtained in the acquisition
of the business in Hungary.

(5) Represents updates to the Guilbert post-integration estimates.

Merchandising and Product Life Cycle

Our merchandising strategy is to meet our existing and
target customers' needs by offering a broad selection of
branded office products, as well as an increasing array of pri-
vate label products. Our selection of private label products has
increased in breadth and level of sophistication in recent years.
We currently offer general office supplies, computer supplies,
business machines and related supplies, and office furniture
under various iabels, including Office Depol®, Viking® Office
Products, Guilbert®, and NiceDay™. In North America, we cur-
rently have over 3,000 private label stock keeping units, or
SKUs, and we anticipate increasing our offerings within and
across product categories. Our domestic office supply super-
stores and customer service centers stock approximately 8,500
and 14,500 SKUs, respectively, including multiple brands and
variations in color and size.

Total sales by product group were as follows:

2004 2003~ 2002~

Supplies . ........ 55.0% 55.6% 52.2%
Technology ..... .. 25.1% 24 6% 27.1%

Furniture, lfow tech
and other....... 19.9% 19.8% 20.7%
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

*Conformed to current year product classification.

We classify our products into three categories: (1) sup-
plies, (2) technology, and (3) “furniture, low tech and other.” The
supplies category includes paper, filing, binders, writing instru-
ments, adhesives, school supplies, and ink and toner. The
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technology category includes desktop and laptop computers,
monitors, printers, copiers, cables, software, digital cameras,
telephones, and wireless communications products. The “fur-
niture, low tech and other” category includes desks, chairs,
luggage, calculators, products and services sold at our copy
centers, and other miscellaneous items. The table above is
based on total company sales. Management also views the
business on a comparable (or “comp”) sales basis. This meas-
ures the sales for stores that have been open for one year or
more and all BSG and Internet sales. Store relocations are
included in the comp calculation after one year of operation in
the new location. Comp sales are used in MD&A to address
important factors affecting our business.

We buy substantially all of our merchandise directly from
manufacturers and other primary suppliers. We also enter into
arrangements with vendors that can lower our unit product
costs if certain volume thresholds or other criteria are met.
For additional discussion of these arrangements, see the Crit-
ical Accounting Policies section of MD&A. In most cases, our
suppliers deliver merchandise directly to our CSCs or our
crossdocks. The latter are centralized distributicn centers for
re-supplying our retail stores at low handling and freight costs.

Merchandising functions are located in both the U.S. and
Europe. Each group is responsible for selecting, purchasing
and pricing merchandise as well as managing the product life
cycle of our key inventory, The merchandising and marketing
departments are integrated in the U.S. under a single executive.
This alignment helps ensure the right products are available to
satisfy customer demand. Two years ago, we launched a three-
year program to improve our North American merchandising
and supply chain processes, enabled by installation of a com-
prehensive retail merchandising software suite. While this instal-
lation is not yet complete, it is delivering the benefits planned
at this point in the program.

Saies and Marketing

We are able to maintain our competitive pricing policy pri-
marily as a result of the significant cost efficiencies we achieve
through our purchasing power and operating format. Qur mar-
keting programs are designed to attract new customers and to
drive frequency of customer visits to our stores and increase the
“share of wallet” of our existing customers by capturing more
of what they spend in total on the products we sell. We regu-
larly advertise in major newspapers in most of our local markets
using both color inserts and run of press (ROP) advertisements.
These advertisements are supplemented with local and national
radio, network and cable television advertising campaigns,
direct marketing efforts, signage in various sports venues and
a naming rights agreement for a sports and entertainment arena
in south Florida, the “Office Depot Center."™

To enhance our brand awarehess, we announced two new
strategic marketing initiatives at the beginning of 2005. First, we
have re-committed ourselves to the Taking Care of Business
tagline, and incorparated that line into our logo and our adver-
tising. We also reached an alliance with NASCAR® as part of
a multi-year sponsorship that includes both sponsorship of a
NASCAR® racing car and overall supporting sponsorship of




NASCAR® itself, including designation as NASCAR®s official

office products partner.

During 2004, we launched our Advantage™ customer loy-
alty program. The program rewards customers with an Office
Depot merchandise card, valued commensurate with their level
of purchases from our company. The cost of these rewards is
included in cost of goods sold, primarily in the North American
Retail segment. Other marketing costs related to these pro-
grams are included in store and warehouse operating and
selling expenses. By the end of the year, almost two million
customers had enrolled in the Advantage™ program, and
almost half were newly identified retail customers. We anticipate
that this program will increase in popularity in the future, and we
expect to make enhancements to this program over time.

We have a low price guarantee policy for merchandise
sold in our stores, through catalogs and over the Internet (see
www.officedepot.com for more information). Additionally, we
perform periodic competitive pricing analyses to monitor each
market, and prices are adjusted as necesssry to adhere to this
pricing philosophy and further cur competitive positioning. We
generally expect our everyday prices to be highly competitive
with other resellers of office products.

We continuously acquire new customers by selectively
mailing specially designed catalogs to prospective customers.
Sometimes we obtain the names of prospective customers in
new and existing markets through the purchase of selected
mailing lists from outside marketing information services and
other sources. We use a proprietary mailing list system for our
Viking Office Products brand catalogs and other promotional
mailings. We plan to use this same technology to increase the
effactiveness of our Office Depot brand catalogs in the future.

No single customer in any of our segments accounts for
more than 5% percent of our total sales.

Catalog Production and Circulation

We use our catalogs to market directly to both existing and
prospective customers throughout the world. Separate catalog
assortments promote our dual brand (Office Depot and Viking
Office Products) mail order strategy. We currently circulate both
Office Depot and Viking Office Products brand catalogs through
our Business Services Group domestically and our International
Group outside the United States. Following the acquisition of
Guilbert in June 2003, we also publish separate cataiogs bear-
ing the Guilbert name in certain European countries in which the
Guilbert name is highly recognized. Each catalog is printed in
color with pictures and narrative descriptions that emphasize
key product benefits and features. We have developed a dis-
tinctive style for our catalogs, most of which are produced
in-house by our designers, writers and production artists.
Recently, we introduced a Green Book™ catalog, which fea-
tures progucts that are recyciable, energy efficient, or otherwise
have a reduced impact on the environment.

Our Viking Office Products brand catalog mailings include
monthly sale catalogs, which are mailed to active Viking cus-
tomers and present our most popular items. A complete buy-
ers guide, containing all of our products at their regular discount

prices, is delivered to our Office Depot and Viking Office
Products brand catalog customers every six months. This buy-
ers’ guide, which is mailed to our active custorners, varies in
size among countries. Prospecting catalogs with special offers
designed to attract new customers are mailed frequently. In
addition, Office Depot and Viking Office Products specialty cat-
alogs are delivered each month to selected customers.

During 2004, we mailed approximately 296 million copies
of Office Depot and Viking Office Products brand catalogs
to existing and prospective customers. During 2003 and 2002,
we mailed approximately 264 million and 297 million copies,
respectively.

Industry and Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environment. Histori-
cally, our markete have been served by traditional office prod-
ucts retailers and contract stationers. We believe that we
compete favorably against such dealers on the basis of price
and selection. We compete with other full service contract
stationers on the basis of service and value-added technology.
We also compete with other office supply superstores, whole-
sale clubs selling general merchandise, discount stores, mass
merchandisers, food and drug stores, computer and electron-
ics superstores, Internet-based companies and direct mail
companies. These companies, in varying degrees, compete
with us on both price and selection in substantially afl of our
current markets.

Other office supply superstore companies are similar to
us in terms of store format, pricing strategy and product selec-
tion and availability in the markets where we operate, primarily
those in the United States and Canada. We anticipate that in
the future we will face increased competition from these chains
as each of us expands our operations both in North America
and abroad. ‘

in Europe, we sell through contract and catalog channels
in 13 countries. Retail stores are operated in four countries out-
side of the U.S. and Canada (excluding our participation under
licensing and joint venture agreements). We believe the Euro-
pean market is more fragmented than the U.S. market and that
we are among the market leaders in each country of operation.
Asinthe U.S., we compete in Europe on the basis of selection,
price, service and customer relationships.

Employees

As of February 19, 2005, we had approximately 47,000
employees worldwide, the majority of which were full time. Our
labor relations are generally good, and the overwhelming major-
ity of our facilities are not organized by any labor union.

Environmental Activities

As both a significant user and seller of paper products, we
have developed an environmental strategy that is values-based
and market-driven. Qur environmental initiatives center on three
guiding principles: (1) recycling and poliution reduction; (2) sus-
tainable forest management; and (3) issue awareness and
market development for environmentally preferable products.
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We offer thousands of different products containing recycled
content, including from 35% to 100% post consumer waste
content paper. To obtain additional information on our initia-
tives, and to download a copy of Office Depot's 2004 Envi-
ronmental Stewardship Report, please visit our web site at
www.officedepot.com/environment. You may also reguest a
printed copy by contacting our Director, Investor Relations at
our corporate headquariers in Delray Beach, Florida.

Available information

We maintain a web site at www.officedepot.com. We make
available, free of charge, on the “Investor Relations” section of
our web site, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act, as-soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Additionally, our corporate governance materials, including

governance guidelines; the charters of the audit, compensation, .

finance, and governance and nominating committees; and the
code of ethical behavior may also be found under the “lnvestor
Relations” section of our web site at www.offficedepot.com.
Office Depot makes no provisions for waivers of the code of
ethical behavior. A copy of the foregoing corporate governance
materials is available Upon written reguest.

We submitted our 2004 annual Section 12(a) CEO certifi-
cation with the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE”). The certi-
fication was not qualified in any respect. Additionally, we filed
with the SEC as exhibits to our Form 10-K for the year ended
December 27, 2003 the CEQ and CFO certifications required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
Neil R. Austrian—Age: 65

Mr. Austrian has served as our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer since October 4, 2004, immediately following
the resignation of our former Chairman and CEO, Bruce Nelson.
He has served as one of our directors since August 1998. Mr,
Austrian served as President and Chief Operating Officer of the
National Football League from April 1991 until December 1999.
He was a Managing Director of Dillon, Read & Co. Inc. from
October 1987 until March 1991. Mr. Austrian served as a direc-
tor of Viking from January 1988 until August 1998 when Office
Depot merged with Viking. He also serves as a director of the
DirecTV Group, Inc. (formerly Hughes Electronics Corporation),
a publicly traded company.

Rolf van Kaldekerken—Age: 54

Mr. van Kaldekerken has been President, Eurcpean
Operations since August 2000. Prior to that appointment, he
served as Executive Vice President, European Operations from
January 2000 to August 2000. Previously, he was Vice President
& Country Manager for Germany, Benelux and Austria from
1998 to January 2000 for Office Depot International. He also
served as Managing Director and Vice President for the same

14 | Office Depot 2004 Annual Report

countries for Viking Office Products from November 1994 until
August 1998, when Viking was merged into our company. Prior
to joining Viking, Mr. van Kaldekerken was European Operations
and Purchasing Director for INMAC Corporation.

Charles E. Brown—Age: 51

Mr. Brown has been our Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer since October 2001. Prior to assuming that
position, Mr. Brown was Senior Vice President, Finance and
Controller since he joined our company in May 1998. Before
joining Office Depot, he was Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Denny’s, Inc. from January 1996 until May
1998; from August 1994 until December 1995, he was Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of ARAMARK International:
and from September 1989 until July 1994, he was Vice Presi-
dent and Controller of Pizza Hut International, a Division of

PepsiCo, Inc.

Cynthia Campbeli—Age: 53

Ms. Campbell has been our Executive Vice President,
North American Delivery Sales since September 2003. Prior to
being promoted to that position, she was Senior Vice President,
Contract Sales for the eastern half of the U.S., a position she
assumed in June 2000. She began her Office Depot career in
March 1995 as Zone Vice President—Southeast Region, with
responsibility for contract sales and operations. Prior to joining
our company, Ms. Campbell spent 19 years with GTE Corpora-
tion in a variety of positions, the latest being Vice President and
General Manager of Retail Information Services.

David C. Fannin—Age: 59

Mr. Fannin has been our Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary since August 2000. Previously, he was
Senior Vice President and General Counsel since he joined our
company in November 1998, and our Corporate Secretary
since January 1999. Mr. Fannin was Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Sunpbeam Cor-
poration, a manufacturer and wholesaler of durable house-
hold and outdoor consumer products, from January 1994 until
August 1998. In connection with his tenure at Sunbeam Corpo-
ration, Mr. Fannin was the subject of administrative proceedings
brought by the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission with
respect to Section 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933. These
proceedings culminated in Mr. Fannin’s consent in May 2001
(without admitting or denying any liability) to the entry of a
Commission cease-and-desist order. ‘

Mark Holifield—Age: 48

Mr. Holifield was named our Executive Vice President,
Supply Chain in September 2003. Mr. Holifield joined Office
Depot in May 1994 as Director of Transportation. He was named
Vice President of Transportation and Logistics in July 1996, and
was promoted to Senior Vice President, Supply Chain in 1997.
Prior to joining Office Depot, Mr. Holifield worked for Dallas
Systems Corporation, a supply chain systems provider, in
various logistics consulting positions from June 1988 to May
1994. Prior to Dallas Systems, from June 1986 to May 1988,




Mr. Holifield worked in logistics for Frito-Lay, a division of
PepsiCo. He began his retail career with H-E-B Grocery
Company, where he worked in various logistics capacities from
May 1977 through May 1986.

Rick Lepley—Age: 54

Mr. Lepley has been Executive Vice President, North
American Retail Stores, since March 2004 and before that was
President of Office Depot Japan since May 2001. Prior to that,
he served as founder and President of Retail Investment
Concepts, Inc. (RIC), an independent retailer and Office Depot
licensee for Eastern Europe. In that capacity, he opened the first
Office Depot branded retail store in Warsaw, Poland and also
the first Office Depot store in Hungary. He also built a delivery
business for the Office Depot brand in both countries. Prior to
the founding of RIC, Mr. Lepley was Sr. Vice President of Sales
and Marketing for Mitsubishi Motor Sales of America, where he
worked for 11 years.

Monica Luechtefeld—Age: 56

Ms. Luechtefeld has been our Executive Vice President,
E-Commerce since August 2000. Previcusly, she was Senior
Vice President of E-Commerce from February 2000 until August
2000. From September 1997 untit February 2000, she was Vice
President, Marketing and Sales Administration; and from
February 1996 to September 1997 she was Vice President of
Contract Marketing & Business Development. Ms. Luechtefeld
joined Office Depot in 1993, serving as General Manager of the
Southern California Region of Office Depot until 1996.

Patricia Morrison—Age: 45

Ms. Morrison joined our company in January 2002 as
Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer. From
June 2000 to December 2001, she was Vice President—
Information Systems and Chief Information Officer of Quaker
Oats Company. From April 1997 to June 2000, she was
employed by the General Electric Company as Chief Informa-
tion Officer of GE Industrial Systems (1998 to 2000) and Chief
Information Officer, GE Electrical Distribution & Control (1997 to
1998). Prior to her employment at GE, Ms. Morrison was
employed by Procter & Gamble Company from 1981 to 1997,
in various positions, including Manager—Management Sys-
tems for the Cosmetics & Fragrance Division (1995 to 1997);
Associate Director—Center for Excellence (1993 to 1995) and
Associate Director, U.S. Finance & Accounting Systems (1992
to 1993).

Carl (Chuck) Rubin—Age: 45

Mr. Rubin joined our company in 2004 as Executive Vice
President and Chief Merchandising Officer. Before joining the
company, Mr. Rubin spent six years with Accenture Ltd., most
recently as Partner, where he worked for clients, including Office
Depot, across retail formats in the department, specialty and
e-commerce channels, as well as new business startups. Prior
to joining Accenture, Mr. Rubin spent six years in specialty
retailing and 11 years in department store retailing, where he
served as General Merchandise Manager and a member of
the Executive Committees for two publicly held companies.

Frank P. Scruggs, Jr.—Age: 53

Mr. Scruggs joined the management of our company in
March 2004 as Executive Vice President, Human Rescurces. In
this role, he leads the company’s efforts to attract, develop,
engage and reward talent and to align it in support of the busi-
ness units’ pursuit of operating success. Mr. Scruggs spent 25
years prior to joining our company as a practicing attorney in
the State of Florida (Greenberg Traurig LLP and Steel Hector &
Davis LLP). He was a member of the Office Depot board of
directors for over seven years prior to joining management. He
serves as-a member of the board of Blue Cross and Biue
Shield of Florida and the Board of Trustees of the University of
Miami. He previously served on the Florida Board of Regents for
six years. Mr. Scruggs served as Secretary of Labor and
Employment Security for the State of Florida from January 1991
to July 1992.

James A. Walker—Age: 48

Mr. Walker has been Senior Vice President, Finance and
Controller since October 2001. Mr. Walker joined Office Depot
in February 1999 as Vice President—Finance, Retail Stores
Division until October 2001. From May 1996 until February 1998,
when he joined Office Depot, Mr. Walker served as Vice
President, Financial Planning for Advantica Restaurants, Inc.
(operator of Denny’s® Restaurants); from May 1991 until May
1996, Mr. Walker was employed by PepsiCo, Inc. in various
capacities in the finance and strategic planning areas. ‘

Information with respect to our directors is incorporated
herein by reference to the information under the caption
“Election of Directors/Biographical Information of the
Candidates” in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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Item 2. Properties.

As of February 19, 2005, we operate 951 office supply stores in 49 states and the District of Columbia, 33 office supply stores
in five Canadian provinces and 78 office supply stores {excluding our participation under licensing and joint venture agreements)
in four countries outside of the United States and Canada. We also operate 22 CSCs in 18 U.S. states and 25 CSCs in 11 countries
outside of the United States. The following table sats forth the locations of these facilities.

STORES
State/Country # State/Country # State/Country #
UNITED STATES: Michigan .. ................ 21 Virginta. . ... o 24
Alabama ................ .. 17 Minnesota ... ... ... ..., .. 10 Washington ... ............. 32
Alaska . ... ... ... .. ... ... 2 Mississippi. . ... oo oo 13 West Virginia . .. ............ 3
Arizona .. ... . 4 Missouri................... 20 Wisconsin . ........... .. ... 12
Arkansas.................. 10 Montana .................. 2 Wyoming.................. 1
California. . .............. L. 143 Nebraska.................. 5
Colorado . ......o.covuiii.. 32 Nevada................... 15 TOTAL UNITED STATES ... ... 951
Connecticut. ... ......... ... 2 New Hampshire. ... ...... ... 1
District of Columbia. . ... ... .. 2 New Jersey ................ 15 CANADA:
Delaware . .. ............... 2 New Mexico. . . ............. 5 Alberta. ................. . 8
Flerida.................... 98 NewYork.................. 14 British Columbia ............ 9
Georgia................... 44 North Carolina. ............. 27 Manitoba .. ............ ... 3
Hawaii . ..o 3 North Dakota. . ............. 1 Ontario.................. .. 1
Idaho . ..o 5 Ohio. . ..o 13 Saskatchewan.............. 2
linois . ........... .. .. ... 43 Okighoma .............. ... 14
Indiana ........... .. ... ... 18 Cregon ................... 16 TOTAL CANADA ... 33
lowa.. . ... ... ... ... ..., 3 Pennsylvania............... 18
Kansas ................... 8 Rhodelsiand. .............. 1 FRANCE ..o 44
Kentucky . ................. 15 South Carolina.............. 17 HUNGARY . ... 4
Louisiana. . ................ 29 South Dakota. . . ... ........ 1 JAPAN . .. 25
Maryland ... ............ ... 19 Tennessee . . ............. .. 24 SPAN . 5
Maine.................. ... 1 Texas. ... ..o 118
Massachusetts . ............ 4 Utah............... ... . ... 4 TOTAL OUTSIDE. ... .. 8
State/Country # State/Country # State/Country #
UNITED STATES: Massachusetts .. ........ ... 1 BELGIUM ... ........ ... .. 1
ATZONA ..o 1 Michigan ... ............... 1 FRANCE ... ............. 4
California. ................ . 3 Minnesota .. ............ .. 1 GERMANY. ................ 4
Colorado ................ .. 1 New Jersey .. .............. 1 HUNGARY................. 1
Connecticut. . ........... ... 1 North Carolina. .. ........... 1 THE NETHERLANDS. . .... ... 2
Florida.................... 2 Ohio...................... 1 IRELAND. .. ........... . ... 2
Georgia .. ......... 0 ... 1 Texas. . ... 2 ITALY ... 2
Hincis .................... 1 Utah........... ... .. ... 1 JAPAN ..o 1
Lovisiana... ... ... ... ... .. 1 Washington .. .............. 1 SPAIN .. ... 1
Maryland . ............... .. 1 SWITZERLAND ... ........ .. 1
TOTAL UNITED STATES .. .. .. 22 UNITED KINGDOM . . .. ... ... 6
TOTAL OUTSIDE
THE UNITED STATES ... ... 25

Most of our facilities are leased or subleased, with initial
lease terms expiring in various years through 2027, except for
91 facilities, including certain corporate office buildings énd our
systems data center, which we own. Our ocwned facilities are
- located in 22 states, primarily in Florida, Texas and California;
three Canadian provinces; the United Kingdom; the Nether-
lands; and France.
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Our corporate offices in Delray Beach, Florida consist of
approximately 575,000 square feet in three adjacent build-
ings—two of which are owned and one is leased. We also own
a corporate office building in Torrance, California, which is
approximately 180,000 square feet in size, a corporate office in
Venlo, the Netherlands which is approximately 226,000 sguare
feet in size, and a systems data center in Charlotte, North
Carolina which is approximately 53,000 square feet in size.




Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of
our business. While from time to time claims are asserted that
make demands for large sums of money, including cnes
asserted in the form of class action suits, we do not believe that
the resolution of any of these matters, either individually or in the
aggregate, will materially affect our financial position or the
results of our operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of
Security Holders.

None.

PART i

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity,
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE") under the symbol “ODP.” As of the close of
business on February 25, 2005, there were 3,657 holders of
record of our common stock. The last reported sale price of the
common stock on the NYSE on February 25, 2005 was $19.02.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low sale prices of our common stock, as quoted on the
NYSE Composite Tape. These prices do not include retail mark-
ups, markdowns or commission.

High Low

2004 '

FirstQuarter . .................. $18.180  $15.430
Second Quarter. . ............... 19.500 15.850
Third Quarter. . ........ .. ...... 18.660 14.690
Fourth Quarter. ... ....... .. .. ... 17.380 13.870
2003

First Quarter .. ... ...... .. ...... $15.390 . $10.280
Second Quarter. . .. ...... . ...... 15.270 11.150
ThirdQuarter. . ................. 18.500 14.190
Fourth Quarter. . ...... .. A 16.990 13.600

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our
common stock. While we regularly assess our dividend policy,
we have no current plans to declare a dividend. Earnings and
other cash resources will continue to be used in the expansion
of our business.
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The following table provides information with respect to our purchases of Office Depot, Inc. common stock during the fourth

quarter of the 2004 fiscal year:

(c) Total
Number of
- Shares

(d) Maximum
Number
of Shares (or
Approximate
Dollar Value)

Purchased as that May Yet

(a) Total Part of Publicly Be Purchased

Number of (b) Average Announced Under the

Shares Price Paid Plans or Plans or

Period Purchased per Share Programs(1) Programs
Balance as of September 25,2004 . ... ... ........ 2,155,056(2) $16.68 2,130,715 $514,747,000
September 26, 2004-October 23,2004 ... ... ... . 377,200 14.83 377,200 509,153,000
October 24, 2004-November 20,2004, ... .... .. .. 650,523 16.63 650,523 498,332,000
November 21, 2004-December 25,2004 .. .. ... ... 816,000 16.70 816,000 484,701,000
Total / Balance as of December 25,2004 .. ...... .. 3,998,779 16.50 3,974,438 484,701,000

(1) On October 26, 2001, we announced that the board of directors authorized a common stock repurchase program. Under the program, we are
authorized to repurchase up to $50 million of its common stock annually until the board terminates such program. The 2004 program was com-
pleted on November 11, 2004. On September 16, 2004, we announced that the board of directors authorized a separate common stock repur-
chase program whereby we are authorized to repurchase up to $500 million of our common stock over the following 12 to 24 months. This amount
is inclusive of the repurchases authorized under the 2001 program for 2005 and 2006. This program commenced on November 12, 2004,

(2) Includes 24,341 shares of common stock delivered or restricted shares of common stock withheld to pay income tax or other tax liabilities with
respect to the vesting of restricted stock, exercise of stock options, or the settlement of performance share awards.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data at and for each of the five fiscal years inthe period ended
December 25, 2004. It should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, included in Item 8
of this report, and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, included in Item 7 of
this report.

(In thousands, except per share

amounts and statistical data) - 2004 2003(1)(2) 2002(1) 200103) 2000(3)(5)
Statements of Earnings Data:
Sales. ... ... e $13,564,699  $12,358,566  $11,356,633 $11,082,112  $11,495433
Earnings from continuing operations before .

cumulative effect of accounting change . . . .. $ 335504 F 299244 § 309415 § 201657 - $ 48,315
Netearnings. . ... ... .. $ 335,504 $ 273515 $ 308,640 $ 201,043 $ 49,332

Earnings per share from continuing
operations before cumulative effect

Basic. . ... $ 1.08 § 097 % 101§ - 068 § 0.16
Diluted .......... ... .. ... .. ... .. 1.06 0.95 0.98 0.66 0.16

Net earnings per share:
Basic......... ... ... $ 1.08 § 088 ¢ 101§ 067 8 0.16
Diluted ........... e 1.06 0.87 097 0.66 0.16

Statistical Data:
Facilities open at end of period:
United States and Canada:

Office supplystores .. ................. 969 900 867 859 888
Customer servicecenters ............ .. 22 22 24 24 25
Callcenters . ... ... ... ... ... .... 13 13 13 13 7
International(4):
Office supply Stores . .................. 78 64 50 39 35
Customer servicecenters . ............. 25 25 15 14 12
Callcenters .............. SR 31 31 13 11 11
Total square footage—
North American Retail Division. ... ..... .. .. 24,791,255 23,620,343 23,203,013 22,842,403 24,384,355
Percentage of sales by segment:
North American Retail Division. . ......... .. 43.8% 45.7% 51.1% 52.7% 56.4%
Business Services Group . . . ... ... 29.8% 32.1% 34.5% 34.0% 31.5%
International Group. . ........... ......... 26.4% 22.2% 14.4% 13.3% 12.1%
Balance Sheet Data:
Totalassets.............. ... .. ... . .. .. $ 6,767,351 §$ 6,194679 $ 4765812 $ 4,331,643 $ 4,196,334 -
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities . . . 583,680 829,302 411,970 317,552 508,499

(1) Statements of Earnings Data for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, and Balance Sheet Data for 2003, have been restated to reflect adjustments that
are further discussed in Note B—Restatement of Financial Statements of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 of
this report. Earlier periods have not been adjusted as the impact was immaterial.

(2) Reflects the acquisition of Guilbert in June. Also, net earnings and net earnings per share data reflect cumulative effect of adopting EITF 02-16.

(3) As applicable, amounts have been adjusted to reflect the Australian business as discontinued operations.

(4) Company-owned facilities of our International Group.

(5) Includes 53 weeks in accordance with our 52-53 week reporting convention. Fiscal year 2005 will include 53 weeks.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Results of Operations
General

Office Depot, Inc. is a global supplier of office products and
services. We sell to consumers and businesses of all sizes
through our three business segments: North American Retail
Division, Business Services Group, and International Group.
Our management views our overall business in the context of
the performance of these three principal business segments.

These segments include multiple sales channels consist-
ing of office supply stores, a contract sales force, Internet sites,
and catalog and call centers, all supported by our crossdock,

. warehouse and delivery operations. Each of these segments is
described in more detail in ltem 1, Business. We operate on
a 52- or 53-week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in
December. All years in the discussion below contained 52
weeks. Fiscal year 2005 will include 53 weeks. ’

Forward Looking Statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A”) is intended to
provide information to assist you in better understanding our
business. We reccmmend that you read this MD&A in con-
junction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Notes to those statements. This MD&A contains significant
amounts of forward-looking information, and is qualified by our
Cautionary Statements regarding forward-looking information.
You will find some of our Cautionary Statements throughout this
MD&A; however, most of them can be found in a separate
section immediately following this MD&A. Without limitation,
wherever in this Annual Report we use the words “believe,”
“estimate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “continue,”
“project,” “should,” and similar expressions, we are identifying
forward-looking statements, and our Cautionary Statements
apply to these terms and expressions and the text in which such
terms and expressions are used. The purposes of this MD&A
include providing the reader with the perspectives of our man-
agement on our business, and providing you with insights that
are not necessarily obvious or clear from reading our financial
statements (including footnotes) alone.

»oa "o 8 ou »

Restatement of Financial Statements

On February 7, 2005, the Chief Accountant of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC”) released a letter
expressing the SEC's views on certain lease accounting mat-
ters. We have identified areas where our historical accounting
practices have differed from the SEC's views as to appropriate
lease accounting under generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples ("GAAP”). We have consistently accounted for leases
in accordance with our interpretation of generally accepted
accounting principles and common industry practice. However,
we have restated our financial statements for prior periods to
correct these errors. We do not consider the differences in prior
years' financial statements to be material.
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We have reviewed our prppérty lease portfolio and
adjusted initial lease terms 10 inciude option renewals that are
reasonably assured of being exercised and included the
straight-line effect over the lease term of escalating rents dur-
ing the option periods and have recognized the effect of pre-
opening “rent holidays” over the related lease terms. We have
also reviewed our leasehold improvements to ensure amortiza-
tion over the shorter of their economic lives or the adjusted
lease term. Tenant allowances have been reclassified from a
contra asset in property and equipment, net to other long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Tenant allow-
ances have also been reclassified from a reduction of depreci-
ation and amortization expense to a reduction of rent expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and from & reduc-
tion of capital expenditures to an increase in cash provided by
operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Retained earnings at the beginning of fiscal year 2002
have been adjusted for the after-tax impacts of earlier periods.

While we do not consider the net dollar amounts to be
material to net earnings, financial position or net cash flows for
the periods presented, we believe it is appropriate to align our
historical accounting results with the SEC’s comments on lease
accounting under GAAP, and we have done so, as reflected in
our decision to restate results for certain prior years. These
accounting changes reduced net earnings by $2.8 millicn and
$2.1 million for the fiscal years ended 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively, and resulted in a $42.1 million reduction in retained earn-
ings at the beginning of fiscal year 2002.

See Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
summary of the effects of these changes on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 27, 2003, as well as on our
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Cash Filows for fiscal
years 2003 and 2002. The accompanying MD&A gives effect
to these corrections.

Overview -

Full year net earnings were higher in 2004, compared to the
previous two years. The 2004 increase reflects a significant
fourth quarter contribution from volume repates and event-
based promoticnal incentives received from our vendors. While
we estimate these effects throughout the year, our full year con-
tribution from these programs exceeded our earlier expecta-
tions. We increased purchases during the fourth quarter to add
inventary for early 2005 initiatives and to protect against certain
anticipated product cost increases. We do not consider these
increases to be outside the normal parameters of our purchas-
ing for these needs. The higher purchases resulted in reaching
higher volume rebate tiers with' some vendors and therefore
additional rebate amounts on related purchases for the year. To
the extent the additional rebates related 10 product sold during
the year, that amount was included in fourth quarter earnings;
the remaining amount was deferred in inventory. The increase

in event-based support resulted from finalization of program

agreements with vendors for promotional activity that occurred
throughout the year. The fourth quarter 2004 results also include
charges related to actions designed to streamline operations,




as well as a net benefit from the release of accruals for previ-
ously recorded uncertain tax positions based upon changes in
the facts and circumstances, partially offset by taxes on the
decision to repatriate some foreign earnings.

QOur North American Retail Division reported positive com-
parable sales in each quarter of 2004, reversing a previous
trend of 15 consecutive quarters of decline. The increase in
sales was led by higher sales of technology products. The over-
all gross profit percentage for this segment increased over
2003, primarily from higher vendor contributions. Operating
" costs as a percentage of sales declined with the leverage of
higher sales, payroll efficiencies and the comparison to costs
incurred in 2003 to adjust closed store reserves.

Our Business Services Group again reduced the operating
costs for our warehouse and delivery function, and contract
sales increased, but total sales were hampered by a continued
decline in catalog sales.

Our International Group benefited from purchasing effi-
ciencies as a result of the Guilbert acquisition, but to date we
have not realized the sales growth we expected from this trans-
action. We have taken specific steps to address the need to
increase sales in Europe, particularly in the Guilbert contract
sales channel. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates
during 2004 also had a positive effect on reported sales and
operating profit, but, of course, exchange rates are outside of
our control. In the course of our annual testing, we concluded
that the goodwill balance relating to our operaticns in Japan was
unrecoverable and therefore resulted in an impairment charge
in the fourth quarter.

At our corporate headquarters, our Chairman and CEO
resigned in October, and our board of directors is actively
searching for a permanent replacement. In the interim, veteran
board membper Neil Austrian is functioning as our Chairman
and CEO on an interim basis, and, ameng other initiatives, has
approved a number of cost reduction programs. However, a
permanent CEQ may alter the current strategic initiatives or
effect other changes. :

Under Mr. Austrian’s leadership, our senior management
team has sharpened the company’s focus in several key areas.
These include expanding the contract sales teams in the U.S.
and Europe, improving and expanding North American retail
stores at an accelerated pace, growing our private label initia-
tives substantially, and implementing a key merchandising soft-
ware platform. Our corporate culture, emphasizing adherence
to stated core values that we have developed internally over the

-past several years, remains intact, but our primary emphasis
is now more sharply focused on execution and accountability
for results.

In many ways, 2004 has been a year of transition. We
believe the stage is set for a stronger performance in 2005.
However, we must be cautious in our outlcok as we face the
reality of selecting and bringing on board a new CEQ and
ensuring that our senior management team is the right team to
"~ achieve success under new leadership, while continuing to
address the many challenges that continue to face us, both in
North America and internationally.

Diluted earnings per share presented in accordance
with GAAP were $1.06, $0.87 and $0.97 for fiscal years 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. We maintain our commitment
to emphasizing reported GAAP-based results, but we also
recognize that GAAP does not always provide sufficient insight
into our current operations to develop expectations for future
performance.

We have provided below a summary of items included in
current earnings, both increases and decreases, which may
help a reader of our financial statements to better understand
the results of our ongoing operations. The inclusion in this
MDR&A of this summation to a non-GAAP EPS is not intended
to imply that we consider it to be a more meaningful presen-
tation than the actual reported amounts under GAAP, but by
providing the significant income statement components in one
place, a reader can interpret the information that is useful for
his or her purposes. We use these non-GAAP numbers inter-
nally to assess the underlying business trends, while always
mindful that we are accountable for the GAAP-based results of
the company. :

2004 2003 2002

Diluted EPS—GAAP. .. .. .. $1.06 - $0.87 $0.97
Add/(deduct):
Severance arrangements,

contract terminations, and

property disposition . . . .. .04
Goodwill impairment . ... .. .04
Litigation settlement, net . .. (.01) - .03
Bond pre-payment. ... . ... .09
Tax rate and pasition
changes .............. (.04)
Closed store and
investment adjustments. . . .08 .01
Cumulative effect of
adopting EITF 02-16. . . .. .08
Currency gain. . ........ . (.04)
Adjusted EPS—
Non-GAAP . ... ... .. .. $1.18 $0.99 $1.01

The choice of items involves judgment and is not intended
to be exhaustive. Of particular note, however, is the impact of

" an operating cost review announced at the end of the. third

quarter and which remains ongoing. As part of that review, over
1,500 positions were either eliminated or transferred to an out-
sourcing firm, resulting in severance and exit-related costs in
2004 and 2005. We redeemed our highest cost debt and
cancelled plans to construct a new corporate office facility,
resulting in the write off of capitalized development costs. The
table above presents amounts that resulted from specific
events or were otherwise considered to be noteworthy, but does
not include all charges or credits related to each line item.
For example, in addition to the amounts presented, our finan-
cial resuits include some level of store closure costs and foreign
currency gains and losses that we consider to be compoenents
of normal operations. To make this MD&A more meaningful to
readers, these and certain related items are discussed in the
individual business segment sections below.
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Overall

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Sales . . .. . $13,564.7 100.0% $12,358.6 100.0% $11,356.6 100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . . 9,308.6 68.6% 8,483.9 68.7% 8,021.4 70.6%
Grossprofit......... ... ... 4,256.1 31.4% 3,874.7 31.3% 3,335.2 29.4%
Store and warehouse operating and
sellingexpenses . ................... 3,037.2 22.4% 2,807 .1 22.7% 2,342.6 20.6%
Segment operating profit. .. .. ... ... 1,218.9 9.0% 1,067.6 8.6% 992.6 8.8%
General and administralive expenses . . . . . 665.8 4.9% 578.8 4.7% 486.3 4.3%
Other operating expenses . ......... BN 23.1 0.2% 22.8 0.1% - 9.8 0.1%
Operating profit. . ..................... $ 530.0 3.9% $ 466.0 3.8% $ 4965 4,4%

Our overall sales increased 10% in 2004 following an
increase of 9% in 2003. The 2004 increase reflects higher sales
in each business unit, but primarily the International Group.
A full year contribution from our June 20083 acquisition of
Guilbert, as well as positive effects of changes in exchange
rates, were the main contributors to that increase. Currency
exchange rates and that acquisition also drove the 2003
increase when compared to 2002. Internally, we analyze our
international operations in terms of local currency performance
to allow focus on operating trends and results.

Comparable sales (or “comp” sales) measure the sales
from stores that have been operating for one year or mare.
Relocated stores are excluded from the comp calculation until
one year of operation in the new location. The term is also used
on an industry basis to describe contract and catalog sales, but
it is most commonly used when referring to retail store sales. We
use this measure to manage our business and have used
this term throughout MD&A to explain our results. From time to
time, we regroup product categories for better product man-
agement. Accordingly, comp sales reported in prior periods
for certain product groupings have been adjusted to conform
to current year group classifications. Our total comp sales
increased 1% in 2004, following a 2% decline in 2003. Comp
sales in North American Retail increased 3% in 2004, after a
prior year decline of 4%.

Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased slightly in
2004 because of higher volume rebates and promotional
incentives received from our vendors, offset in BSG by higher
product cost and promotional activity, and in our International
Group by a higher mix of contract customers and prospect-
ing catalogs.

At the start of fiscal year 2003, we adopted new account-
ing guidance, Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue
No. 02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration
Received from a Vendor, As a result of this standard, we
now classify amounts earned under cooperative advertising
arrangements as a credit to the cost of goods sold. Previously,
these amounts were classified as a reduction of advertising
expense. Additionally, under this standard a portion of the
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amount received is deferred in inventory and reduces the cost
of products as they are sold, similar to our practice for vendor
rebate arrangements.

To record the initial amount of cooperative advertising
deferred into inventory at the beginning of 2003, we recorded
an after-tax cumulative effect adjustment of $25.9 million, or
$0.08 per share. The impact on continuing operations of apply-
ing this method in 2003 decreased cost of goods sold by $240.4
million and increased advertising expense by $234.2 million
when compared to the prior accounting classification. Operat-
ing profit increased by $6.2 million, net earnings by $4.3 million
and diluted earnings per share by $0.01. Fiscal years 2004
and 2003 are presented on a like basis, but pro forma infor-
mation for 2002 is presented in the discussion of each busi-
ness segment.

Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses con-
sist of personnel costs, maintenance and other facility costs,
advertising expenses, delivery and transportation costs, and
certain other operating and selling costs. Freight costs incurred
to bring merchandise to stores and warehouses are included as
a component of inventory and cost of goods sold. Warehouse
costs and freight costs incurred to ship merchandise, primarily
related to our delivery customers, are included in store and
warehouse expenses. Because of our multi-channel operations,
and because some retail companies include shipping, han-
dling and other distrioution costs as a component of cost of
goods soid, you should be aware that their measure of gross
profit may not be comparable to ours. -

Total store and warehouse operating and selling expenses
as a percentage of sales declined in 2004 because of operat-
ing efficiency gains in both North American Retail and BSG.
Severance costs, exit costs, and goodwill impairment charges
are included in this line item in 2004. Fiscal year 2003 includes
a charge to adjust our closed store reserve. Store and ware-
house operating and selling expensés in 2002 include costs
associated with our settlement of certain class action litigation
in the state of California involving wage and hour claims relat-
ing to whether certain employees should be classified as "non-
exempt” rather than “exempt.” :




The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has
issued a new accounting pronouncement that will require com-
panies to expense the fair value of stock options granted to
employees. This rule will be applicable for all public companies
beginning with the third quarter of 2005. Because we currently
provide stock options to a large number of our employees, this
change could have a significant impact on our results in 2005
and beyond. Our assessment of this rule change is not yet
complete, but our financial statement footnote disclosures have
indicated that under one acceptable methodology for valuing
stock option grants, the full year impact of expensing stock
options in recent years would have reduced EPS in the range
of $0.06 to $0.09 per share. We anticipate refining our analysis
during the first half of 2005.

Corporate and other items not classified within our three
main segments are addressed below following the discussicns
of segment results.

The Overall results table provides a subtotal for segment
operating profit. We use this measure of performance to assess
the operations of each business unit, and we believe it is use-
ful to investors because it reflects the sales and operating
expenses directly related to the segment'’s activities. Our gen-
eral and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel
and related costs associated with support functions. Because
these functions typically support ail segments of our business,
we have historically not considered these costs in determining
our segment profitability, but rather have applied this expense
when looking at total company prefitability. Other companies
may charge more or less general and administrative costs
to their segments, and our presentation therefore may not
be comparable to similarly titled measurements used by
some other entities. Our measure of segment operating profit
should not be considered as an alternative to operating income
or net earnings determined in accordance with GAAP. The table
above reconciles segment operating profit to operating profit
determined in accordance with GAAP.

North American Retail Division

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002
Sales. .. ... $5,940.7 100.0% $5,650.1 100.0% $5,804.4  100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . . . . 4,367.9 73.5% 4,161.0 73.6% 4,349.9 74.9%
Grossprofit ............... . .. ... .. 1,572.8 26.5% 1,489.1 26.4% 1,4545 25.1%
Store and warehouse operating and .
sellingexpenses: . .................. .. 1,184.5 19.9% 1,177.9 20.9% 1,037.6 17.9%
Segment operating profit . ........... ... .. $ 388.3 6.6% $ 311.2 5.5% $ 4169 7.2%

Sales in our North American Retail Division increased 5%
in 2004 over the prior year, compared to a decrease of 3% in
2003. Comparable sales in 2004 from the 892 stores that were
open for more than one year increased 3%. In 2003, comp
sales in the 870 stores that were open for at least one year were
down 4%. Comp sales were positive in each quarter of 2004,
reversing a trend of 15 consecutive quarters of decline. We
completed a chain-wide technology remerchandising effort

during the year, which improved both the breadth of product .

selection and presentation. This, plus increased promotional
activity, drove significant technology sales increases. Overall,
while not achieving our desired attachment rate goals, we did
see improvement over last year in many categories. The comp
sales increase in 2004 reflects a higher average transaction size
but fewer transactions and the decrease in 2003 reflects both
fower average transaction size and fewer transactions. We
believe our sales in 2002 and part of 2003 were negatively
impacted by the overall soft U.S. economy at that time.

The overall technology products category increased 13%
in 2004, following an 11% decline in 2003. Sales of desktops,
laptops, and networking equipment were all positive in 2004
while such trends had been negative in 2003. The increase in
2004 in part reflects the remerchandising efforts in technology
and increased promotional activity. Generally, technology prod-
ucts produce lower margin rates as a percent of sales, and
those margins are reduced further by promotions; however,
promotions are frequently supported by our vendors, which
protects our margins. Sales of supplies remained flat in 2004,

with higher ink and toner sales offset by lower paper sales. The
furniture and low tech category comp sales declined, but mar-
gin contribution was positive, reflecting increased margin rates
for each sub-group in this category. During 2004, we launched
our Advantage customer loyalty program and enrolled almost
two million customers by year end. Merchandise costs associ-
ated with this program are included in cost of goods sold.
QOverall segment gross margin increased for the year, primarily
from additional volume rebates and promotional support
received from our vendors, particularly in the fourth quarter of
the year. Also during 2004, we expanded our selection of pri-
vate label brands. We currently offer in our stores and catalogs
over 3,000 private label stock keeping units, or SKUs, and
expect to expand this offering in the future.

During 2004, we opened 36 stores that we acquired from
Toys “R" Us. The acquisition has provided us access to markets
in the Northeast region of the U.S. where we were under-
represented in retail. An additional 15 stores from the acquisi-
tion will be opened during 2005. We expect to open a total of
100 new stores during 2005 and remodel about 50 existing
focations. All of these stores will be opened or remodeled using
the M2 design, which we believe shoppers find more  appeal-
ing than previous formats.

We adopted EITF 02-16 at the beginning of 2003. This
accounting.-change reclassified cooperative advertising pay-
ments received from our vendors from a reduction of advertising
expense to a reduction of product cost, primarily cost of goods
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soid. Had this change been effective for 2002, the pro forma
impact on the North American Retail Division would have
decreased cost of goods sold by $150.9 million and increased
advertising expense by $151.5 million.

Total operating and selling expenses as a percent of sales
decreased 100 basis points in 2004, largely the result of leverage
from additional sales and a broad-based focus on operating
expenses. Payroll cost reductions reflect a shift towards a higher
percentage of part-time employees and an average reduction
in per store headcount. Severance-related costs of approxi-
mately $2.0 million were incurred in 2004 to reduce staffing and
streamline operations. Advertising expenses decreased as a
percent of sales but increased in‘dollars, reflecting additional
newspaper inserts, direct mail and the faunch of our customer
loyalty program. Other operating costs in 2004 include the
impact of new stores and remerchandising efforts, partially off-
set by lower bank and credit fees. During 2003, increases in
wage rates and in certain employee benefit costs were more

than offset by streamlining certain operational processes and
by reduced incentive costs. Facility expense increased in 2003
as we added stores and made changes to our store layout.

During 2003, we conducted a comprehensive review of
our closed store commitments and recorded a $23.9 million
charge to terminate some obligations and adjust the remaining
commitments to current market values. We recorded similar
charges in 2002 of $8.7 million. Additionally, charges for asset
impairments for under performing stores were $3.9 million, $2.7
million, and $5.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
We regularly review actual and projected store performance
and record any asset impairment charges as a component of
store and warehouse operating expenses.

Operating and selling expenses in 2002 also included
$14.4 million to settle potential class action litigation in the state
of California relating to certain employee classifications as
exempt from overtime.

Business Services Group

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Sales. ... ... ... .. . $4,045.5 100.0% $3,965.3 100.0% $3,913.9 100.0%

Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . . . 2,746.2 67.9% 26713 67.4% 2,684.6 68.6%
Grossprofit .......... .. ... ... ..., 1,299.3 32.1% 1,294.0 32.6% 1,229.3 31.4%

Operating and selling expenses . ... ...... 899.8 22.2% 906.1 22.8% 864.4 22.1%

Segment operating profit . ..... ... . ... $ 3995 9.9% $ 3879 9.8% $ 3649 9.3%

Sales in our BSG segment increased 2% in 2004 and 1%
in 2003. Sales in our contract channel increased in both 2004
and 2008. Contract sales in the eastern U.S. have outperformed
those in the western U.S., primarily because of weak economic
conditions in the west. The increase in 2004 reflects revenue
growth in most customer segments, with the national account
segment growing at faster rates than the other account seg-
ments. Total direct sales (Office Depot catalog, Viking catalog
and Tech Depot) were slightly positive in 2004, but sales in the
catalog channel decreased in both 2004 and 2003. Compa-
rable sales of office supplies, the largest category in BSG's
sales mix, increased 1% in 2004 and 3% in 2003. Higher paper
costs and promotional activity negatively impacted gross profit
in 2004, partially offset by higher vendor rebates. Furniture and
low tech category sales increased 3% in 2004 after declining
3% in 2003.

We earn higher gross profit percentages in our BSG seg-
ment than in our North American Retail Division, principally
because of lower occupancy costs and a sales mix that
includes less technology products.

We adopted EITF 02-16 at the beginning of 2003. Had this
change been effective for 2002, the pro forma impact would
have decreased BSG’s cost of goods sold in that year by $66.1
million and increased advertising expense by $66.6 million.

In early 2004, we recrganized our contract sales force,
with a greater emphasis on generating new accounts and
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' increasing penetration of existing accounts. In late 2004, we

began adding contract sales representatives to drive penetra-
tion in existing markets and to expand into new markets. We
expect these additional representatives to accelerate sales in
2005. During 2004, we decided to consolidate our call centers
from 13 locations to three and outsource certain activities,
a process we expect 10 be completed by the third quarter of
2005. We incurred approximately $2.9 million of severance and
other exit-related costs during 2004 and expect to incur $10.2
million of severance and exit costs in 2005 related to this con-
solidation and outsourcing. We expect significant savings from
these initiatives in 2006. Catalog advertising expense decreased
in 2004 as we eliminated certain unproductive programs; and
bad debt expense declined because of improved systems and
processes, and greater collaboration between our contract
sales force and our credit management function.

Operating and selling expenses as a percent of sales
continued to decline in 2004 as compared to 2003, a compa-
rable trend that spans 16 consecutive quarters. In 2004, we
realized additional benefits from optimizing our delivery model
by using a more cost effective blend of company-owned and
third party carriers. In 2002, call center consolidation contri-
buted to lower personnel-related costs, and the introduction of
new technologies streamiined operations and reduced delivery
costs by 13%.




International Group

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Sales ... $3,580.8 100.0% $2,746.5 100.0% $1,641.4 100.0%

Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . . 2,196.2 61.3% 1,653.2 60.2% 988.3 60.2%
Grossprofit . .............. .. .. ... 1,384.6 38.7% . 1,093.3  39.8% 653.1 39.8%

Operating and selling expenses. ... ...... 953.2 26.6% 724.0 26.4% 441.6 26.9%

Segment operating profit. . .. ............ $ 4314 12.1% $ 3693 13.4% $ 2115 12.9%

Sales in our International Group grew 30% in 2004.and 67%
in 2003. In local currencies, sales grew 21% in 2004 and 52%
in 20083, though those increases primarily reflect the acquisition
of Guilbert in mid-year 2003. Other than Guilbert, the growth'in
local currency sales was strongest in the United Kingdom, while
sales declined in Germany and Japan in both 2004 and 2003.
The integration of Guilbert continues. Integrating the sales force
was more challenging than anticipated, and the post-acquisition
sales performance has been below our expectations. We have
strengthened the contract management team across Europe
and continue investing in the sales force. Currency adjusted,
sales contribution across all channels strengthened over the
second half of the year, with four months of successive overall
International Group sales improvement. Retail stores reported
positive comp sales throughout 2004, although they make up
less than 10% of our total sales mix.

During 2004, we acquired Elso froda Superstore Kft in
Hungary, which included three stores and a contract sales busi-
ness that formerly operated as Office Depot businesses under
a licensing agreement. We opened an additional store in Hun-
gary in 2004 and will look for opportunities to expand our pres-
ence in Eastern Europe. We also opened four stores in France
and seven stores in Japan, and closed one store in Spain. In
addition to our acquisition of Guilbert in 2003, we initiated con-
tract operationsin Germany in January 2003 and launched our
retail business in Spain in March 2003. in 2003, we opened
three stores in France and had a net increase of five stores in
Japan. In 2002, we added catalog operations in three countries,
increased the size of our contract sales force in four countries,
initiated contract sales in ltaly, added a net of seven new stores
in France, and launched nine new web sites. We expect to con-
tinue to grow all sales channels in our European operations.

We adopted EITF 02-16 at the beginning of 2003. Had this
change been effective for 2002, the pro forma impact on our
International Group would have decreased cost of goods
sold by $24.3 million and increased advertising expense by
$24.6 million.

Gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased in both
2004 and 2003 (considering the pro forma impact of EITF
02-16), reflecting a higher mix of lower margin contract sales
from the addition of Guilbert, and to a lesser extent, the
increased distribution of prospecting catalogs (which feature
lower priced products) in Europe o support growth into new
markets and increased customer acquisition in established
markets. Also, the change in 2004 reflects margin pressures in
" both the catalog and contract channels related to paper and ink
and toner. Since mid-2003, the decrease has been partially

offset by lower net product costs from increased vendor pur-
chasing discounts achieved with higher volume following the
Guilbert acquisition.

Operating and selling expenses as a percentage of sales
have been higher in our International Group than in our other
segments, primarily because of expansion activities, and in
2004 and 2003, costs related to acquisition integration activities.
During 2004, we realigned a portion of our sales force through-
out Europe and decided to relocate a warehouse in France to
improve customer service at lower costs and recognized $16.7
million of related severance and moving costs. The new ware-
house began fulfilling orders in November 2004. We also rec-
ognized a $9.4 million gain from the favorable settlement of
certain claims related to our distribution network. As our oper-
ations grow in a particuiar market, fixed operating expenses
decline as a percent of sales. For example, advertising costs
in the form of prospecting and delivery costs, which are affected
by the density of the delivery areas, decline as a percentage of
sales as our operations in a given market grow.

During 2004, as a result of our customary fourth quarter
impairment analysis, we made a determination that the goodwill
balance existing in our Japanese reporting unit was impaired.
In recent years, several initiatives were put in place in efforts to
improve the profitability of this business, including stream-
lining from two brands to one brand, consolidating warehouses,
and improving retail assortment and layout. However, the antic-
ipated improvements have been less than expected, and we
have recorded an impairment charge of approximately $11.5
million to reduce the carrying value of the goodwill to zero. We
continue our efforts to improve the sales performance and profit
of our Japanese operations.

As noted above, sales in local currencies have substantially
increased in recent years. For U.S. reporting, these sales are
translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates experi-
enced during the year. International Group sales were posi-
tively impacted by foreign exchange rates in 2004 by $268.7
million, in 2003 by $253.2 million and in 2002 by $67.0 million.
International Group segment operating profit also benefited
from foreign exchange rates by $36.8 million in 2004, by $32.7
million during 2003 and by $9.0 in 2002. Future volatility in
exchange rates could affect translated sales and operating
profit of our International Group operations.

In 2003, we sold our operations in Australia with no signif-
icant impact on earnings. The Australian business has been
accounted for as a discontinued operation.
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Corporate and Other
Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily reflect pre-opening
expenses and, in 2003, costs refated to the integration
of Guilbert.

Pre-opening expenses consist of personnel, property and
" advertising expenses incurred in opening or relocating stores
and customer service centers (“CSCs”). We typically incur pre-
opening expenses during a six-week period prior to a store
opening, but the period was longer in 2004 for some of the
stores acquired in the transaction with Toys “R” Us. Because
we expense these items as they are incurred, the amount of
pre-opening expenses each year is generally proportional to the
number of new stores and CSCs opened during the period. On
a world-wide basis, we opened or relocated 103 stores in 2004,
64 in 2003, and 42 in 2002. We relocated one CSC in Europe
during 2004 and expect to complete another relocation dur-
ing 2005. We opened three CSCs in 2002. For 2004, our pre-
opening expenses were approximately $190,000 per domestic
office supply store and $75,000 per international office supply
store. Our cost to open a new CSC varies significantly with the
size and location of the facility. We estimate pre-opening costs
to open a domestic or international CSC to be approximately
$1.0 million per facility.

In 2003, we incurred approximately $17.7 million of non-
capitalizable integration costs in connection with our acquisition
of Guilbert in June 2003. These costs primarily related to pro-
fessional consulting fees for assistance with integration, man-
agement, internal communications plans, and human resource
aspects of the acquisition.

General and Administrative Expenses

(Dotllars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
General and

administrative

EXPENSES . . .. ...... $665,825 $578,840 $486,279

Percentage of sales . . . . 4.9% 4.7% 4.3%

Our general and acministrative ("G&A”) expenses prima-
rily consist of personnel-related costs associated with global
support functions. Because these functions typically support all
segments of our business, we have not considered these costs
in determining our segment profitability.

The increase during 2004 includes a full year of Guilbert-

related G&A expenses, as well as the impact of translating all
international G&A expenses at higher exchange rates. The
increase as a percentage of sales, however, reflects the write
off of costs associated with terminating plans for a new cor-
porate office site, dispute resolutions, executive severance
following the departure of our Chairman and CEO, exit costs
associated with corporate staff reductions, additional profes-
sional fees to comply with new legislation requiring additional

~ documentation of contrcls over financial reporting, and corpo-
rate systems enhancements.

The increase in 2003 reflects the mid-year acquisition of
Guilbert, the impact of exchange rates on other international
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expenses, and costs relating to finance, human resources and
merchandising software applications. Employee-related costs
declined in 2003 because of lower performance-based com-
pensation, partially offset by higher costs for healthcare and
other employee benefits.

The comments above and in the Overall section of this
MD&A describe how our management has historically pre-
sented our G&A expenses. Other companies may charge more
or less G&A expenses and other costs to their segments, and
our results therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures used by other entities.

Other /néome and Expense

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Interest income. . ... ... $20,042 $14,196 $ 18,509
Interest expense. . .. ... (61,108) (54,805) (46,195)
Loss on extinguishment

ofdebt ............ (45,407) — —
Miscellaneous income,

net................ 17,729 15,392 7,188

Interest income increased in 2004, reflecting higher aver-
age cash and cash equivalent balances and higher interest-
based investment yields. The decrease in 2003 reflects lower
interest rates and lower cash balances for part of the year fol-
lowing the acquisition of Guilbert in mid-2003.

The increase in interest expense over the three-year period
ended in 2004 results from the change in borrowings out-
standing by period. Fiscal year 2004 includes interest on a
full year of $400 million in senior notes that were issued in
August 2003 at an effective interest rate of 5.87%, essentially a
full year of interest on the $250 million in senior subordinated
notes with an effective interest rate of 8.7% that were redeemed
in December 2004, a full year of interest on approximately $100
million outstanding under our revolving credit facility, as well
as interest expense on capital leases. Interest expense also
includes accretion on lease obligations for stores closed before
the end of 2002; the accrued lease obligations totaled $58.8 mil-
lion at December 25, 2004. Following a change in accounting
rules, accretion on lease obligations for stores closed after Jan-
uary 2003 is included as a component of operating expenses.

In December 2004, we redeemed the entire issue of the
$250 million senior subordinated notes, pursuant to the optional
redemption provisions of the subordinated notes indenture. The
payment of approximately $302 million included the principal,
accrued interest to the termination date, and contractual inter-
est, discounted at the appropriate U.S. Treasury rate plus 50
basis points. The net loss on extinguishment of debt of $45.4
million included the make whole payment, removal of deferred
issuance costs, and recognition of a previously deferred gain
related to an interest rate swap.

Our net miscellaneous income (expense) consists of equity
in the earnings of our joint venture investments, royalty and
franchise income, and realized gains and impairments of cther
investments. Our equity-method investments are non-controlling
interests in office supply selling operations outside of the United
States and Canada. Earnings from these investments increased




$4.3 million in 2004. In 2003, we sold or abandoned a majority
of our interest in certain Internet companies, resutting in a fourth
guarter charge of $8.4 million. In 2002 we recorded charges of
$3.0 million related to the impairment of these investments. In
2003, this category also included recognition of approximately
$11.8 million of net foreign currency gains, primarily resulting
from holding euro investments in anticipation of purchasing
Guilbert in June 2003.

income Taxes

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
$125,729 $141524 $166,554

Income Taxes. .. ......
Effective income
taxrate™ ........ ... 27% 32% 35%

*Income Taxes as a percentage of earnings from continuing opeéra-
tions before income taxes.

The effective income tax rate in 2004 has been affected by
four significant factors: (1) an $11.5 million tax expense related
to the anticipated repatriation of foreign earnings, (2) an $11.3
million tax benefit from reducing existing valuation allowances
on deferred tax assets, (3) settlements of tax audits of $12.4
million, and (4) a release of previously recorded accruals for
uncertain tax positions based on changes in the facts and
circumstances. .

The American Jobs Creation Act was passed by Congress
and signed into law in 2004. This Act allows a one-time reduc-
tion in U.S. Federal taxes on repatriated earnings of foreign
affiliates. We have decided to repatriate at least $200 million of
foreign earnings and have recognized the.incremental U.S. tax
expense. We have not yet decided whether to repatriate any
additional amounts. Should we decide to bring additional for-
eign earnings back to the U.S. during 2005, our tax expense will
increase accordingly.

Because of a projected increase in taxable income of cer-
tain international entities, and a reassessment of certain state
tax circumstances, we changed our assessment of the need for
the valuation allowances on the related deferred tax assets.
Tax expense was reduced because we now believe the related
tax benefits are more likely than not to be realized.

The consolidated effective income tax rate has decreased
over the three years presented, reflecting an increasing pro-
portion of international activity, which is generally taxed at lower
effective tax rates and, in 2003, realization of certain state tax
credits. The effective tax rate in future periods can be affected
by variability in our mix of income and tax rates in the various
jurisdictions and therefore may be higher or lower than it has
been over the past three years. Currently, we are in the final
stages of completing routine taxing authority examinations of
certain earlier tax years. Resolution of these examinations for
amounts other than those that we have reserved as probable
exposures will impact tax expense in future periods.

We are a multi-national corporation engaged in complex
business, legal and tax transactions in various countries. Our
current effective tax rate is dependent in part upon both agree-
ments with taxing authorities in a number of jurisdictions and tax
filing positions taken in various jurisdictions, which tax filing

B ———————————————

positions we believe to have been taken in good faith and to be
well founded based upon our understanding of the applicable
tax codes. Our agreements with tax authorities and our tax filing
positions are subject to ongoing review by us and by various
taxing authorities. A material change in any of our agreements
with taxing authorities, or a successful challenge tc any one or
more of our tax filing positions, could have a material impact on
our overall corporate tax rate, causing this rate to be higher or
lower than the current tax rate.

in 2005, we anticipate resolution of various issues pertain-
ing to certain tax agreements and/or tax filing positions in var-
ious taxing jurisdictions, which could result in a higher effective
tax rate. Such change in our tax rate could be material. We have
made no determination at this time as to whether there will def-
initely be a change in our tax rate, the magnitude of any such
change in our tax rate or the impact on future periods from any
such change.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided by (used in) our cperating, investing and
financing activities is summarized as follows: :

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Operating activities . .. $645,865 $ 656,280 $702,334
investing activities. . .. (426,606) (1,184,377) (199,903)
Financing activities ...  (256,477) 388,851  (212,625)

Operating Activities

We have consistently satisfied operating liquidity needs
and planned capital expenditure programs through our normal
conversion of sales to cash. Over the three years ended in
2004, we generated over $2.0 billion of cash flows from oper-
ating activities. At December 25, 2004, we had over $565 mil-
lion available under our revolving credit facility, and incurred no
new borrowings under this program during this year, in spite of
significant outflows for investing and financing activities.

Our major sources of cash from operations include: store
sales, a majority of which are generated on a cash and carry
basis, our private label credit card program, which is adminis-
tered by a third party financial services company and con-
verted to cash daily, and collection of our receivables. We
generaie receivables from our contract and certain direct mail
customers, and as we expand this business here and abroad,
we anticipate our accounts receivable portfolio will grow.
Additionally, amounts due us under rebate, cooperative adver-
tising, and other programs with our vendors comprised over
25% of total receivables at the end of 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. These receivables tend to fluctuate seasonally (growing
during the second half of the year and declining during the
first half), because certain collections do not occur until spec-
ified milestones are reached or the program year is complete.
These receivables, however, are typically high guality and
are collected quickly after reaching specified milestones. Our
primary outflow of cash from operations is the purchase of
inventory, net of customary credit arrangements with vendors,

‘operational costs such as payroll and rent, and the payment of

current taxes.
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- Cash flows provided by operating activities in 2004
decreased 2% as compared to 2003. The change refiects the
comparison to higher non-cash charges in 20083 from inventory
obsolescence and adjustment to our closed store reserves, off-
set by lower working capital needs in 2004. The increase in
accounts payable and inventory at year end 2004 reflects the
addition of 52 new stores during the fourth quarter, as well as

an addition to inventory for anticipated first quarter 2005 needs.

Accounts receivable balances increased because of a 7%

increase in fourth quarter sales for 2004 compared to 2003, as

well as an increase in receivables from vendors. The increased
volume of purchases finalized at the end of the year, along with
the increase in promotional activity contributed to the increase
in receivables from our vendors compared to 2003.

For 2003 compared to 2002, the decrease in current
liabilities reflects payments on closed store liabilities, accrued
employee compensation, and settlement of accrued expenses,
as well as the timing of year-end purchases and vendor pay-
ments. The increase in inventories reflects lower than expected
sales in our North American Retail Division during the fourth
quarter, and an intentional build up of certain products to sup-
port the holiday season and, our new retail merchandising
initiatives. The non-cash operating items primarily include an
increase in our deferred income tax expense, an increase in
our closed store reserve, and various asset impairments. The
additional depreciation includes the impact of acquiring
Guilbert assets.

Investing Activities

During 2004, we invested $391.2 million in capital expen-

ditures. This activity includes the opening, relocating and
remodeling of retail stores worldwide, as well as opening one
Customer Service Center in Europe. The capital expenditures
in North America include $30.6 million to buy 91 retail store
locations from Toys “R” Us. The original transaction included
124 store locations. Of that total, we have opened 36 during
2004, and we plan to open an additional 15 in 2005. Seventeen
others were transferred directly to a separate buyer, 24 are
being held for sale or sublease, and 32 were removed from the
transaction by mutual agreement. We also acquired retail stores
in Hungary that had operated as Office Depot stores under
separate licensing agreements.

Investing activities for 2003 include approximately $919
million for payments made in connection with our acquisition
of Guilbert, net of cash acquired. See Note D to our Consoli-

dated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the pur-

chase transaction. Investing activities in 2004 and 2003 also
include $55 million and $100 million, respectively, invested in a
mutual fund that primarily invests in U.S. Government agency
obligations.

We currently plan ta open 100 stores in our North American
Retail Division (including the 15 stores discussed above) and
approximately five to ten stores in our International Group dur-
ing 2005. We estimate that our cash investing reguirements will
be approximately $1.0 million for each new domestic office
supply store, The $1.0 million includes approximately $0.4 mil-
lion for leasehold improvements, fixtures, point-of-sale terminals
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and other eguipment, and approximately $0.6 million for the por-

* tion of our inventories that will not be financed by our vendors.

In addition, our average new office supply store requires pre-
opening expenses of approximately $0.2 million. We also antic-
ipate remodeling approximately 50 retail locations during 2005
at an average cost of $250,000 per location.

Financing Activities

Our existing credit agreement is a $750 million 5-year
unsecured multi-currency revolving credit facility, which

.includes up to $350 million available for standby and trade

letters of credit. This facility runs through March 2009. Upon
mutual agreement, the maximum borrowing may be increased
to $900 million. The agreement provides borrowings up to the
total amount in U.S. dollars, British pounds, euro, or yen. We
may elect interest periods of one, two, three, six, nine or twelve
months, Interest is based on the London Interbank Offering
Rate (“LIBOR"), plus a spread determined at the time of usage.
Based on our current credit ratings, borrowings include a
spread of 0.70%. The effective interest rate on yen borrowings
atthe end of 2004 was 0.763%. At December 25, 2004, we had
approximately $565.0 million of available credit under our
revolving credit facility, which covers $81.9 million outstanding
letters of credit. We had an additional $8.2 mitlion of letters of
credit outstanding under a separate trade agreement.

In December 2004, we redeemed the entire issue of our
$250 million senior subordinated notes, pursuant to the optional
redemption provisions of the subordinated notes indenture. The
payment of approximately $302 million included the principal,
accrued interest to the termination date, and contractual interest,
discounted at the appropriate U.S. Treasury rate plus 50 basis
points. The redemption resulted in a fourth quarter 2004 charge
of $45.4 million which included the make whole payment,
removal of deferred issuance costs, and a previously deferred
gain related to an interest rate swap. The charge is reported as
a loss on extinguishment of debt in the other income (expense),
net section of the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

In August 2003, we issued $400 million of senior notes due
August 2013. These notes are not callable and bear interest
at the rate of 6.250% per year, to be paid on February 15 and
August 15 of each year. The notes contain provisions that, in

‘certain circumstances, place financial restrictions or limitations

on us. Simultaneous with completing the offering, we liquidated
a treasury rate lock. The proceeds of $16.6 million are being
amortized over-the term of the notes, reducing the effective
interest rate to 5.87%. During 2004, we entered into a series of
fixed-to-variable interest rate swap agreements as fair value
hedges on the $400 million of senior notes. The swaps qualify
for shortcut hedge accounting and no ineffectiveness has
been recognized.

We are in compliance with all restrictive covenants included
in the above debt agreements.

The Office Depot board of directors has approved two
common stock repurchase plans, both of which were in effect
during 2004. In 2001, the board approved an annual share
repurchase plan, subject to their annual review, of up to $50 mil-
lion per year until cancelled by the board. Under this plan, we




purchased 3.0 million shares in 2004, at a cost of $50.0 million;
3.2 million shares in 2003, for $50.0 million; and 2.9 million
shares in 2002, for $45.9 million.

In September 2004, the board of directors authorized an
additional $500 million common stock repurchase program to
be completed over the following 12 to 24 months. The $50 mil-
lion annual purchases in each of 2005 and 2006 that would be

originally issued in 1992 and 1993. The shares were redeemed at
original issue price plus accrued interest, totaling $243 million.

We continually review our financing options. Although we
currently anticipate that we will fund our 2005 operations,
expansion and other activities through cash on hand, funds
generated from operations, property and equipment leases
and funds available under our credit facilities, we will continue

available under that program are included in this $500 million
program. At December 25, 2004, approximately 900,000 shares
have been repurchased for $15.5 million under this program.

to consider alternative financing as appropriate for market
conditions.

We have never paid a cash dividend on our common stock.
While our board of directors regularly assesses our dividend
policy, there are no current plans to declare a dividend.

During 2002, we exercised our option and redeemed all
of the outstanding shares of convertible subordinated notes,

~ The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations at December 25, 2004, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

’

Payments due by Period

Contractual Obligations Less than . After 5

(Dollars in thousands) Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years years

Long-term debt obligations() ... ... .. ... $ 731473 $ 25,786 $ 51,572 $154,115  $ 500,000
Capital lease obligationst?) ... ... .. ... .. .. 128,456 18,795 24,379 18,871 66,411
Operating leases(®) .. .. ... ... ... ... 3,689,728 412,247 695,723 576,543 2,005,215
Purchase obligations(4) . . .......... . ... .. 90,127 71,711 13,583 4,350 483
Other long-term liabilities(®) ... — — — — —
Total contractual cash obligations .. ... . .. o $4,639,784 $528,539 $785,257 $753,879 $2,572,109

(1) Long-term debt obligations include our $400 million senior notes and borrowings under our revolving credit facility, excluding any related dis-
“count. Amounts include contractual interest payments (using the interest rate as of December 25, 2004 for the revolving credit facility). Amounts
due under our revolving credit facility have been classified according to its scheduled maturity in Maroh 2009; however, we may refinance this
borrowing under a future credit facility.

(2) The present value of these obligations, are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note G of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information about our capital lease obligations.

(3) Our operating lease obligations are described in Note | of the Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements.

(4) Purchase obligations include alt commitments to purchase goods or services of either a fixed or minimum quantity that are enforceable and legally
binding on us that meet any of the following criteria: (1) they are noncancelable, (2) we would incur a penalty if the agreement was cancelled,
or (3) we must make-specified minimum payments even if we do not take delivery of the contracted products or services. If the obligation is non-
cancelable, the entire value of the contract is included in the table. If the obligation is cancelable, but we would incur a penalty if cancelled, the
dollar amount of the penalty is included as a purchase obligation. If we can unilaterally terminate the agreement simply by providing a certain
number of days notice or by paying a termination fee, we have included the amount of the termination fee or the amount that would be paid over
the “notice period.” As of December 25, 2004, purchase obligations include television, radio and newspaper advertising, a sports facility nam-
ing right and other sports sponsorship commitments, telephone services, and software licenses and service and maintenance contracts for infor-
mation technology. Contracts that can be unilaterally terminated without a penalty have not been included.

(5) Our Consclidated Balance Sheet as of December 25, 2004 includes $342.3 million classified as “Deferred income taxes and other long-term lia-
bilities.” This caption primarily consists of our net long-term deferred income taxes, the unfunded portion of the Guilbert pension plans, deferred

"lease credits, and liabilities under our deferred compensation plans. These liabilities have been excluded from the above table as the timing
and/or the amount of any cash payment is uncertain. See Note H of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding our deferred tax positions and Note J for a discussion of our employee benefit plans, including the Guilbert pension plans and the
deferred compensation plan.

In addition td the above, we have letters of credit totaling $90.1 million outstanding at the end of the year, and we have recourse
for private label credit card receivables transferred to a third party. We record a fair value estimate for losses on these receivables
in our financial statements. The total outstanding amount transferred to a third party at the end of the year was approximately
$254.3 million.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (i.e., GAAP). Preparation of
these statements requires management to make judgments
and estimates. Some accounting policies have a significant
impact on amounts reported in these financial statements.
A summary of significant accounting policies can be found in
Note A in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. We
have also identified certain accounting policies that we consider
critical to understanding our business and our results of oper-
ations and we have provided below additional information on
those policies.

Vendor arrangements—Each year, we enter into purchase
arrangements with our vendors which provide for certain pay-
ments, including rebates, to be paid to our Company by certain
vendors, that we generally refer to as "vendor programs.” These
arrangements typically fall into two broad categories, with some
underlying sub-categories. The largest category is volume-
based rebates. Generally, our product costs per unit decling as
higher volumes of purchases are reached. Many of our vendor
agreements provide that we pay higher per unit costs prior to
reaching a predetermined milestone, at which time the vendor
rebates the per unit diffarential on past purchases, and also
applies the lower cost to future purchases until the next mile-
stone is reached. Current accounting rules provide that
‘companies with a sound basis for estimating their full year pur-
chases, and therefore the ultimate rebate level, can use that
estimate to value inventory and cost of goods sold through-
out the year. We believe our history of purchases with many
vendors provides us with a sound basis for using such an esti-
mation process.

However, if the anticipated volume of purchases is not
reached, or if we form the belief in any given point in the year
that it is not likely to be reached, cost of goods sold and the
remaining inventory balances are adjusted to reflect that
change in our outlook. We review sales projections and related
purchases against vendor program estimates at least quarterly
and adjust these balances accordingly. While vendor rebates
are recognized throughout the year based on judgment and
estimates, the final amounts due from vendors are generally
known soon after year-end. Substantially all vendor program
receivables outstanding at the end of the year are collected
within the three months immediately following year-end. We
believe that our historic collection rates against vendor pro-
grams provides a sound basis for our estimates of anticipated
vendor payments throughout the year.

We also have arrangements with our vendors that are
event-based. These arrangements can take many forms, but
two primary types cover (i) reimbursement for our advertising
(sometimes referred to as “cooperative” or “co-op” advertising)
and (ii) specific promoticnal activities. Prior to 2003, the co-op
advertising reimbursements were classified as a reduction
of advertising expense for the period. With our adoption of
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EITF 02-16 at the beginning of 2003, cooperative advertising
arrangements are classified as a reduction of product costs,
reducing costs of goods sold and inventory. See Note C of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information
regarding the impact of adopting EITF 02-16.

Other types of event-based arrangements include special
pricing offered by certain of our vendors for a limited time, pay-
ments for special placement or promoticn of a product, reim-
bursement of costs incurred to launch a vendor’s product, price
protection, and various other special programs. Such special
programs are often associated with a vendor's decision to
launch a new product, or in some cases to, discontinue a given

‘product or product line. These payments are classified as a

reduction of costs of goods sold or inventory, as appropriate for
the program. Additionally, we receive payments from vendors
for activities that lower the vendor's cost of product shipment.
Such receipts are recognized as a reduction of our cost of
goods sold.

Agreements reached with vendors generally cover one
year, but vendor program and cooperative advertising arrange-
ments can change between years. These arrangements can be
influenced by increases or reductions in inventory purchases
compared to company.plans and programs offered by the
vendors. While there are long-standing volume and pricing
conventions in the office products industry, such program
arrangements are regularly renegotiated, and as such, are sub-
ject to change. If these vendor program arrangements were
materially less beneficial, we could either increase the selling
price of the vendor's product, which may impact sales volume,
or experience a decline in profitability.

We recognize the area of vendor programs as an area in
which there are opportunities for abuse by either vendors or our
own employees. In recent years, other retailers have experi-
enced issues and abuses in this area. We have taken various
steps to ensure that our own vendor programs are operated as
honestly and appropriately as possible, including extending
our Code of Ethical Behavior to our vendors, and use of our
internal audit resources to ensure that we are diligent in polic-
ing the operation of vendor programs by our own employees.
We are aware of reported abuses at other retailers, and when
these come to our attention, we direct our internal resources
towards ensuring that the particular reported abuses are the
focus of our attention. :

Inventory valuation—Qur selling model is predicated on the
breadth and availability of our product assortment, and our
profitability is dependent on high inventory turnover rates. Qur
merchants monitor inventory on hand by location, particularly
as it relates to trailing and projected sales trends. Once a prod-
uct has been identified for discontinuance, we record a charge
to reduce the carrying value to our assessment of the lower of
cost or market. This assessment is based on the quality of the
merchandise, the rate of sale, and our assessment of market
conditions. Additional cost adjustments and sales markdowns
will be taken as considered appropriate until the product is sold




or otherwise disposed. Estimates and judgments are required

in determining what items to stock and at what level, and what
items to discontinue and how to value them prior to sale.

Goodwill testing—Under accounting rules that became
effective at the beginning of fiscal 2002, goodwill is not amor-
tized but is tested at least annually for impairment. Absent any
circumstances that warrant testing at another time, this is cus-
tomarily done as part of our year-end closing process.

Our testing consists of comparing the estimated fair values
of each of our reporting units to their carrying amounts, includ-
ing recorded goodwill. We estimate the fair values of each of
our reporting units by discounting their projected future cash
flows. Our projections are based on the budget for the suc-
ceeding year and multi-year forecasts. Developing these future
cash flow projections requires us to make significant assump-
tions and estimates regarding the sales, gross margin and
operating expenses of our reporting units, as well as economic
conditions and the impact of planned business or operational
strategies. Should future results or economic events cause a
change in our projected cash flows, or should our operating
plans or business model change, future determinations of fair
value may not support the carrying amount of one or more of
our reporting units, and the related goodwill would need to be
written down 1o an amount considered recoverable. Any such
write down would be included in the operating expenses of the
business unit. The performance of our business in Japan in
2004 did not meet the assumptions used in the prior year's test-
ing of goodwill. This under-performance, combined with the
decline in our future expectations for certain initiatives put in
place in 2003 and 2004, caused us to record an impairment
charge relating to Japan’'s goodwill.

Closed store reserves and asset impairments—We assess
on a regular basis the performance of each retail store against

historic patterns and projections of future profitability. These
assessments are based on management’s estimates for sales .

growth, gross margin attainments, and cash flow generation.
If, as a result of these evaluations, management determines
that a store will not achieve certain targets, the decision may be
made to close the store. When the decision is made to close a
store, and the store is no longer used for operating purposes,
we recognize a liability for the remaining costs related to the
property, reduced by an estimate of any sublease income. The
calculation of this liability requires us to make assumptions and
to apply judgment regarding the remaining term of the lease
(including vacancy period), anticipated sublease income, and
costs associated with vacating the premises. With assistance
from independent third parties, we periodically review these
judgments and estimates and adjust the liability accordingly. In
2003, as a result of a detailed portfolio review and changes in
commercial real estate markets where we have lease commit-
ments, we increased our liability for closed stores by $23.9 mil-
lion. Future fluctuations in the economy and the market place
demand for commercial properties could result in material
changes in this liability. Costs associated with facility closures
are included in store and warehouse operating expenses.

In addition to the decision about whether or not to close
a store, store assets are regularly reviewed for recoverability of
their carrying amounts. The recoverability assessment requires
judgment and estimates of a store's future cash flows. New
stores may require two or more years to develop a customer
base necessary to achieve expected cash flows and we typi-
cally do not test for impairment during this early stage. However,
if in subsequent periods, the anticipated cash flows of a store
cannot support the carrying amount of the store's assets, an
impairment charge is recorded to operations as a component
of operating and selling expenses. To the extent that manage-
ment’s estimates of future performance are not realized, future
assessments could result in material impairment charges.

Income taxes—Income tax accounting requires manage-
ment to make estimates and apply judgments to events that will
be recognized in one period under rules that apply to financiat
reporting and in a different period in the company’s tax returns.
In particular, judgment is required when estimating the vaiue of
future tax deductions, tax credits, and net operating loss carry-
forwards (NOLs), as represented by deferred tax assets. Some
tax credits and NOLs may expire before they can be used and
certain deductions by jurisdiction may not meet the recognition
standard. Accordingly, to the extent that we believe the recov-

“ery of all or a portion of a deferred tax asset is not likely, we

establish a valuation allowance. Generally, changes in judg-
ments that increase or decrease these valuation allowances
impact current earnings.

When we acquired Guilbert, we recorded valuation allow-
ances for the deferred tax assets related to their existing
NOLs because of the uncertainty of their realization. Should
we be able to realize a tax benefit from these deferred tax
assets, the benefit would reduce goodwill, rather than affect
current earnings.

in addition to judgments associated with valuation
accounts, our current tax provision can be affected by our mix
of income and identification or resolution of uncertain tax posi-
tions. Because income from domestic and international sources
may be taxed at different rates, the shift in mix during a year
or over years can cause the effective tax rate to change. We
base our rate during the year on our best estimate of an annual
effective rate, and update those estimates quarterly. We also
regularly evaluate the status and likely outcome of uncertain
tax positions.

We file our tax returns based on our best understanding of
the appropriate tax literature. However, complexities in the rules.
and our operations, as well as positions taken publicly by the
taxing authorities may lead us_to conclude that accruals for
uncertain tax positions are required. We generally maintain
accruals for uncertain tax positions until examination cf the tax
year is completed by the taxing authority, available review peri-
ods expire, or additional facts and circumstances cause us to
change our assessment of the appropriate accrual amount.
The Financial Accounting Standards Board has indicated that
they will be reviewing the accounting for uncertain tax positions
and may issue new or revised accounting rules during 2005. We
believe our current processes are consistent with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Significant Trends, Developments and Uncertainties

Over the years, we have seen continued development
and growth of competitors in all segments of our business. In
particular, mass merchandisers and warehouse clubs have
increased their assortment of home office merchandise, attract-
ing additional back-to-school customers and year-round casual
shoppers. We also face competition from cther office supply
superstores that compete directly with us in numerous markets.
This competition is likely to result in increased competitive pres-
sures on pricing, product selection and services provided.
Many of these retail competitors, including discounters, ware-
house clubs, and even drug stores and grocery chains, carry
at least limited numbers of basic office supply products, includ-
ing ink and toner cartridges, printer paper and other basic sup-
plies. Some of them have also begun to feature technology
products. Many of them price certain of these offerings lower
than we do, but they have not shown an indication of greatly
expanding their somewtat limited product offerings at this time.
This trend towards a proliferation of retailers offering a limited
assortment of office products is a potentially serious trend in
our industry.

We have also seen growth in competitors that offer office
products over the Internet, featuring special purchase incen-
tives and one-time deals (such as close-outs). Through our own
successful Internet and business-to-business web sites, we
believe that we have positioned ourselves competitively in the
e-commerce arena.

Another trend in our industry has been consolidation, as
competitors in the superstores channel and the copy/print.

channel have been acquired and consolidated into larger,
well-capitalized corporate conglomerates. This trend towards
consolidation, coupled with acquisitions by financially strong
organizations, is potentially a significant trend in our industry.

We regularly consider these and other competitive factors
when we establish both offensive and defensive aspects of our
overall business strategy and operating plans.

Market Sensitive Risks and Positions

We have market risk exposure related to interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is measured as the
potential negative impact on earnings, cash flows or fair values
resulting from a hypothetical change in interest rates or foreign
currency exchange rates over the next year. We manage the
exposure to market risks at the corporate level. The portfolio of
interest-sensitive assets and liabilities is monitored and adjusted
to provide liquidity necessary to satisfy anticipated short-term
needs. The percentage of fixed and variable rate debt is man-
aged to fall within a desired range. Our risk management poli-
cies allow the use of specified financial instruments for hedging
purposes only; speculation on interest rates or foreign currency
rates is not permitted.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes on
cash equivalents and debt obligations. The impact on cash
and short-term investments held at the end of 2004 from a hypo-
thetical 10% decrease in interest rates would be a decrease in
interest income of approximately $2.5 miltion in 2004.

Market risk associated with our debt portfolio is summarized below:

2004 : 2003
Carrying Risk Carrying Fair Risk
(Dollars in thousands) Value Value Sensitivity Value Value Sensitivity
$250 million senior subordinated notes ... $ - 8 —_ $ —_ $259,440  $300,000 $ 5,760
$400 million seniornotes .. ............ $403,771 $433,200 $14,800 $398,923 $420,320 $16,016
Revolving Credit Facility(” ............. $103,068 $103,068 $ 515 $100,102 $100,102 $ 501

(1) Including current maturities.

The risk sensitivity of fixed rate debt reflects the estimated .

* increase in fair value from a 50 basis point decrease in interest
rates, calculated on a discounted cash flow basis. The sensi-
tivity of variable rate debt reflects the possible increase ininter-
est expense during the next period from a 50 basis point
change in interest rates prevailing at year-end.

In 2004, we entered into a series of interest rate swap
agreements to receive fixed and pay floating rates, converting
the equivalent of $400 million of this portfolio to variable rate
debt through 2013.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

We conduct business in various countries outside the
United States where the functional currency of the country is not
the U.S. dollar. Our expansion in Europe and our acquisition of
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Guilbert in June 2003 increased the proportion of our operations
in countries with euro and British pound functional currencies.
The recent weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to other cur-
rencies, primarily the euro and British pound, has positively
impacted our results by increasing reported sales and operat-
ing profit; however, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar will
adversely impact our results. While we look for opportunities to
reduce our exposure to foreign currency fluctuation against the
U.S. dollar, at this point we have determined not to pursue trans-
lation hedging opportunities generally. As of December 25,
2004, a 10% change in the applicable foreign exchange rates
would result in an increase or decrease in our operating profit
of approximately $21 million.

Although operations generally are conducted in the rele-
vant local currency, we are also subject to foreign exchange
transaction exposure when our subsidiaries transact business




in a currency other than their own functional currency. This
exposure arises primarily from a limited amount of inventory pur-
chases in a foreign currency. Foreign exchange forward con-
tracts to hedge certain inventory exposures were $65 million at
their highest point during 2004.

Generally speaking, we view our international businesses
internally by focusing on the “local currency” results of the
business, and not with regard to the transiation into U.S. dollars,
as the latter is generally beyond our control. A comparative
view of the results of our international operations is most mean-
ingful, in our view, by a focus on the comparative resuits in
local currencies.

Infiation and Seasonality

Although we cannot determine the precise effects of infla-
tion on our business, we do not believe inflation has a material
impact on our sales or the results of our operations. We consider
our business to be only somewhat seasonal, with sales in our
North American Retail Division and Business Services Group
slightly higher during the first and third quarters of each year,
and sales in our International Group slightly higher in the first
and fourth quarters.

New Accounting Standards

in March 2004, Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 03-1,
The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its
Application to Certain Investments (“EITF 03-1"), was released.
This guidance relates to impairment measurements of debt and
equity securities, and essentially requires companies to recog-
nize an impairment unless they believe declines in value will be
recovered over the company’s intended investment horizon.
The staff of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)

issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP") EITF 03-1-1, Effective Date

of Paragraphs 10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain. investmants, which delayed the effective date for the
measurement and recognition criteria contained in EITF 03-1
until final application guidance is'issued. Our current investment
portfolio contains only a limited amount of the type of securities
covered by this guidance; however, a change in the method of
accounting for other-than-temporary declines could impact our
results of operations, when that guidance is finalized.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based

Payment, (“FAS 123(R)"). This Statement reguires companiesto .

expense the estimated fair value of stock options and similar
equity instruments issued to employees. Currently, companies
are required to calculate the estimated fair value of these share-
based payments and can elect to either include the estimated
cost in earnings or disclose the pro forma effect in the footnotes
to their financial statements. We have chosen to disclose the pro
forma effect. The fair value concepts were not changed signif-
icantly in FAS 123(R); however, in adopting this Standard, com-

panies must choose among alternative valuation models and

amortization assumptions. The valuation mode! and amortiza-
tion assumption we have used continues to be available, but
we have not yet completed our assessment of the alternatives.

FAS 123(R) will be effective for our company beginning with
the third quarter of 2005. Transition options allow companies to
choose whether to adopt prospectively, restate results to the
beginning of the year, or to restate prior periods with the
amounts that have been included in their footnotes. We have not
yet concluded on which transition option we will select. For the
pro forma effect of a full year application, using our existing
valuation and amortization assumptions, see Note A of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 15 of this
Report on Form 10-K..

FASB Staff Position No. 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 ("FSP 109-2"), was
issued in December 2004. This FSP provides guidance on
accounting for special reductions in taxes included in the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. In particular, the Act aliows
a one-time decrease in U.S. taxes on repatriated foreign earn-
ings. FSP 109-2 clarifies that a company's consideration of the
Act does not overrule their prior contention that the foreign
earnings were permanently reinvested. Also, the FSP indicates
that companies should provide tax expense when a decision is
made to repatriate some or all foreign earnings, and provide dis-
closure about the possible range of repatriation if the analysis
is not yet complete. We have decided to repatriate at least $200
million of foreign earnings during 2005 and have provided
approximately $11.5 million of tax expense in 2004. We continue
to assess whether additional earnings will be repatriated.
For additional information about our income tax accounts, see
Note H of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 15 of this Report on Form 10-K.

Cautionary Statements for Purposes of the “Safe Harbor”
Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995

Cautionary Statements

In December 1895, the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 (the “Act’) was enacted by the United States
Congress. The Act, as amended, contains certain amendments -
to the Securities Act of 1933 and the-Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. These amendments provide protection from liability in
private lawsuits for “forward-iooking” statements made by pub-
lic companies under certain circumstances, provided that the
public company discloses with specificity the risk factors that
may impact its future results. We want to take advantage of the
“safe harbor” provisions of the Act. In doing so, we have dis-
closed these forward-looking statements by informing you in
the following specific cautionary statements of certain circum-
stances which may cause the information in these statements
not to transpire as expected.

This Annual Report contains both historical information and

_other information that you can use to infer future performance.

Examples of historical information include our annual financial
statements and the commentary on past performance con-
tained in our MD&A. While we have specifically identified cer-
tain information as being forward-locking in the context of its

"presentation, we caution you that, with the exception of infor-

mation that is clearly historical, all the information contained in
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this Annual Report should be considered to be “forward-looking
statements” as referred to in the Act. Without iimiting the gen-
erality of the preceding sentence, any time we use the words
“estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect,” "believe,” “anticipate,”
“continue” and similar expressions, we intend to clearly express
that the information deals with possible future events and is
forward-looking in nature. Certain information in our MD&A is
clearly forward-looking in nature, and without limiting the gen-
erality of the preceding cautionary statements, we specifically
advise you to consider cur MD&A in the light of the cautionary
statements set forth herein.

n oW " ow "o " o

Forward-looking information involves risks and uncertain-
ties, including certain matters that we discuss in more detail
below in this Report on Form 10-K. Much of the information in
this report that looks towards future performance of our com-
pany is based on various factors and important assumptions
about future events that may or may not actually come true. As
a result, our operations and financial results in the future could
differ materially and substantially from those we have discussed
in the forward-locking statements in this Report. In particular, the
factors we discuss below could affect our actual results and
could cause our actual results in 2005 and in future years to dif-
fer materially from those expressed in any forward-looking state-
ment made by us or on our behalf in this Report. We believe that
the following risk factors should be considered by persons
reading any part of this Report on Form 10-K, and we hereby

expressly qualify this Report and future filings with the SEC

- {unless and until we modify these cautionary statements in a
future filing) by the inclusion of these cautionary statements
regarding future performance:

Competition—Retail: We compete with a variety of retailers,
dealers and distributors in a highly competitive marketplace that
includes such competitors as high-volume office supply chains
(so-called “office supplies superstores”), warehouse clubs,
computer stores, contract stationers and well-established mass
merchant retailers. Even grocery and drug-store chains have
begun to carry at least limited supplies of basic office supplies
and technology items, including printer supplies such as ink
cartridges and toner cartridges. While most of these retailers,
other than the office supplies superstores, have not yet elected
to carry the broad range of SKUs that our company carries in
its various channels of distribution, many of them have elected
to carry the most populaf and fastest selling items, often sell-
ing those limited SKUs at highly competitive prices relative to
the prices at which our company sells its products. Well-
established mass merchant retailers have the financial and dis-
tribution ability to compete very effectively with us should they
choose to enter more broadly into the office superstore retail
category, Internet office supply or contract stationer business
or substantially expand their offering in their existing retail out-
lets. In addition, there is substantial competition on the Internet

from other merchants who may or may not have a “brick and

mortar” presence. There is a possibility that any or all of these
competitors could become more aggressive in the future,
thereby increasing the number and breadth of our competitors,
potentially having a material adverse effect on our business
and results of our operations.
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Competition—Coniract and Direct: We compete with a
number of contract stationers, mail order and Internet operators
and retailers who supply office products and services to large
and small businesses, both nationally and internationally, by
selling on a contract basis to such businesses, as well as offer-
ing products through the convenience of catalog and Internet
channels. In order to achieve and maintain expected profitability
levels in this segment and as a company, we must continue to
grow this segment of our business by adding new customers
and taking market share from competitors, while maintaining the
service levels and aggressive pricing necessary to retain exist-
ing customers. There can be no assurance we will be able to
continue to expand our contract and direct business while
retaining our base of existing customers, and any failure to do
so could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.

We are also working on various initiatives to improve mar-
gin levels in this business segment by growing the percentage
of small to medium sized businesses and by increasing our
presence in terms of the numbers of sales representatives we
use to call on customers, but there is no assurance that these
initiatives will prove successful. Some of our competitors oper-
ate only in the contract and/or direct channels and therefore
may be able to focus more attention on the business services
segment, thereby providing formidable competition. Qur failure
to adequately address this segment of our business could put
us at a competitive disadvantage relative to these competitors.

In addition, we are near maximum capacity in some of our
distribution centers that serve our contract and direct cus-
tomers, which may impede our ability to efficiently grow our
business in certain markets. The economic problems of the
past several years have had an adverse impact on a number
of our contract and direct customers, resulting in some cases
in cutbacks in expenditures of our existing customers for office
supplies and cother items we sell to them.

Competition—Consolidation. The past year has seen move-
ments to consolidate certain aspects of the competitive land-
scape, including the entry of new and well-funded competitors
in certain aspects of our business. For example, two major
common carriers of goods have either completed or are in the
process of completing acquisitions of retail outlets that will allow
them to compete directly for copy, printing, packaging and
shipping business. This is a material part of our business, and
presents a new competitive challenge to us. In addition, two of
our major competitors, one in the retail segment and the other
in the contract and commercial business, have merged to form
a new and potentially more formidable competitive presence,
capable of competing in a more unified manner than was the
case when these companies were separate entities.

Competition—International: In 2003, we acquired a large
contract stationer in Europe, Guilbert, S.A., and thereby
increased the significance of our European operations in many
of the major commerciatl centers of Europe, including the U.K.
However, the landscape in Europe remains highly competitive
in all the channels in which we compete. Many of the same com-
petitors we face in North America have established major oper-
ations in Europe. Historically, Europe has been our fastest
growing business geography, and we have enjoyed excellent




margins in that area. As competition increases in Europe, both
from traditionally aggressive European companies, and the
increased presence of U.S. and other international/multi-
national competitors, we will be challenged to maintain both our
growth rates and our margins in Europe. These pressures could
have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

Internet: As mentioned above, many Internet-based mer-
chandisers also compete with us. While this industry segment
has recently sustained somewhat slower growth rates than in
previous years, the remaining competitors in the Internet-only
segment are substantially stronger and better able to compete
than was necessarily the case in the past. The stronger com-
petitors have established strong distribution capabilities and are
formidable competitors to the more traditional "brick and mor-
tar” office supplies superstores. This competition may increase
in the future as the companies that have survived the ‘shakeout’
in the Internet segment continue to expand their operations.

In addition, certain manufacturers of computer hardware,
software and peripherals, including certain of our suppliers,
have expanded their own direct marketing of products, partic-
ularly over the Internet. The largest manufacturer of personal
computers is also now the largest direct seller of such products
over the Internet, along with the attendant accessories and
supplies. In addition to selling technology hardware, some of

these manufacturers have also begun to expand their offerings.

to include machine supplies, such as ink and toner. The num-
ber of these direct sellers has increased in recent years. Even
as we expand our own Internet efforts, our ability to anticipate
and adapt to the developing Internet marketplace and the capa-
bilities of our network infrastructure to efficiently handle our rap-
idly expanding operations are of critical importance. Failure to
execute well in any of these key areas could have a material
adverse effect on our future sales growth and profitability.

Execution of Expansion Plans: We plan to open approxi-

mately 100 stores in the United States and Canada and approx-
imately 5 to 10 stores in our International Group during 2005. We
consider our retail expansion program to be an ihtegral part of
our plans to achieve anticipated operating results in future
years. Circumstances outside our control, such as adverse
weather conditions affecting construction schedules, unavail-
ability of acceptable sites or materials, labor disputes and sim-
ilar issues could impact anticipated store openings. Attimes in
the past, our expansion activities have been hampered by
sometimes poor selection of real estate locations, resulting in
some stores that have failed to meet their planned financial
results. Our future expansion plans also include opening retail
stores of different sizes than our traditional superstore models
and using different store formats and layouts. We have also
considered opening a retail presence within other retailer’s
locations, utilizing so-called “stores within stores.” We cannot
determine with certainty whether these newly sized or format-
ted stores will be successful. The failure to expand by opening
new stores as planned and/or the failure to generate the antic-
ipated sales growth in markets where new stores are opened
{including the opening of new sizes and formats of stores)
could have a material adverse effect on our future sales growth
and profitability.

During 2004, we agreed to purchase 124 stores from Toys
“R" Us, with the expectation of opening approximately 50 of
these as Office Depot stores and selling the others. By the end
of 2004, we had removed several stores from the transaction by
mutual agreement, sold several properties and opened 36
Office Depot stores in these locations; others will be opened
during 2005. With this purchase, we gained access to mar-
kets in the mid-Atiantic states and the Northeast corridor of
the United States, areas where we previously were under-
represented in retail. Many of the locations that we expect to
open as Office Depot retail stores will face strong competitive
pressures. Throughout their useful lives, these retail locations
must generate operating cash flows that are at least sufficient
to recaover the remaining book value of the initial purchase price
and related capitalized and operating costs. Should these
stores fail to meet future cash flow expectations, the carrying
value of the stores and related assets may need to be written
down. If required, such a write down could have a material
adverse effect on future results of operations. Also, we have
estimated the selling value and holding costs of stores that will
not be opened as Office Depot stores. If we are unsuccessful
in disposing of these locations as quickly as anticipated or at
price levels that we expect, we may be required to adjust their
carrying value which could have an adverse impact on our
reported results in the period of adjustment.

Cannibalization of Sales in Existing Office Depot Stores: As
we expand the number of our stores in existing markets, pur-
suing a fill-in' strategy that is both offensive and defensive in
nature, sales in our existing stores may suffer from cannibal-
ization (as customers of our existing stores begin shopping at
our new stores). Our new stores typically require an extended
period of time to reach the sales and profitability levels of our
existing stores. Moreover, the opening of new stores does
not ensure that those stores will ever be as profitable as exist-
ing stores, particularly when new stores are opened in highly
competitive markets or markets in which other office supply
superstores may have achieved "first mover” advantage. Our
comparable sales are affected by a number of factors, includ-
ing the opening of additional Office Depot stores; the expansion
of our contract business in new and existing markets; migration
of our customers from the retail channel to other channels,
including our own Internet, direct and contract channels, com-
petition from other office supply chains, mass merchandisers,
warehouse clubs, computer stores, other contract stationers
and Internet-based businesses; and regional, national and inter-
national economic conditions. {n addition, our profitability would
be adversely affected if our competitors were to attempt to
capture market share by reducing prices. Any or all of these
circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our
anticipated future revenue and profitability models.

Costs of Remodeling and Re-merchandising Stores. The
remodeling and re-merchandising of our stores has contributed
to increased store expenses, and these costs are expected to
continue impacting store expenses throughout 2005 and
beyond. While a necessary aspect of maintaining a fresh and
appealing image to our customers, the expenses associated
with such activities could have a significant negative impact on
our net income in the future. In addition, there is no guarantee
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that these changes will generate any of the benefits that we
have anticipated. Furthermore, our growth, through both store
openings and acquisitions, will continue to require the expan-
sion and upgrading of our informational, operational and finan-
cial systems, as well as necessitate the hiring of new managers
at the store and supervisory level. As mentioned in our MD&A,
we adopted a new retail format that we call ‘M2, At the end of
2004, we have opened or remodeled 101 stores to the M2
design. If we are unsuccessful in achieving an acceptable ROI
on this design, such failure could have a material adverse effect
on our future sales growth and profitability.

Historical Fiuctuations in Performance: Fluctuations in our
quarterly operating results have occurred in the past and may
occur in the future. A variety of factors could contribute to this
quarter-to-quarter variability, including new store openings
which require an outlay of pre-opening expenses, generate
lower initial profit margins and cannibalize existing stores; tim-
ing of warehouse integration; competitors’ pricing; changes in
our product mix; fluctuations in advertising and promotional
expenses; the effects of seasonality; acquisitions of contract
stationers; competitive store openings; an increase in activity by
non-traditional resellers of office supplies, technology or other
products we sell, or other events. Such quarterly fluctuations
could have a material adverse effect on our financial results
and/or the price of our securities.

International Activity: We have operations in a number of
international markets. We intend to enter additional international
markets as attractive opportunities arise. Each entry could take
the form of a start-up, acquisition of stock or assets or a joint
venture or licensing arrangement. We have made a decision to
accelerate our growth in Europe, increasing more rapidly than
originally planned the number of countries in which we operate.
In addition to the risks described above (in our domestic oper-
ations) and the increased level of competition in Europe and
elsewhere, internationally we face such risks as foreign cur-
rency fluctuations, unstable political and economic conditions,
and, because some of our foreign operations are not wholly
owned, compromised operating control in certain countries.
Recent world events have served to underscore even further the
risks and uncertainties of operating in other parts of the world.
Risks of civil unrest, war and economic crisis in portions of
the world outside North America in which we operate repre-
sent a more significant factor than may have been the case in
the past.

Also, we have experienced significant fluctuations in for-
eign currency exchange rates in 2004, including large swings
in the exchange rate between the dollar and the euro and the
dollar and the pound sterfing during the prior year, which
affected the sales and earnings in our International Group. Our
results may continue to be affected by these fluctuations, both
positive and negative, in the future as the value of the U.S. dol-
lar changes against other currencies. All of these risks could
have a material adverse effect on our financial position or our
results from operations. Moreover, as we increase the rela-
tive percentage of our business that is operated globally, we
also increase the impact these factors have on our future oper-
ating results. ‘
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Our operation in Japan, in particular, has proven to be dis-
appointing to date and has generated losses that have materi-
ally affected our financial results in the past and may do so in
the future. Because of differing commercial practices, laws and
other factors, our ability to use the Internet and electronic com-
merce to substantially increase sales in international locations
may not progress at the same rate as in North America.

Integration of Guilbert in Europé: In June 2003, we com-
pleted the acquisition of Guilbert, S.A., a leading contract sta-
tioner in Europe and formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of the
PPR Group in France. In addition to the risks associated with
making such a large investment (nearly $1 billion in U.S. dollars
at 2003 year-end exchange rates), we also faced a formidable
challenge in the integration of the Guilbert organization into our
European Office Depot and Viking businesses. We appointed
new country managers in nearly every country in which we
operate in Europe. Some of these managers came from the
Guilbert organization and some from the Office Depot/Viking
organization. Failures of any of these managers to adapt to a
new culture and the challenges in most cases of managing
substantially larger businesses in their respective countries
could have a material impact on our results of operations in
Europe. To date, results have been mixed and in some cases
have not met our expectations. In addition to the merger of some-
what different cultures, we also faced the challenges of physi-
cally integrating facilities from both the former Guilbert side of
the business and the former Office Depot/Viking side of the
business. The integration process continues. To the extent that
we close or consolidate additional facilities, we are likely to
face high social costs associated with such moves, and the
possibility of work stoppages in the form of strikes in some
locales in Europe. Any or all of these integration issues could
have a material impact on our future financial performance and
results of operations.

Global Sourcing of Products/Private Label: In recent years,
we have substantially increased the number and types of prod-
ucts which we sell under our own Office Depot®, Viking®,
Guilbert®, NiceDay™ and other private label brands. We
expect this trend to continue and even accelerate in the future.
We source many of these products from outside the United
States, particularly in the Far East. While these products have
attractive margins and may enhance our brand image, the
increased reliance on foreign sourced products introduces its
own set of risks and uncertainties. Sources of supply may prove
to be unreliable, or the quality of the globally sourced products
may vary from our expectations. Unlike the situation with our tra-
ditional suppliers, when we source in this manner, we must
bear the risks and uncertainties of warranty, product liability and .
intellectual property issues.

Economic and civil unrest in areas of the world where we
source such products, as well as shipping and dockage labor
issues could adversely impact the availability or cost of such
products, or both. Moreover, while we seek indemnities from the
manufacturers of these products, the uncertainty of realizing on
any such indemnity and the lack of understanding of U.S. prod-
uct liability laws in certain parts of the Far East make it more
likely that we may have to respond to claims or complaints from
our customers as if we were the manufacturer of the products.




In addition, while the initial margins on such products are
generally more attractive than we can achieve by sourcing from
traditional sources of supply, cther factors, such as the lack of
vendor program income, including cooperative advertising con-
tributions, may make such sourcing less attractive in the future.
Any of these circumstances could have a material adverse
effect on our financial performance’in the future.

Sources and Uses of Cash: We believe that our current
level of cash and cash equivalents, future operating cash flows,
lease financing arrangements and funds available under our
credit facilities and term loans should be sufficient to fund our
planned expansion, integration and other operating cash needs
for at least the next year. However, there can be no assurance
that additional sources of financing will not be required during
the next twelve months as a result of unanticipated cash
demands, opportunities for expansion, acquisition or invest-
ment, changes in growth strategy, changes in our warehouse
integration plans or adverse operating results. We could attempt
to meet our financial needs through the capital markets in the
form of either equity or debt financing. Alternative financing will
be considered if market conditions make it financially attractive.
There can be no assurance that any additional funds required
by us, whether within the next twelve months or thereafter, will
be available to us on satisfactory terms. Our inability to access
needed financial resources could have a material adverse effect
on our financial position or operating results.

M&A Activity: In 2003, we made a major investment in the
growth of our business in Europe through the acguisition of
Guilbert, S.A. from the PPR Group, at a cost of almost $1 billion
(U.S. dollars at 2003 year-end exchange rates). This acquisition
occurred five years after our previous major acquisition of Viking
in 1998. Other than these two acquisitions, we have limited our
merger and acquisition activity to relatively small acquisitions.
However, as we seek ways to more aggressively expand and
grow our business, we may need to increase our level of M&A
activity, both domestically and internationally. While the oppor-
tunities from such activity cannot be ignored, neither can the
clear reality that many acquisitions do not measure up o the
expectations of the acquiring company for a host of reasons.
Moreover, M&A activity may divert attention of our executive
management team away from our existing core businesses.
We may do a less than optimal job of due diligence or evalua-
tion of target companies; and, as always, the task of integrat-
ing substantial businesses can prove difficult. Failure to grow
our businesses through M&A activity, or failure to execute M&A
activity in a satisfactory manner, as well as adding substantial
leverage to our balance sheet in order to accomplish major
acquisitions, could have a significant and material adverse
effect on our future business prospects and/or our financial
performance in the future.

Effects of Certain Charges: From time to time in the past,
we have recorded charges and credits to adjust past estimates,
such as facility closure costs, to reflect current conditions. There
can be no assurance that additional charges of this nature will
not be required in the future as well. In particular, we expect that
a retail store chain, such as our North American Retail Division,
should expect to close a certain number of stores each year,
while remodeling and/or relocating a number of other stores.

We cannot be certain that our decisions to close, remodel
and/or relocate stores will have the desired favorable results on
our financial performance, nor can we anticipate the size and
nature of charges associated with such matters. Moreover, an
increase in M&A activity increases our exposure to having to
take such charges, as we learn more about the acquired entity
and reach conclusions to consolidate, etc. that may or may
not have been contemplated at the time of acquisition. Such
charges, if any, could have a materially adverse impact on our
financial position or operating results in the future.

Impact of New Legislation and New Accounting Rules:
Since 2002, our company, along with other publicly held com-
panies, has worked diligently to comply with new legislation that
has been called the most comprehensive set of reforms of pub-
lic companies in over a half century, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (“SOA"). Moreover, the implementation of various man-
dates under SOA has resulted in the promulgation of a host of
new regulations by the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC”) and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.
During 2004, substantial costs have been incurred, and will -
continue to be incurred to comply with various of these man-
dates, including the engagement of separate public account-
ing firms to perform work that is now prohibited to be performed
by our regular independent accounting firm, internal costs asso-
ciated with documenting the adequacy of our internal controls
over financial reporting and similar compliance activities, and
increased costs of audit by our independent accounting firm.

While Office Depot believes that it has been at all times in
material compliance with laws and regulations pertaining to the
proper recording and reporting of our financial results, there can
be no assurance that future regulations, implementing SOA
and otherwise, will not have a material adverse impact on our
reported results as compared with prior reporting periods. Any
or all of the foregoing could have a material adverse impact on
our reported financial results.

Of current note, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") has issued several new accounting standards and is
considering others, some of which could have a material impact
on our reported results. In particular, beginning with the third
quarter of 2005, all public companies will be reguired to record
an expense associated with the estimated fair value of stock
options issued to employees. In the past, this information has
been disclosed on a pro forma basis in the notes to our finan-
cial statements, but not recorded. The disclosure indicated that
expensing the fair value of stock opticns would have reduced
annual diluted earnings per share in the range of $0.06 to $0.09
per share. The FASB has an active agenda of items to consider,
several of which also could have a significant impact on the
reported financial results and financial condition of the com-
pany. Issues being considered that could affect us include
accounting for income taxes, revenue recognition and busi-
ness combinations, to name a few. Also, all public companies
are required to assess the continuing value of goodwill and
long-lived assets. This assessment requires judgment and
estimates about future cash flows, which may or may not be
realized. Changes in facts or assumptions could cause the
write-down or write-off of long-lived assets or goodwill associ-
ated with our operations. For example, the carrying value of
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goodwill relating to our investment in Japan was written down
in 2004. The impact of any required write-off of goodwill
associated with any units of our company could have a
material adverse impact on our reported financial resuits in
future periods.

Office Depot is confident that our past practices and
reports filed with the SEC, the New York Stock Exchange and
other reports are in malerial compliance with all laws and
regulations, but the continued obligation to further enhance
.disclosures and make filings that increase the transparency of
our reported results will undoubtedly add to the overall cost
of doing business. And some of the many proposed changes
in accounting policies and principles could dramatically alter
the reported results of our company, as contemplated by at
least certain currently pending proposals among various regu-
latory bodies.

Executive Management: Our former Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer resigned his positions in October 2004. That
role is being filled currently by a member of the company’s
board of directors, Neil R. Austrian, while a search for a per-
manent replacement is conducted. It is possible that the search
process for a new CEO may take longer than currently antici-
pated. It is also possible that an extended delay in identifying
and recruiting a new CEC may have an adverse impact on the
performance of our company. Further, it is possible that during
a period of uncertainty while the recruiting process is underway,
certain other senior executives may elect to depart the com-
pany, resulting in the necessity of filling other senior level man-
agerial positions. Even if they do not elect to leave the company,
their performance may suffer during the interim period, due to
lack of focus on operating matters. Such departures or lack of
management focus, if any, could also have an adverse impact
on the performance of our company.

Possible Changes to our Global Tax Rate: Our Company is
a multi-national, multi-channel reseller of office products. As a
result of our operations in many foreign countries, in addition to
the United States, our global tax rate is derived from a combi-
nation of applicable tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which
we operate. Depending upon the sources of our income, any
agreements we may have with taxing authorities in various juris-
dictions, and the tax filing positions we take, our overall tax
rate may be lower or higher than that of other companies. Cur
overall tax rate is dependent upon numerous factors, any one
or more of which may change from time to time, resulting in a
change in our overall tax rate that could be material. Because
income from domestic and international sources may be taxed
at different rates, the shift in mix during a year or over years can
cause the effective tax rate to change. We base our estimate of
an annual effective tax rate at any given point in time upon a cal-
culated mix of the tax rates applicable to our Company and to
estimates of the amount of business likely to be done in any
given geography. We update those estimates quarterly. We also
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regularly evaluate the status and likely outcome of uncertain tax
positions. The loss of one or more agreements with taxing juris-
dictions, a change in the mix of our business from year to year
and from country to country, or changes in tax laws in any of
the multiple jurisdictions in which we operate could result in a
favorable or unfavorable change in our overall tax rate, which
change could be material to our reported financial results.

Disclaimer of Obligation to Update

We assume no obligation (and specifically disclaim any
such obligation) to update these Cautionary Statements or any
other forward-looking statements contained in this Annual
Report to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or other
factors affecting such forward-looking statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.

See the information in the "Market Sensitive Risks and
Positions” subsection of Management's Discussion and Analy-
sis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation set forth in
Item 7 hereof. :

ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See Item 15(a) in Part IV.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The company’s management, with the participation of the
company's Chief Financial Officer, Charles E. Brown, and the
company's interim Chief Executive Officer, Neil R. Austrian, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure con-
trols and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, these officers
have concluded that the corporation’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective for the purpose of ensuring that mate-
rial information required to be in this report is made known to
them by others on a timely basis and that information required
to be disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or sub-
mits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communi-
cated to the company’s management, including its principal
executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.




Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

(a) Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

See ltem 15(a)1 in Part IV.

(b) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

See ltem 15(a)1.in Part IV.
(c) Changes in Internal Controls

The company is continuously seeking to improve the effi-
ciency and effectiveness of its operations and of its internal con-
trols. This results in refinements to processes throughout the
company. However, there has been no change in the com-
pany's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the company’s most recent fiscal year that has materi-
ally affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART HI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the
Registrant.

Information concerning our executive officers is set forth in
Item 1 of this Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers
of the Registrant.”

Information with respect to our directors and the nomina-
tion process is incorporated herein by reference to the infor-
mation “Election of Directors/Biographical Information on the
Candidates” and “How Nominees to our Board are Selected”
in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meesting of
Shareholders.

Information regarding our audit committee and our audit
committee financial experts is incorporated by reference to the
information “Committees of our Board” and "Audit Committee
Report” in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders.

Information required by ltem 405 of Reguilation S-K is incor-
porated herein by reference to "Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement for
our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

We have adopted a Code of Ethical Behavior in compliance
with applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion that applies to its principal executive officer, its principal
financial officer, and its principal accounting officer or controller,
or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the Code of

-Ethical Behavior is available free of charge on the “Investor

Relations” section of our web site at www.offficedepot.com. We
intend to satisfy any disclosure requirement under ltem 5.05 of
Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provi-
sion of this Code of Ethical Behavior by posting such informa-
tion on our website at the address and location specified above.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation.

Information with respect to executive compensation is
incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
caption “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement for
our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by refer-
ence to the information under the caption “Stock Ownership Information” in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting

of Shareholders.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information regarding compensation plans under which Office Depot equity securities are author-

ized for issuance as of December 25, 2004:

Number of securities

to be issued
upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights

Weighted-average

exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans

Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (including the
Long-Term Incentive Stock Plam() ... ... .. ... 26,109,787 $16.04 18,224,591(2)

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). .. ... ... ......
Retirement SavingsPlans . ........ ... .. ... .. . ... ..

Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders:
None ... o

Not Applicable
Not Applicable

388,194(3)

Not Applicable
Not Applicable(3)

Not Applicable

— Not Applicable ‘ —

26,109,787 $16.04 18,612,785

(1) Outstanding options Lmder the Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan are satisfied with available securities from the Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan.
(2) As of December 25, 2004, the number of securities remaining available for future issuance has been reduced by approximately 497,000 shares

of restricted stock.

(3) We currently settle essentially all share needs under the ESPP, the 401(k) Plan, and related deferred compensation plan, by open market purchases
through the respective plan administrators. The number of securities remaining available for future issuance has been adjusted for activity prior

to open market settiement conversion.

For a description of the equity compensation plans above, see Note J—Employee Benefit Plans included under the heading

“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

- Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Information with respect to such contractual relationships
is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
captions “CEQO Compensation” in the Proxy Statement for our
2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information with respect to principal accounting fees and
services and pre-approval policies are incorporated herein by
reference to the information under the captions “Information
About Our Independent Accountants, "Audit & Other Fees,”
and "All Other Fees” in the Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV

ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. The financial statements listed in “Index to Financial
. Statements.”

2. The financial statement schedule listed in “Index to
Financial Statement Schedule.”

3. The exhibits listed in the “Index to Exhibits.”
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Office Depot is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial report-

.ing. Internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's prin-
cipal executive and principal financial officers and effected
by the company's board of directors, management and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-
ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financia!
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies
and procedures that:

¢ pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company;

s provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing.principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with author-
izations of management and directors of the company; and

* provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispo-
sition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contro! over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 25,
2004. In making this assessment, management used the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission in internal Control—integrated
Framework.

Based on our assessment, management believes that, as of
December 25, 2004, the company’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting is effective. :

The company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an attestation report on our
assessment of the company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Their report appears on the following page.

Neil R. Austrian

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman, Board of Directors

March 10, 2005

Charles E. Brown
Executive Vice President, Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

~ March 10, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.:

We have audited management's assessment, included in the
accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, that Office Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 25, 2004, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating manage-
ment's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and oper-
ating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pro-
cess designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by the company's
board of directors, management, and other personnel to pro-
vide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exter-
nal purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) per-
tain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit prepa-
ration of financial statements in accordance with generally
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accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expen-
ditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due
to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of
the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are
subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-
pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal controf over financial reporting as
of December 25, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee on Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
controt over financial reporting as of December 25, 2004, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee on Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended December 25, 2004 of the Company and our report
dated March 7, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.

/\)(\a;&e . /(cud,.‘__. L—J———p

Certified Public Accountants
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 7, 2005




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Office Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 and the
related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 25, 2004. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on the financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and signif-

icant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements pre-
sent fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Office Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 25, 2004 and
December 27, 2003 and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 25, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company's internal controt over finan-
cial reporting as of December 25, 2004, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee on Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 7, 2005 expressed
an ungualified opinion on management's assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company'’s internal contro! over financial reporting.

As discussed in Note C to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2003 the Company changed its method of account-

- ing for cooperative advertising arrangements to conform to the

requirements of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-16
upon adoption of such guidance.

/D(.\a;&e— & <('°*-‘<f'v~<_ LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 7, 2005
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 27,

2003
December 25, (As Restated—
2004 See Note B)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents .. ......... .. . $ 793,727 $ 790,889
Short-term INVESIMENTS . . . . o et e e e e e 161,133 100,234
Receivables, net of allowances of $38,007 in 2004 and $34,173in2003 ... ............ 1,303,888 1,112,417
Merchandise INVENtores, Net . . .. ... . o 1,408,778 1,336,341
Deferredincometaxes . .............. ... ... ... .. R 133,282 169,542
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets. ... ........ ... i i 115,363 67,305
Total CUMENt @SSelS. . . . . 3,916,171 3,576,728
Property and eqQuIpment, NE . . . . ..o 1,463,028 1,293,755
GooaWIll . L 1,049,669 1,004,122
O her ASSBES . . oot e 338,483 320,074
Total assets. ... ... e $6,767,351 . $6,194,679
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts Payabie . . . .. .. $1,569,862 $1,261,788
Otheraccounts payable . ... ... . .. . . e 80,455 61,391
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . .......... . ... o oo 819,631 813,642
Incometaxespayable ........... .. ... ... .. L e 133,266 129,290
Current maturities of long-termdebt. . .. ... ... 15,143 12,816
Total current Habilities . . . ..o 2,618,357 2,279,027
Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilittes . .. .......... ... ... . . . 342,266 339,229
Long-term debt, net of current maturities. . ... ... 583,680 829,302
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock—autherized 800,000,000 shares of $.01 par value;
issued 404,925,515 in 2004 and 398,822,742 N 2003. . . ... ... i 4,049 3,988
Additional paid-in capital . ... .. e 1,257,619 1,175,497
Unamortized value of long-term incentive stock grant. ... (2,125) (1,362)
Accumulated other comprehenswe NCOME . et e e 339,708 214,764
Retained earnings. . . . ..o e 2,593,275 2,257,771
Treasury stock, at cost—92,623,768 shares in 2004 and 88,628,803 shares in 2003. ... .. (969,478) (903,5637)
Total stockholders’ equity . ... ... o 3,223,048 2,747,121
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . ... ... ... .. . $6,767,351 $6,194,679

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. -
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2003 2002
(As Restated— (As Restated—
2004 See Note B) See Note B)
Sales . ... $13,564,699 $12,358,566 $11,356,633
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs. . ... . ... 9,308,560 8,483,820 8,021,471
Gross Profit ... .o 4,256,139 3,874,746 3,335,162
Store and warehouse operating and sellingexpenses. .. ............... 3,037,257 2,807,112 2,342,556
General and administrative eXpenses. ... ... ... . i 665,825 578,840 486,279
Other operating expenses. ... ..... R 23,080 22,809 9,855
Operating profit . ... .. o 529,977 465,985 496,472
Other income (expense):
Interestincome .. ... .. 20,042 14,196, 18,509
INferest 8XPENSE . . .. .. (61,108) (54,805) (46,195)
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt . ....... ... ... ... ... L. (45,407) — —
Miscellaneous income (expense), net. ............... ... . 17,729 15,392 7,183
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accountingchange ... .............. .. ... ..., 461,233 440,768 475,969
INCOME taXES . . . . 125,729 141,524 166,554
- Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accountingchange . ... . 335,504 299,244 309,415
Discontinued operations, net. . ........... ... ... ... — 176 (775)
Cumulative effect of accountingchange, net . ............. .. .. ... ... —_ (25,905) —
NEetearnings . ... ..ot $ 335,504 $ 273515 $ 308,640
Earnings per share from continuing operations before cumulative effect '
of accounting change:
BasiC . ... $ 1.08 $ 0.97 $ 1.01
Diuted................ ... ........ e 1.06 0.95 098
Cumulative effect of accounting change: ) A
Basic ................ R $ — $ (0.08) $ —
Diluted . . .. .. —_ (0.08) —
Net earnings per share:
BasiC . ... . $ 1.08 $ 0.88 3 1.01
DIUtEd . oot L 1.06 0.87 097

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Office Depot 2004 Annual Report | 47




OFFICE DEPOT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Unamortized
Value of

Accumulated
Other
Compre-

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock
Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Long-Term

Stock Grant

hensive
Income
(Loss)

Compre-
hensive
Income

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Incentive

Balance at December 28, 2001
(As Restated-See Note B) ... . ...
Comprehensive income:
Netearnings. ... ..............
Foreign currency translation
adjustment ... ............ ..

385,638,340

Comprehensiveiincome .........

Acquisition of treasury stock. .. ... ..
Grant of long-term incentive stock . . .
Cancellation of tong-term
incentivestock ........... .. ...
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits) . . ........ ..
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchase plans .. ...... ...
Matching contributions under
401(k) and deferred
compensationplans ... ... .. e
Direct Stock Purchase Plans. . ... ...
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant . ............ .

15,000
(73,524)
8,195,441

139,773

90,022

$3,855

1
(M
82

1

1

$1,007,088

218
(549)
108,478
1,097

1,663
33

$(2,578) $ (71,273) $1,675616 $(806,388)

$308,640 308,640

72,438 72,438

$381,078

(45,869)
(218)

284
(965)

55

1,217

Batance at December 28, 2002
(As Restated—See Note B)
Comprehensive income:;
Netearnings................ ..
Foreign currency translation
adjustment .. ....... ...
Proceeds from cash flow hedge,
net of amortization ... ...... ..

393,905,062

Comprehensive income ... ......

Acquisition of treasury stock. . .. .. ..
Grant of long-term incentive stock . . .
Cancellation of long-term
incentivestock ............ ...
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits) . ... ...... ..
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchaseplans .. ......... ’
Direct Stock Purchase Plans . ... .. ..
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant .......... .

60,000
(4,500)
4,850,481

11,709

3,939

1

48

1,118,028

(1,295) 1,165 1,984,256  (853,167)

$273,515 273,515
197,670 197,570

16,029 10,095

$481,180

(50,064)
(867)

75

(358)

52

725

Balance at December 27, 2003
(As Restated—See Note B)
Comprehensive income:
Netearnings .. ..................
Foreign currency translation
adjustment .. ... . L.
Amortization of gain on
cashflowhedge............ ...

398,822,742

Comprehensive income

Acquisition of treasury stock . . ... . ..
Grant of long-term incentive stock . . .
Cancellation of long-term
incentivestock .......... . ... ..
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits) . .. ...... ...
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchaseplans .. .........
Direct Stock Purchase Plans. ... .. ..
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant ................ ...

105,531
(32,304)

6,029,546

3,988

1

60

1,175,497

1,700
(186)
81,695

(1,114)
27

(1,362) 214,764 2,257,771 {903,537)

$335,504 335,504
126,603 126,603

(1,659)  (1,045)

$461,062

(65,578)
(1,700)

186
(400)

37

751

Balance at December 25,2004 . . . .. 404,925,515

$4,049

$1,257,619

$(2,125) $ 339,708 $2,593,275 $(969,478)

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

2003 2002 -
(As Restated— (As Restated—
2004 See Note B) See Note B)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Netearnings . . . oo $ 335,504 $ 273,515 $ 308,640
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities: ‘
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net . ............ .. .... — 25,905 —
Depreciation and amortization . ........ .. ... ... . . .. . oo 269,166 253,217 205,175
Charges for losses on inventories and receivables. . .. ... .. L 87,927 118,282 - 93,220
Net earnings from equity method investments .................. (16,171) (11,056) (9,279)
Accreted interest on zero coupon, convertible subordinated notes . . — — 7,658
Deferred income tax provision. . . .............. . 10,889 31,746 9,096
Net loss on investment securities . ................ ... .. ..... —_ 8,428 2,998
(Gain) loss on dispositionofassets. ... ......... .. ... .. ... ... (3,242) 6,912 1,465
Facility closure costs and impairment charges. .. ............... 24,791 26,675 12,130
Other operating activities .. .......... .. . . o i (3,998) 17,726 29,243
Changes in assets and liabilities: :
(Increase) decrease inreceivables. . ......... ... ... .. ... ... (150,821) 30,171 11,668
(Increase) decrease in merchandise inventories . ............. (114,160) (52,419) (99,487)
Net (increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets . . (20,615) 4,935 (18,169)
Net increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and deferred credits . . .. ... .. ... L 226,595 (77,757} 148,076
Total adjustments. .. .. ... . 310,361 382,765 393,694
Net cash provided by operating activities. .. .. .............. ... ..., 645,865 656,280 - 702,334
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investment securities. . ..... .. ... .. ... . . . — — (2,151)
Purchase of short-terminvestments . .................... ... ...... (67,975) (100,000) (6,435)
Sale of short-terminvestments . ... ... . ... . . ... 5,000 6,435 —
Acquisition, netof cashacquired .. ... ... . . o (7,900) (918,966) —
Capital expenditures . . .. ... . o (391,222) (216,481) (202,655)
Purchase of properties heldforsale . . ........ ... .. ... ... . ... .. (19,570) — —
Proceeds fromsaleofbusiness . ......... ... .. .. ... .. oL — 36,210 —
Proceeds from disposition of assets and deposits received. . ... ... ... 55,061 8,425 11,338
Net cash used in investing activities . . .............. . . ... . ... (426,606) (1,184,377) (199,903)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options and sale of stock under
employee stock purchaseplans . .......... .. .. .. ..o 70,592 46,664 88,8098
Acquisition of treasury stock . . .. .. ... (65,578) (50,064) (45,869)
Proceeds fromissuance of notes . ............ . ... ... ... ... .. ..., ' — 398,880 —
- Proceeds from issuance of long-term borrowings. .. ............... .. — 28,505 —
Net payments on long- and short-term borrowings. ... ............ ... (11,491) (35,134) (12,350)
Redemptionof notes . .. ... ... .. .. (250,000) — —
Repurchase of zero coupon, convertible subordinated notes . ..... .. .. —_ — (243,304)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . ............. ... .. (256,477) 388,851 (212,625)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . . . .. 40,056 53,047 21,894
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . .. ... .. ... 2,838 (86,199) 311,700
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .. ........ ... ... ... 790,889 877,088 565,388
$ 793,727 $ 790,889 $ 877,088

Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . ... .. ..... .. ... .. .. ...

The accompanying Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business: Office Depot, Inc. is a global supplier
of office products and services, with sales in 21 countries out-
side the United States and Canada under the Office Depot®,
Viking Office Products®, Viking Direct®, 4Sure.com®,
Guilbert®, and NiceDay™ brand names. Products and services
are offered through wholly owned retail stores, contract
business-to-business sales relationships, commercial catalogs
and multiple web sites.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements
of Office Depot, Inc. and its subsidiaries have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. All intercompany transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Non-controlling invest-
ments in joint ventures selling office products and services in
Mexico and Israel are accounted for using the equity method.
Their results are included in miscellaneous income (expense),
net in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. ’

Discontinued Operations. In August 2002, we announced
our decision to sell the Australian operations and completed the
sale in January 2003 with no significant impact on net earnings.
This business has been reported as a discontinued operation.
Australia’s sales and pre-tax loss, respectively, were $80.9 mil-
tion and $(1.0) million for 2002. The impact on basic earnings
per share was $(0.01) for 2002.

Fiscal Year: Fiscal years are based on a 52- or 53-week
period ending on the last Saturday in December. All periods
presented consist of 52 weeks. Fiscal year 2005 will inciude
53 weeks.

Estimates and Assumptions: Preparation of these financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and related notes. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency: Assets and liabilities of international
operations are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange
rate at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are
translated at average monthly exchange rates. Translation
adjustments resulting from this process are recorded in stock-
holders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive income.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
other than a consolidated entity's functional currency result in
transaction gains or losses from the remeasurement at spot
rates at the end of the period. Foreign currency gains and
losses that relate to non-operational accounts, such as cash and
investments, are recorded in miscellaneous income (expense),
net in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. During 2003,
approximately $11.8 million was recognized as a foreign cur-
rency gain resulting from holding euro investments in a dollar
functional currency subsidiary in advance of an acquisition (see
Note D). Foreign currency gains and losses on operational
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accounts, such as receivables and payables, are included as
a component of operating expenses, though historically these

“amounts have been immaterial.

Cash Equivalents: All short-term highly liquid securities
with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisi-
tion are classified as cash equivalents. Cash and cash equiva-
lents consist of funds held in general checking accounts and
money market accounts.

Short-term Investments. Investments in debt and auction
rate securities are classified as available-for-sale and are
reported at fair market value, based on quoted market prices
using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and
losses, net of applicable income taxes, are reported as a com-
ponent of other comprehensive income. Interest earned on
these funds is used to purchase additional units. The historical
cost and fair value of this investment was $161.1 million and
$100.2 million at December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003,
respectively. There were no unrealized losses at either period. .

Receivables: Trade receivables, net, totaled $871.7 million
and $797.7 million at December 25, 2004 and December 27,
2003, respectively. An allowance for doubtful accounts has
been recorded to reduce receivables to an amount expected
to be collectible from customers. The allowance recorded at
December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 was $38.0 million
and $34.2 million, respectively. Receivables generated through
a private label credit card program are transferred to financial
services companies, a portion of which have recourse to
Office Depot.

Our exposure to credit risk associated with trade receiv-
ables is limited by having a large customer base that extends
across many different industries and geographic regions.
However, receivables may be adversely affected by an eco-
nomic slowdown in the U.S. or internationally.

Other receivables are $432.2 million and $314.7 million as
of December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003, respectively,
of which $356.8 and $284.7 are amounts due from vendors
under purchase rebate, cooperative advertising and various
other marketing programs. These vendor receivables are net of
collection allowances of $11.0 million and $17.5 million at
December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003, respectively.

Merchandise Inventories: Inventories are stated at the
lower of cost or market value. The weighted average method is
used to determine the cost of a majority of our inventory and the
first-in-first-out method is used for international operations.

Income Taxes: Income tax expense is recognized at appli-
cable U.S. or international tax rates. Certain revenue and
expense items may be recognized in one period for financial
statement purposes and in a different period’s income tax
return. The tax effects of such differences are reported as
deferred income taxes.

Historically, earnings of foreign subsidiaries have been the
source for overseas expansion. Because these earnings have




OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

been considered permanently reinvested, they have not been
subject to an incremental U.S. tax provision. Cumulative undis-
tributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries for which no
income taxes have been provided was $1,203.5 million and
$1,046.2 million as of December 25, 2004 and December 27,
2003, respectively.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 included a one-
time reduction in U.S. Federal taxes on the repatriation of for-
eign earnings of an affiliate. We are still evaiuating the potential

impact of this legislation and awaiting further clarification and”

interpretation of the Act. However, we have determined that we
will repatriate at least $200 million during 2005 and have
included a current expense of $11.5 million in the 2004 Con-
solidated Statement of Earnings for this U.S. tax conseguence.
During 2005, we may decide to repatriate an additional amount
of these foreign earnings, and would recognize the tax expense
at that time. The maximum repatriation allowable to us is $778.7
million, which would add approximately $32.9 million of tax
expense. Repatriation of lesser amounts will result in propor-
tionally lower tax expense.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment addi-
tions are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is
recognized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method. The useful lives of depreciable assets are esti-
mated to be 15-30 years for buildings and 3-10 years for
furniture, fixtures and equipment. Computer software is amor-
tized over three years for common office applications, five years
for larger business applications and seven years for certain
enterprise-wide systems. Leasehold improvements are amor-
tized over the shorter of the terms of the underlying leases or
the estimated economic lives of the improvements.

Other Investments: In prior years, we made various invest-
ments in Internet-based companies and funds. These invest-
ments are carried at cost and their value is reduced if a decline
is considered other than temporary. During 2003, we liquidated
various investments and recognized an $8.4 million charge in
miscellaneous income (expense), net. Impairment charges of
$3.0 million were recorded in 2002. At December 25, 2004 and
December 27, 2003, the portfolio totaled $4.9 million and $5.0
million, respectively. '

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents
the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the
value assigned to net tangible and identifiable intangible assets
of businesses acquired and accounted for under the purchase
method. Accounting rules require that we test at least annually
for possible goodwill impairment. We perform our test in the
fourth quarter of each year using a discounted cash flow analy-
sis that requires that certain assumptions and estimates be
made regarding industry economic factors and future profitabil-
ity. As a result of the 2004 impairment analysis, we determined
that the goodwill balance existing in our Japanese reporting unit
was impaired. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge
of approximately $11.5 million which is included in store and
warehouse operating and selling expenses inthe Consolidated

Statements of Earnings. No other indication of goodwill impair-
ment was identified. See Note F for goodwill balances and
related information.

We amortize the cost of other intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives unless such lives are deemed indefinite.
Amortizable intangible assets are tested as appropriate for
impairment based on undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired,
written down to fair value based on either discounted cash
flows or appraised values. Intangible assets with indefinite
lives are tested annually for impairment and written down to
fair value as required. We test for impairment of intangible
assets each year during the fourth quarter; no impairment has
been identified.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets are
reviewed for possible impairment annually or whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable. Impairment is assessed
at the location level, considering the estimated undiscounted
cash flows over the asset’s remaining life. If estimated cash
flows are insufficient to recover the investment, an impairment
loss is recognized based on the fair value of the asset less any
costs of disposition.

Impairment losses of $3.9 million, $2.7 million and $5.4
million were recognized in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
relating to certain under-performing retail stores.

Facility Closure Costs: We regularly review store perform-
ance against expectations and close stores not meeting our
investment requirements. Costs associated with store closures,
principally lease cancellation costs, are recognized when the
facility is no longer used in an operating capacity or when a lia-
bility has been incurred. Store assets are also reviewed for pos-
sible impairment, or reduction of useful lives.

Accruals for lease termination costs are based on the future
commitments under contract, adjusted for anticipated sublease
and termination benefits. We conducted a comprehensive
review of closed store commitments during the fourth quarter
of 2003 and recorded a $23.9 million charge to terminate some
existing commitments and to adjust the remaining commitments -
to current market values. We recorded similar charges in 2002
of $6.7 million. The accrued balance relating to our future com-
mitments under operating leases of our closed stores was $58.8
million and $57.6 million at December 25, 2004 and Decem-
ber 27, 2003, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The estimated fair val-
ues of financial instruments recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets or disclosed within these Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements have been determined using avail-
able market information, information from unrelated third party:
financial institutions and appropriate valuation methodologies,
primarily discounted projected cash flows. However, consider-
able judgment is required when interpreting market information
and other data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly,
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange.

Short-term Assets and Liabilities: The fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables,
accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current lia-
bilities approximate their carrying values because of their short-
term nature.

Notes Payable: The fair value of the senior subordinated
notes and senior notes were determined based on quoted
market prices.

Interest Rate Swaps and Foreign Currency Contracts: The
fair values of our interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate
the agreements at the reporting date, taking into account
current interest and exchange rates. During 2004, we entered
into a series of fixed-for-variable interest rate swaps as fair value
hedges on $400 million of senior notes. The swaps qualified
for shortcut hedge accounting and no ineffectiveness has
been recognized.

There were no significant differences as of December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 between the carrying values and fair

values of the financial instruments except as disclosed below:

2004 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Value Value Value Value
$250 miltion senior subordinated notes .. ........... L $ — 8 — $259,440 $300,000
$400 million SENIOr NOES. . . .. o oot $403,771 $433,200 $398,923 $420,320

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation: We account
for stock-based compensation plans under Accounting
Principles Board (“APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations. Essentially all
employee stock options are issued at market value on the date
of grant. Under APB 25, no compensation expense is recog-
nized for such options. The compensation cost charged against
income for the Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, Long-Term
Incentive Stock Plan, Employee Stock Purchase Plans and
retirement savings plans was $12.6 million, $10.9 million and
$9.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Had com-
pensation cost for awards under our stock-based compensa-
tion plans been determined using the fair value method
prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard

(“FAS") No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as

amended, we would have recognized additional compensa-
tion expense, net of related tax effects, of approximately $19.5
million, $22.4 million and $29.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The pro forma disclosure is based on the assump-
tions listed below, as well as an assumption of forfeiture rates
for unvested options.
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(In thousands,
except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Net earnings

Asreported. ...... .. $335,504 3273515 $308,640

- Proforma .......... 315,960 251,086 279,264
Net earnings per share—
Basic
As reported. . .. ... $ 108 $ 088 $ 1.01
Proforma ........ 1.01 0.81 0.91
Net earnings per share—
Diluted
Asreported. ... ... $ 106 $ 087 § 097
Proforma ........ 1.00 0.80 0.88

The fair value of each stock option granted is established
on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The weighted average fair values of options granted
during 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $4.43, $4.17, and $6.38,
respectively, using the following weighted average assump-
tions for grants:

¢ Risk-free interest rates of 2.64% for 2004, 2.59% for 2003,
and 4._69% for 2002

e Expected lives of 4.5, 4.3 and 4.4 years for 2004, 2003, and
2002, respectively

s A dividend yield of zero for all three years

* Expected volatility of 356% for 2004 and 40% for 2003
and 2002




OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Beginning with the third quarter of 2005, we will inciude the
expense associated with share-based payments issued to
employees in our Consolidated Statement of Earnings. See
New Accounting Standards below for discussion of the transi-
tion to this new accounting standard.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized at the point‘

of sale for retail transactions and at the time of successtul deliv-
ery for contract, catalog and Internet sales. An accrual for sales
returns has been recorded based on historical experience.
Revenue from sales of extended warranty service plans is either
recognized at the point of sale or over the warranty period,
depending on the determination of legal obligor status. All per-
formance obligations and risk of loss associated with such
contracts are transferred to an unrelated third-party admin-
istrator at the time the contracts are sold. Costs associated
with these contracts are recognized in the same period as
the related revenue.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs: Income generated
from shipping and handiing fees is classified as revenues for
all periods presented. Freight costs incurred to bring mer-
chandise to stores and warehouses are included as a compo-
nent of inventory and costs of goods sold. Freight costs incurred
to ship merchandise to customers are recorded as a component
of store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.
Shipping costs, combined with warehouse handling costs,
totaled $940.0 million in 2004, $827.7 million in 2003 and $717.8
million in 2002.

-Advertising: Advertising costs are either charged to expense
when incurred or, in the case of direct marketing advertising,
capitalized and amortized in proportion to the related revenues.

We participate in cooperative advertising programs with
our vendors in which they reimburse us for a portion of our
advertising costs. Prior to 2003, these vendor arrangements
reduced advertising expense for the period. Following a change
in accounting rules that became effective at the beginning of fis-
cal year 2003, we now classify such reimbursements as a
reduction of the costs of our inventory and cost of goods sold
(see Note C). Advertising expense recognized was $571.5 mil-
fion in 2004 and $546.9 million in 2003. Advertising expense in
2002 was $317.6 million, which was net of $242.7 million of
cooperative advertising allowances.

Pre-opening Expenses. Pre-opening expenses related 1o
opening new stores and warehouses or relocating existing
stores and warehouses are expensed as incurred and included
in other operating expenses.

Self-Insurance; Office Depot is primarily self-insured for
workers' compensation, auto and general liability and employee
medical insurance programs. Self-insurance liabilities are
based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not
reported. These liabilities are not discounted.

Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income repre-
sents the change in stockholders’ equity from transactions and
other events and circumstances arising from non-stockholder
sources. Comprehensive income consists of net earnings, for-
eign currency translation adjustments, realized or unrealized
gains (losses) on investment securities that are available-for-

“sale and elements of qualifying cash flow hedges, net of appli-

cable income taxes.

Derivative Financial instruments: Certain derivative financiat
instruments may be used to hedge the exposure to foreign cur-
rency exchange rate and interest rate risks, subject to an estab-
lished risk management policy. Financial instruments authorized
under this policy include swaps, options, caps, forwards and
futures. Use of derivative financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes is prohibited by company policies.

Vendor Arrangements: We enter into arrangements with
many of our vendors that entitle us to a partial refund of the cost
of merchandise purchased during the year, or payments for
reimbursement of certain costs we incur to advertise or other-
wise promote their product. The volume based rebates, sup-
ported by a vendor agreement, are estimated throughout
the year and reduce the cost of inventory and cost of goods
sold during the year. This estimate is regularly monitored and
adjusted for current or anticipated changes in purchase levels
and for sales activity. Other promotional rebates are generally
event-based and are recognized as a reduction of cost of goods
sold or inventory, as appropriate based on the type of promo-
tion and the agreement with the vendor, generally when the
promotion or event has occurred. See Note C for additional
discussion of cooperative advertising arrangements.

' New Accounting Standards: In March 2004, Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and lts Application to Certain Invest-
ments (“EITF 03-1"), was released. This guidance relates to
impairment measurements of debt and equity securities, and
essentially requires companies to recognize an impairment
unless they believe declines in value will be recovered over
the company’s intended investment horizon. The staff of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued FASB
Staff Position (“FSP”) EITF 03-1-1, Effective Date of Paragraphs
10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Invest-
ments, which delayed the effective date for the measurement
and recognition criteria contained in EITF 03-1 untit final appli-
cation guidance is issued. Our current investment portfolio con-
tains only a limited amount of the type of securities covered by
this guidance; however, a change in the method of accounting
for other-than-temporary declines could impact our results of
operations, when that guidance is finalized.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment, ("FAS 123(R)"). This Statement requires companies to
expense the estimated fair value of stock options and similar
equity instruments issued to employees. Currently, companies
are required to calculate the estimated fair value of these share-
based payments and can elect to either include the estimated
cost in earnings or disclose the pro forma effect in the footnotes
to their financial statements. We have chosen to disclose the pro
forma effect. The fair value concepts were not changed signif-
icantly in FAS 123(R); however, in adopting this Standard, com-
panies must choose among alternative valuation models and
amortization assumptions. The valuation modei and amortiza-
tion assumption we have used continues to be available, but we
have not. yet completed our assessment of the alternatives.
FAS123(R) will be effective for our company beginning with the
third quarter of 2005. Transition options allow companies to
choose whether to adopt prospectively, restate results to the
beginning of the year, or to restate prior periods with the
amounts that have besn included in their footnotes. We have
not yet concluded on which transition option we will select.
See Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation discussion
above for the pro forma effect of a fuil year applfication, using
our existing valuation and amortization assumptions.

FASB Staff Pasition No. 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 ("FSP 109-2"), was
issued in December 2004. This FSP provides guidance on
accounting for special reductions in taxes included in the Amer-
ican Jobs Creation Act of 2004. In particular, the Act allows a
one-time decrease in U.S. Federal taxes on repatriated foreign
earnings. FSP 103-2 clarifies that a company’s consideration of
the Act does not overrule their prior contention that the foreign
earnings were permanently reinvested. Also, the FSP indicates
that companies should provide tax expense when a decision is
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B,

made to repatriate some or all foreign earnings, and provide dis-
closure about the possible range of repatriation if the analysis
is not yet complete. We have decided to repatriate at least $200
million of foreign earnings during 2005 and have provided
approximately $11.5 million of tax expense in 2004. We continue
to assess whether additional earnings will be repatriated; see
Note H.

Note B—Restatement of Financial Statements

On February 7, 2005, the Chief Accountant of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) released a letter
expressing the SEC's views on certain lease accounting mat-
ters. We have identified areas where our historical accounting
practices differ from the SEC’s views. We have restated our
financial statements for prior periods to correct these errors.

We have reviewed our property lease portfolio and
adjusted initial lease terms to include option renewals that are
reasonably assured of being exercised and included the
straight-iine effect over the lease term of escalating rents dur-
ing the option periods and have recognized the effect of pre-
opening “rent holidays” over the related lease term. We have
also reviewed our leasehold improvements to ensure amortiza-
tion over the shorter of their economic lives or the adjusted
lease term. Tenant allowances have been reclassified from a
contra asset in property and equipment, net to other long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Tenant allow-
ances have also been reclassified from a reduction of depreci-
ation and amortization expense to a reduction of rent expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and from a reduc-
tion of capital expenditures to an increase in cash provided by
operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Retained earnings at the beginning of fiscal year 2002
have been adjusted for the after-tax impacts of earlier periods.
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While the net dollar amounts are not material to net earnings, financial position or net cash flows for the periods presented,
we believe it is appropriate to align our historical accounting results with the SEC's views on lease accounting and accordingly with
GAAP. The restated amounts and line items impacted by these restatements are provided below.

Year Ended
December 27,
2003
As Previously
(In thousands, except per share data) Reported As Restated
Consolidated Balance Sheets: :
Property and equipment, net. ... ... ... P $1,244,295 $1,293,755
Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilities. .. ............. .. .. .. .. ... . . 244,600 339,229
Retained earnings . .. .. ... . e e 2,304,737 2,257,771
Total stockholders’ equity . . ... .. e 2,794,087 2747121
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . ... .. .. . e 6,145,242 6,194,679
Year Ended Year Ended
December 27, December 28,
2003 2002
As Previously As Previously
Reported As Restated Reported As Restated
Consolidated Statements of Earnings:
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs .. ................ $8,484,420 $8,483,820 $8,022,663 $8,021,471
Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses ......... 2,802,240 2,807,112 2,338,128 2,342,556
Operating profit. .. ... ... .. . 470,257 465,985 499,708 496,472
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change. ... ............... . 445,040 440,768 479,205 475,969
Incometaxes . ... 143,016 141,524 167,722 166,554
Netearnings . .. . ... 276,295 273,515 310,708 308,640
Net earnings per share:
BasiC. ... ... $ 0.89 $ 0.88 $ 1.01 $ 1.01
Diluted. ... 0.88 0.87 0.98 0.97
Year Ended Year Ended
December 27, December 28,
2003 2002
As Previously As Previously.
Reported As Restated Reported As Restated
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: _
Net cash provided by operating activities .. ................. $ 651,740 $ 656,280 $ 701,897 $ 702,334
Net cash used in investing activites . . .............. ... . .. (1,179,837) (1,184,377) (199,466) (199,903)

The cumulative effect of these accounting changes reduced retained earnings by $42.1 million as of the beginning of fiscal 2002.
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Note C—Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

At the beginning of fiscal year 2003, we adopted EITF
02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration
Received from a Vendor. This guidance primarily affects our
accounting for cooperaiive advertising arrangements. Under
these rules, there is a presumption that amounts received from
vendors should be considered a reduction of product costs.
This presumption can be overcome if certain restrictive provi-
sions are met. We adopted a policy of classifying all coopera-
tive advertising arrangements as a reduction of product cost,
because the cost of tracking actual advertising costs by ven-
dor to meet these criteria would exceed the benefit. These
arrangements were previously accounted for as a reduction of
advertising expense. A portion is now deferred in inventory and
reduces the cost of products as they are sold, similar to the
current practice for vendor rebate arrangements.

To record the initial amount of cooperative advertising
deferred in inventory at the beginning of 2003, we recorded an
after-tax cumulative effect adjustment of $25.9 million, or $0.08
per share. The impact on continuing operations of applying this
method in 2003 decreased cost of goods sold by $240.4 mil-
lion and increased advertising expense by $234.2 million.
Operating profit increased by $6.2 million, net earnings by $4.3
million and diluted earnings per share by $0.01. Prior periods
have not been restated. However, the estimated impact of
applying this method in 2002 would have been to decrease the
cost of goods sold by $241.3 million and increase advertising
expense by $242.7 million. Pro forma operating profit would
have decreased by $1.4 million, net earnings by $1.0 million
and would have had no impact on diluted earnings per share.

Note D—Acquisitions

On June 2, 2008, we acquired all of the common shares of
Guilbert S.A. ("Guilbert”) from Pinault-Printemps-Redoute S.A.
Guilbert was the French parent company of a corporate group
that constituted one of the largest contract stationers in Europe.
The acquisition provided us with an immediate presence in tar-
geted markets, substantially increased the scope and breadth
of our contract business in Europe, and established Office
Depot as the leading multi-channel reseller of office products
in continental Europe and the United Kingdom. The results of
Guilbert’s operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.

The cash purchase price was euro 780 million. The U.S. dol-
lar value of the acquisition, including transaction costs, totaled
$945.2 million at the date of acquisition, or $919.0 million, net
of cash acquired, translated at currency rates in effect at the
time of actual cash settlement. The purchase price is subject
to a downward adjustment, contingent upon the vaiue of any
unfunded pension liability as measured at a future date. The
existing unfunded pension liability has been recorded as part of
the fair value assigned to liabilities assumed. The after-tax effect
of the future settlement, if any, will reduce goodwill when received.
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The integration of Guilbert and Office Depot operations
have resulted in closing certain warehouses, customer service
centers, and other facilities, as well as the sale or liquidation
of certain operations and the consolidation of the combined
workforce. The purchase date balance sheet included accrued
Guilbert-related integration costs of approximately $14.9 million
for facility closure costs and $33.8 million for employee-related
costs. At December 25, 2004 exchange rates, approximately
$1.2 million of employee-related costs remained, relating to
integration activity expected to be complete in early 2005.
Approximately $17.2 million of facility closure costs remain, pri-
marily relating to lease commitments for closed facilities, net of
assumed sublease income. Goodwill has been adjusted since
the date of acquisition to reflect completed asset and liability -
valuations, revisions to integration plans and adjustment to
acquired tax accounts, including the reduction of certain
deferred tax asset valuation allowances. Goodwill may be
adjusted in future periods from resolution of acquired tax-related
provisions and for settlement of contingent consideration. Costs
associated with Office Depot-related integration activity have
been expensed as incurred. These costs totaled $2.2 miffion
and $17.7 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

All assets and liabilities of Guilbert, including goodwill and
intangibles, have been recorded in the International Group seg-
ment (see Note N).

The following unaudited pro forma financial information
presents the combined results of operations of Office Depot
as if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of
2003. Guilbert's results of operations have been modified from
amounts originally prepared under French accounting princi-
ples to conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The unaudited pro forma finan-
cial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of
the consolidated results of operations or financial condition of
Office Depot that would have been reported had the acquisition
been completed as of the beginning of the period presented,
and should not be taken as representative of the future con-
solidated results of operations or financial condition of Office
Depot. Unaudited pro forma information for fiscal year 2003
includes: revenues—3$13.0 billion; earnings from continuing
operations before cumulative effect of accounting change—
$298 million, or $0.96 and $0.95 per basic and diluted share,
respectively; and net earnings—3$272 million, or $0.88 and
$0.87 per basic and diluted share, respectively.

In April 2004, we acquired the business of Elso Iroda
Superstore Kft for $7.9 million, net of cash acquired. This com-
pany operated Office Depot retail stores and direct sales busi-
nesses in Hungary under an Office Depot license agreement.
This acquisition and subsequent expansion adds four retail
stores, a distribution center and additional Internet sales capa-
bilities to the International Group segment’s cperations. We
have not presented the pro forma results of operations of the
acquired business because the results are not material to our
consolidated results of operations.
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NOTE E—Property and Equipment
~ Property and equipment consisted of:

December 25, December 27,

NOTE F—Goodwill and Other intangible Assets
The components of goodwill by segments are listed below:

December 25, December 27,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 (Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Land. ... ... ... ... . ... $ 118,498 $ 105,120 Goodwill:
Buildings . ............... .. 449,038 322,498 North American Retail
Leasehold improvements. . . . .. 815,767 779,031 Division................ $ 1,831 3 1,739
Furniture, fixtures and Business Services Group. . . . 229,950 229,950
equipment . .............. 1,453,330 1,286,082 International Group. .. ...... 817,888 772,433
2,836,633 2,492,731 Total goodwill $1,049,669 $1,004,122
Less accumulated
depreciation. . ............ (1,373,605) (1,198,976) The net increase in goodwill reflects an increase of $66.7

 $1,463,028 $ 1,293,755

Depreciation expense was $248.4 million, $237.2 million
and $201.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The above table of property and equipment includes
assets held under capital leases as follows:

December 25, December 27,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Buildings .................. $ 80519 $ 70042
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment ............ ... 51,182 49,352
v 131,701 120,294
Less accumulated
depreciation .. ........ .. .. (52,452) (52,950)
' $ 79249 3 67,344

In March 2004, we reached an agreement with Toys “R” Us,

Inc. to acquire 124 of their former Kids “R" Us stores for $197

‘million in cash plus the assumption of lease obligations. Also in
March, we reached an agreement with PETCO Animal Supplies,

Inc. under which PETCO agreed to acquire from us 20 of the

former Kids “R" Us stores for approximately $45 million in

"cash plus the assumption of related lease obligations. Through
December 25, 2004, we have closed on the purchase of 91

stores and 32 stores have been removed from the transaction

through price adjustments and mutual agreement. Of the total

number of stores (currently 92, after the agreed-upon removals),

we plan to convert approximately 50 of these stores to Office

Depot retail stores and intend to sell or sublease the remaining

stores. This transaction closed in phases during the year, and

by yeak end we had opened 36 of these locations, and 17 -

stores had been transferred to third-party buyers. We closed on
the purchase of the final store in this transaction during January
2005 for approximately $2.2 million and settled remaining
escrow and deposit accounts for approximately $8.8 million.

million from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, an .
increase of $9.3 million related to the purchase of a business in
Hungary, and the net impact of adjustments to integration plans
and values estimated related to the acquisition of Guilbert, par-
tially offset by an $11.5 million impairment charge.

As a result of our fourth quarter 2004 impairment analysis,
we determined that the goodwill balance existing in our Japa-
nese reporting unit was impaired. In recent years, several initia-
tives were put in place to enhance the business, including
streamlining to one brand, consolidating warehouses, and
improving retail assortment and layout. However, the antici-
pated improvements have not generated the expected benefits
and we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $11.5
million to reduce the carrying value of the goodwill to zero. This
charge is included within store and warehouse operating and
selling expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Intangible Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets were $77.6 million and
$71.4 million, and definite-lived intangibles were $45.4 and
$60.6. net of accumulated amortization, at December 25, 2004
and December 27, 2003, respectively, and are included in other
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization of
intangible assets was $19.3 million in 2004, $13.8 million in
2003 and $1.4 million in 2002 (at average foreign currency
exchange rates). |

Estimated future amortization expense related to finite-lived
intangible assets at December 25, 2004 exchange rates is
as follows:

. ) December 25,
{Dollars in millions) 2004

2005, . .. $14.1
2006, . ... 12.1
2007. .. 10.6
2008. . ... 5.1
2009. . . 0.2
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NOTE G—Debt
The debt components consisted of the following:

December 25, December 27,
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003

Current maturities of
long-term debt:

Capital lease obligations . . $ 13,673 $ 11,219
Other.................. 1,470 1,697
$ 15,143 $ 12,916
Long-term debt, net of
current maturities:
Revolving credit facility. . . . $103,068 $100,102
$250 million senior
subordinated notes. . . .. C— 259,440
$400 million senior notes . . 403,771 398,923
Capital lease obligations . . 76,841 69,367
Other............... e —_ 1,470
$583,680° $829,302

In April 2004, we replaced our existing credit facility with a
$750 million 5-year unsecured multi-currency revolving credit
facility, which includes up to $350 million available for standby
and trade letters of credit. Upon mutual agreement, the maxi-
mum baorrowing may be increased to $900 million. The agree-
ment provides borrowings up to the total amount in U.S. dollars,
British pounds, euro, or yen. We may elect interest periods of
one, two, three, six, nine or twelve months. Interest is based on
the London Interbank Cffering Rate ("LIBOR"), plus a spread
determined at the time of usage. Based on current credit rat-
ings, borrowings include a spread of 0.70%. The effective inter-
est rate on yen borrowings at the end of 2004 was 0.763%.
At December 25, 2004, we had approximately $565.7 million
of available credit under our revolving credit facility, which
covers $81.9 million outstanding letters of credit. We had an
additional $8.2 million of letters of credit outstanding under a
separate trade agreement.

The credit facility in effect at December 27, 2003 allowed
borrowings up to $600 million and was an unsecured revolv-
ing credit facility that was due to mature in April 2005. Similar
to the current facility, this previous facility allowed us to select
currencies, and interest periods. Interest was based on either
LIBOR, U.S. prime, or a Eurocurrency rate, plus a spread to be
determined at the time of borrowing. At December 27, 2003, we
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had yen borrowings equivalent to $100.1 million outstanding
with an average effective interest rate of 0.988%, and out-
standing letters of credit totaled $72.8 miillion.

In July 2001, we issued $250 million of senior subordinated
notes due on July 15, 2008. The notes were issued with a
coupon interest rate of 10.00%, payable semi-annually on
January 15 and July 15. In August 2001, we entered into LIBOR-
based fixed-to-variable rate swap agreements as a fair value
hedge of these notes. In September 2002, these interest rate
swap agreements were terminated and we received proceeds
of $18.8 million. The benefit associated with these proceeds
was being amortized over the remaining term of the notes,
lowering the effective interest rate on this borrowing to 8.7%.
In December 2004, we redeemed the entire issue of the $250
mitlion senior subordinated notes, pursuant to the optional
redemption provisions of the subordinated notes indenture. The
payment of approximately $302 million included the principal,
accrued interest to the termination date, and contractual
interest, discounted at the appropriate U.S. Treasury rate plus
50 basis points. The redemption resulted in a fourth quarter
2004 charge of $45.4 million which included the make whole
payment, removal of deferred issuance costs, and the previ-
ously deferred gain related to the interest rate swap. The charge
is reported as loss on extinguishment of debt in the other
income (expense), net section of the Consolidated Statements
of Earnings.

In August 2003, we issued $400 million senior notes due
August 2013. These notes are not callable and bear interest at

. the rate of 8.250% per year, to be paid on February 15 and

August 15 of each year. The notes contain provisions that, in cer-
tain circumstances, place financial restrictions or limitations on’
us. Simultaneous with completing the offering, we liquidated a
treasury rate lock. The proceeds of $16.6 million are being amor-
tized over the term of the issue, reducing the effective interest
rate to 5.87%. During 2004, we entered into a series of fixed-to-
variable interest rate swap agreements as fair value hedges on

~the $400 million of notes. The swaps qualify for shortcut hedge

accounting and no ineffectiveness has been recognized.

We are in compliance with all restrictive covenants included
in the above debt agreements.

Our scheduled debt maturities over the next five years
include $103 million for our revolving credit facility due in 2009,
$400 million for our senior notes is due thereafter.
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Under capital lease agreements, we are required to make
certain monthly, quarterly or annual lease payments through
2027. The aggregate minimum capital lease payments for the
next five years and beyond are as follows:

December 25,

(Dollars in thousands) 2004
2005, ... e $ 18,795
2006 . . . . 14,047
2007 . 10,332
2008 . 9,774
2009 . 9,097
Thereafter. . ... .. .. ... .. . .. 66,411
Total minimum lease payments . ............ 128,456
Less amount representing interest at ‘

500%1010.27% . ...... ... 37,942
Present value of net minimum

leasepayments ... ... ... 90,514
Lesscurrentportion. . .......... .. ........ 13,673
Long-termportion ............. .. ... $ 76,841

NOTE H—Income Taxes

The income tax provision related to earnings from contin-

uing operations consisted of the following:

{Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Current; '

Federal ............ $ 90,606 $ 71032 $114,497
State. ... 5,754 (4,370) 13,967
Foreign............ 18,480 43,116 28,994
Deferred:

Federal ......... ... 5,013 39,822 .8,699
State........... ... 1,327 (3,554) 468
Foreign............ 4,549 (4,522) (71)

TJotal provision for
income taxes .. ... .. $125,729

$141,524 $166,554

The components of earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting

change consisted of the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

North America ...... ... $232,561 $225,150 $350,069
internationat . . .. ... ... 228,672 215,618 125,900
Total ... .. e $461,233 $440,768 $475,969

The tax-effected components of deferred income tax
assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

. December 25, December 27,
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003

Self-insurance accruals . .. . . .. $ 25,870 $ 24,348
Inventory ......... .. .. ..... 30,370 22,976
Vacation pay and other

accrued compensation .. ... 35,084 26,672
Reserve forbad debts . . . ... .. 7,497 7,926
Reserve for facility closings . . . . 22,151 28,226
Acquisition and integration

COSIS. . ...t 5,752 11,821
Deferred rentcredit .. ..... . .. 47,626 51,137
Foreign and state net operating

loss carryforwards . ...... .. 253,140 156,803
State credit carryforwards,

net of federal ... ... P 7,581 7,015
Otheritems,net . ............ 54,368 48,618

Gross deferred tax assets . .. 489,439 385,642
Valuation allowance ... ....... (239,704) (157,962}

Deferred tax assets .. ...... 249,735 227,680
Basis difference in ,

fixedassets . ............ . 86,399 62,127
Intangibles . ... ... P - 45,827 44 949
Planned repatriation of

foreignearnings . ........ .. 11,540 —
Otheritems,net . ............ 6,258 20,560

Deferred tax liabifities. . . . . .. 150,024 127,636
Net deferred tax assets . ... . .. $ 99,711 $ 100,044

As of December 25, 2004, we had approximately $636.9
million of foreign and $802.7 million of state net operating loss
carryforwards. Of the foreign carryforwards, $490.8 million can
be carried forward indefinitely, $16.9 miltion will expire in 2005,
and the balance will expire between 2006 and 2019. Of the state
carryforwards, $7.9 million will expire in 2005, and the balance
will expire between 2006 and 2024. The valuation allowance
has been developed to reduce our deferred asset to an amount
that is more likely than not to be realized, and is based upon
the uncertainty of the realization of certain foreign and state ..
deferred assets related to net operating loss carryforwards.
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The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the
Federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes:

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Federal tax computed
. at the statutory rate. . .
State taxes, net of

$161,432 $154,269 $166,589

Federal benefit .. .. .. 6,289 6,506 8,373
Repatriation of foreign

earnings . .......... 11,540 — —
Reduction in valuation

allowance ......... . (11,295) — —
State credits. . . ... .. . (1,386) (10,400) —
Foreign income taxed

at rates other than

Federal......... ... (27,015) (17,741)  (12,543)
Settlement of

tax audits ... ....... (12,355) (217) (2,144)

Change in accrual
estimates relating to
uncertain tax

positions. . .. ....... (4,418) = 8,090 4127
QOther items, net . .. .. .. 2,937 1,017 2,152
Provision for income

taxes. .. ......... .. $125,729 $141524 $166,554

In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
was passed by Congress and signed into law. Among other
things, the Act provided U.S. taxpayers a one-year reduction of
taxes on the repatriation of foreign earnings. We are still evalu-
ating the potential impact of this legislation and awaiting further
clarification and interpretation of the Act. However, we have
determined that we will repatriate at least $200 million of foreign
earnings during 2005 and have included in the 2004 Statement
of Earnings a tax expense of $11.5 million for this U.S. tax
consequence. During 2005, we may decide to repatriate an
additional amount of these foreign earnings, and would recog-
nize the tax expense at that time. The maximum repatriation
allowable to us under the Act is $778.7 million, which would
add approximately $32.9 million of tax expense. Repatriation of
lesser amounts will result in proportionally lower tax expense.

During 2004, because of a projected increase in taxable
income of certain international entities, and a reassessment of
certain state tax circumstances, we changed our assessment
of the need for the valuation allowances on the related deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, income tax expense was reduced by
$11.3 million because of the increased likelihood of these ben-
efits being realized.

We regularly assess our position with regard to individual tax
exposures and record liabilities for our uncertain tax positions
and related interest and penalties according to the principles
of FAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies. These accruals, which
relate primarity to cross-jurisdictional transactions, reflect man-
agement's view of the likely outcomes of current and future audits.
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We operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions and are sub-
ject to regular examinations by various taxing authorities for
differing tax periods. Currently, we are under audit in the United
States for the tax periods 20002001, and in various foreign and
state jurisdictions for varioustax periods. Additicnally, we are
in the final stages of an appellate level review of contested
issues related to the audit of our 1997-1999 tax returns by the
Internal Revenue Service.

It is likely that the future resolution of these uncertain tax
positions will be different from the amounts currently accrued
and will impact future tax period expense. However, manage-
ment believes those amounts will not be material to the finan-
cial condition of the company.

NOTE I—Commitments and Contingéncies

Operating Leases: We lease facilities and equipment under
agreements that expire in various years through 2027. In addi-
tion to minimum rentals, there are certain executory costs such
as real estate taxes, insurance and common area maintenance
on most of our facility leases. Certain leases contain provisions
for additional rent to be paid if sales exceed a specified amount,
though such payments have been immaterial during the years
presented. The table below shows future minimum lease pay-
ments due under non-cancelable leases as of December 25,
2004. These minimum lease payments include facility leases
that were accrued as store closure costs.

(Dollars in thousands)

2005 ... $ 426,180
2008 ... 383,751
2007 . 336,561
2008 ... 306,163
2009 ........ .. P 288,337
Thereafter. . . ... ... . . 2,033,205
3,774,197

Less subleaseincome . ........ ... .. ... .. .. (84,469)
$3,689,728

We are in the process of opening new stores in the ordinary
course of business, and leases signed subsequent to Decem-
ber 25, 2004 are not included in the above described commit-
ment amounts. Rent expense, including equipment rental, was
$443.7 million, $424.1 million and $401.4 million in 2004, 20083,
and 2002, respectively. Rent expense was reduced by sub-
lease income of $2.9 million in 2004, $3.1 million in 2003 and
$2.9 million in 2002.

Guarantee of Private Label Credit Card Receivables: Office
Depot has private label credit card programs that are man-
aged by a third-party financial services company. We act as
the guarantor of all loans between our commercial customers
and the financial services company. The difference between
the transfer amount and the amount received is recognized in
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store and warehouse operating and selling expense. Maximum
exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is represented by the
outstanding balance of private label credit card receivables,
less reserves held by the financial services company which
we fund. At December 25, 2004, the outstanding balance of
credit card receivables sold was approximately $254.3 million.
The estimated fair value liability associated with risk of loss is
included in accrued expenses.

Other: We are involved in litigation arising in the normal
course of business. In our opinion, the resciution of these
matters will not materially affect our financial position or results
of operations.

NOTE J—Employee Benefit Plans
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan

The Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved
by Office Depot’s stockholders, became effective. October 1,
1997. This plan provides for the grants of stock options and
other incentive awards, including restricted stock, to directors,
officers and key employees. Under this plan, stock options must
be granted at an option price that is greater than or equal to the
market price of the stock on the date of the grant. If an employee
owns 10% or more of Office Depot's outstanding common stock,
the option price must be at least 110% of the market price on
the date of the grant. Options granted under this plan become
exercisable from one to five years after the date of grant, pro-
vided that the individual is continuousty employed with the com-
pany. All options granted expire no more than 10 years following
the date of grant.

Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan

A summary of the status of and changes in our stock option plans for the last three years is presented below.

2004 2003 2002

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of year . . ... .. .. 29,452,938  $14.89 31,499,632 $14.36 35,750,521  $13.46
Granted. .. ........ ... ... .. 5,483,750 17.53 5,679,500 11.46 6,926,250 16.39
Canceled. ............. ... ... ....... (2,792,564) 16.60 (2,875,713) 14.44 (3,014,831) 14.74
Exercised. ........ . ... ... . (6,034,337) 11.56 (4,850,481) 9.50 (8,162,308) 10.80
Qutstanding atendofyear .. ............ 26,109,787 $16.04 29,452,938 $14.89 31,499,632 $14.36

As of December 25, 2004, the weighted average fair values, as calculated under the BIack-SchoIes option pricing model,
of options granted during 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $4.43, $4.17, and $6.38, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at December 25, 2004.

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Price Exercisable Price
$ 443-$ 664 ... ... .. ..... 44,788 55 $ .6.39 44,788 $ 6.39
6.65- 997 ... .. ... .. ... 1,893,167 55 8.80 1,784,667 8.78
998- 1486 ........ ...... 6,319,067 4.9 11.64 3,803,749 11.67
1497- 2245 .. ... . .. ... 16,362,736 4.6 17.86 9,802,369 18.29
2246- 2500 ............ ... 1,490,029 3.3 24.19 1,480,029 2419
$ 443-82500............... 26,109,787 47 $16.04 16,925,602 $16.29
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As discussed in Note A, the FASB has issued a new
accounting pronouncement that will be applicable beginning
with the third quarter of 2005. Under this revised rule, compa-
nies are required to expense the estimated fair value of stock
options and similar equity instruments issued to employees.
This rule will also modify the way companies recognize the tax
impacts of employee share-based payments in the Statement
of Earnings and the Statement of Cash Flows. Currently, tax
benefits received on certain nonqualified stock options and
employee stock purchase plan share dispositions are credited
to additional paid-in capital. Following this rule change, a por-
tion of these benefits may be included in the Statement of
Earnings and a portion may continue to be credited to additional
paid-in capital.

Restricted Stock and Performance-Based Grants

Prior to our merger with Viking Office Products (“Viking") in
- 1998, Viking’s Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan allowed awards
of restricted shares of common stock to key Viking employees.
As part of the merger, shares issued under this plan were con-
verted to restricted shares of Office Depot common stock, and
no additional shares will be issued under the plan. Restrictions
on these remaining 300,000 shares are scheduled to expire at
the end of June 2007. Compensation expense is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. ‘

To date under the Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan,
496,724 shares of restricted stock have been issued at no cost
to the employees, 68,565 of which have been canceled and
155,531 remain outstanding but restricted. The fair market value
of these awards was approximately $6.7 million at the date of
the grants. Restricted stock issued under this plan may have
vesting periods of up to four years from the date of grant. Com-
pensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period.

In April 2002, stockholders approved an amendment to
the Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan allowing the compensation
committee of the board of directors to grant performance-based
shares to our senior executives and directors. Performance-
based shares are used as an incentive to increase shareholder
returns with actual awards currently based on Office Depot's
total shareholder return over a three-year period, compared to
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an industry peer group. Under our current accounting method,
compensation expense for the anticipated number of shares to
be issued, if any, is recognized over the vesting period. Revised
accounting rules that take effect in the third quarter of 2005 will
require us to expense the estimated fair value of these grants
over the vesting period, regardless of the likelihood of achiev-

- ing the total shareholder return. Depending on actual company

performance, shares issued may be more or 1ess than amounts
assigned. As of December 25, 2004, target awards of 466,250
shares have been assigned, but no performance-based shares
have been issued.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was approved
by Office Depot's stockholders, permits eligible employees to
purchase our common stock at 85% of its fair market value.
Essentially all share needs under this- plan are now satisfied
through open market purchases; however, we are authorized to
issue up to 388,194 shares under this plan.

Retirement Savings Plans

The Office Depot Retirement Savings Plan, which was
approved by the board of directors, allows eligible employees
to contribute up to 18% of their salary, commissions and
bonuses, up to $13,000 in 2004, to the plan on a pretax basis
in accordance with the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Inter-
nal Revenue Code. Employer matching contributions, which are
allocated in shares of Office Depot common stock, are equiva-
lent to 50% of the first 6% of an employee’s contributions and
within the limits of the pian. Discretionary matching common
stock contributions in addition to the normal match may be
made. We also have a deferred compensation plan that permits
eligible employees who are limited in the amount they can
contribute to the 401(k) plan to alternatively defer compensa-
tion of up to 18% of their salary, commissions and bonuses to
this plan. Employer matching contributions to the deferred com-
pensation plan are the same as those under our 401(k) Retire-
ment Savings Plan described above. During 2004, 2003, and
2002, $11.9 million, $10.1 million and $8.4 million, respectively,
was recorded as compensation expense for company contri-
butions to these programs.
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Pension Plans

The acquisition of Guilbert in June 2003 inciuded defined
benefit pension plans in two countries that cover a limited num-
ber of employees in Europe. The aggregate information for
these foreign plans for fiscal year 2004 and for the seven
months of 2003 from the date of acquisition is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Service cost. . ... $ 7,164 $ 3404
Interestcost. ............ ... ..., _ 8,540 3,279
Expected return on plan assets . . .. (6,640) (2,276)

Net periodic pensioncost . ... ... 9,064 4,407
Changes in projected benefit obligation:
QObligation at beginning of

period ........ ... . 144,546 142,313
Servicecost. ................... 7,164 3,404
Interestcost. . .................. 8,540 3,279
Member contributions . .. ...... ... 2,204 866
Benefitspaid................. L (2,908) (544)
Actuarial loss (gain) .......... ... 7,497 (7,570)
Currency translation . ............ 22,740 2,798
Obligation at-October 31........ .. 189,783 144,546
Changes in plan assets:
Fair value at beginning of

period ... 88,352 78,794
Actual return on pian assets . ... . .. 9,418 5,009
Company contributions . ... .... ... 6,605 2,604
Member contributions . . . ..... .. .. 2,204 866

Benefitspaid . ............. .. ..
Currency translation . ............

(2,908) (544)
14,059 1,623

Plan assets at October 31.. ... . ... 117,730 88,352
Benefit obligation in excess of

planassets .................. (72,053) (56,194)
Unrecognizedgain . ............. (6,124) (10,549)
Post-valuation contributions .. .. ... 730 690
Currency translation ............. (258) (3,923)

Net amount recognized at end

ofperiod ......... ... ... .. $(77,705) $(69,976)

Plan accounts are generally measured as of October 31
each year, with post-valuation contributions and subsequent for-
eign currency effects noted above. The net unfunded amount
is classified as a non-current liability in the caption deferred
taxes and other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The table above presents projected benefit obligations,
which include the estimated effect of future salary increases.

The accumulated benefit obligations were $168.2 million and
$133.5 million at the 2004 and 2003 valuation dates, respec-
tively. The pension plans’ assets are invested in managed pen-
sion funds, with an objective of meeting or exceeding a pooled
pension fund performance over a rolling three year period, as
well as interest bearing securities timed to match estimated
benefit payouts.

The allocation of assets is as follows:

Percentage of
Plan Assets

bbb Target
2004 2003 Allocation
Equity securities . . ... ... 73% 74%  50%-85%
Debt securities . .. ... . .. 21% 22% 10%-30%
Realestate . ........ ... 1% 1% 0%—-15%
Other................. 5% 3% 0%-10%
Total ............... .. 100% 100%

Assumptions used in calculating the funded status included:

2004 2003
Long-term rate of return on
planassets.......... S 6.79% 6.25%
Discountrate .. ................... 5.38% 5.10%
Salary increases. .................. 4.25% 4.35%
Inflation. .. ...... ... ... . 2.45% 2.62%

Anticipated benefit payments, at December 25, 2004
exchange rates, are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2005 e $ 2,258
2008 ... 3,180
2007 e 2,782
2008 . 3,853
2009 4,241
Nextfiveyears. . ......... ... . . v .. 35,102

The anticipated Office Depot contribution for fiscal year
2005 is $5.8 million, at December 25, 2004 exchange rates.

The purchase and sale agreement related to the Guilbert
acquisition included a provision whereby the seller is required

. to pay to Office Depot an amount of unfunded benefit obliga-

tion as measured in a future period at the seller’s option, but no
later than five years following the purchase date. This provision
is considered to be an element of the cost of the acquisition and
the after-tax effect of the payment from the seller, if any, will
reduce goodwill when received.

Office Depot 2004 Annual Report | 63




OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE K——Capital Stock
Preferred Stock V

As of December 2‘5, 2004, there were 1,000,000 shares of
$0.01 par value preferred stock autherized of which none were
issued-or outstanding.

Stockholder Rights Plan

Our stockholder rights plan (“the Plan”) was adopted by
the Office Depot board of directors on September 4, 1396 and
amended on November 25, 2003. The Plan has certain anti-
takeover provisions that may cause substantial dilution to a
person or group that attempts to acquire Office Depot on terms
not approvéd by the board of directors. Under the Plan, each
stockholder is issued one right to acquire one one-thousandth
of a share of Junior Participating Preferred Stock, Series A at
an exercise price of $35.00, subject to adjustment, for each
outstanding share of Office Depot common stock they own.
These rights are only exercisable if a single person or company
acquires 20% or more of our outstanding common stock or if an
announced tender or exchange offer would resuit in 20% or
more of our common stock being acquired. If Office Depot were
acquired, each right, except those of the acquirer, shall have the
right to receive the number of shares of common stock in Office
Depot having a then-current market value of twice the exercise
price of the right.

In addition, if Office Depot becomes involved in a merger
- or other business combination where (1) Office Depot is not
the surviving company, (2) Office Depot's common stock is
changed or exchanged, or (3) 50% or more of Office Depot's
assets or earning power are sold, then each right, except those
of the acquirer, will be exercisable for common stock of the
acquiring corporation having a market value of twice the exer-
cise price of the right. In addition, the board of directors has the

option of exchanging ali or part of the rights for an equal num- -

ber of shares of common stock.

Office Depot may redeem the rights for $0.01’per right at
any time prior to an acquisition.

In response to a shareholder vote at the 2003 annual meet-

ing, the board of directors adopted certain amendments to the
Plan, which became effective on November 25, 2003. Under the
terms of this amendment, in the event of a cash or marketable
securities offer for all of Office Depot’s common stock, and if
requested to do so by the holders of at least 10% of Office
Depot's issued and outstanding stock, the board of directors
shall either call a special stockholder meeting within 60 days to
allow a vote on a resolution to redeem the rights or the rights
automatically will be redeemed. There are certain other condi-
tions on what constitutes a “Qualifying Offer” which are detailed
in our filings with the SEC. The rights will expire on Septem-
ber 16, 2006, unless earlier redeemed or exchanged.
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Treasury Stock

The Office Depot board of directors has approved two
common stock repurchase plans, both of which were in effect
during 2004. In 2001, the board approved an annual share
repurchase plan, subject to their annual review, of up to $50 mil-
lion per year until cancelied by the board. Under this plan, we
purchased 3.0 million shares in 2004, at a cost of $50.0 million;
3.2 million shares in 2003, for $50.0 million; and 2.9 million
shares in 2002, for $45.9 million.

In September 2004, the board of directors authorized an
additional $500 million common stock repurchase program to
be-completed over the following 12 to 24 months. The $50 mil-
lion annual purchases in each of 2005 and 20086 that would be
available under that program are included in this $500 million
program. At December 25, 2004 approximately 900,000 shares
have been repurchased for $15.6 million under this program.

NOTE L—Earnings Per Share

~ Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted aver-
age number of shares outstanding during each period. Diluted
earnihgs per share reflects the impact of assumed exercise of
dilutive stock options and, prior to redemption in 2002, the net
impact of convertible subordinated notes. '

The information required to compute basic and diluted net
earnings per share is as follows:

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Basic: .

Weighted average
number of common
shares outstanding . . .

Diluted;

Netearnings .......... $335,504 $273,515 $308,640

Interest expense
related to convertible

311,760 309,699 306,778

notes, netof tax. ... .. — — 4,795
* Adjusted net
earnings. . .......... $335,504 $273,515 $313,435
Weighted average
number of common .
shares outstanding ... 311,760 309,699 306,778

Shares issued upon

assumed conversion

of convertible notes . . . — — 9,033
Shares issued upon

assumed exercise

of stock options . . . . .. 3,865 3,989 6,389

Shares used in
computing diluted
net earnings per
common share. ... .....

313,688 322,200
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For 2004, options to purchase 11.8 million shares of com-
-mon stock were not included in our computation of diluted
earnings per share because their effect would have been

anti-dilutive.

NOTE N—Segment Information

NOTE M—Supplemental Information on Operating,
Investing and Financing Activities

Agditional supplemental information related to the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows: .
(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Cash paid for:

Interest . ........... . $ 78590 $ 41869 §$ 47,114

Taxes ............. 112,771 102,623 111,597
Non-cash asset :

additions under

capital leases . ... ... 18,798 10,664 10,395
Additional paid-in

capital related 1o tax

benefit on stock

options exercised . . . . 12,138 11,059 20,453

Office Depot operates in three reportable segments: North American Retail Division, Business Services Group (“BSG"), and
International Group. Each of these segments is managed separately primarily because it serves different customer groups. The
accounting policies for each segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Note A).

The following is a summary of our significant accounts and balances by segment, reconciled to our consolidated totals.

: North American International - Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in thousands) Retail Division BSG Group and Other* Total
Sales 2004 .. ... .. $5,940,677 . $4,045,501 $3,580;809 $ (2,288) $13,564,699

2003...... .. 5,650,051 3,965,271 2,746,535 (3,291) 12,358,566
2002...... .. 5,804,449 3,913,902 1,641,411 (3,128) 11,356,633
Segment operating profit 2004. .. .. .. $ 388,308 $ 399,534 $ 431,434 8 (394) $ 1,218,882
2003........ 311,184 387,867 369,288 (705) 1,067,634
2002.... ... 416,914 364,871 211,467 (646) 992,606
Capital expenditures 2004 . ... ... $ 230,225 $ 16,891 $ 65843 $ 78,263 $ 391 ,222
2003........ 62,712 17,362 68,532 67,875 216,481
2002........ 50,586 28,524 67,551 55,994 202,655
Depreciation and amortization 2004 ........ $ 98,143 $ 30,530 $ 52509 $ 87,984 $ 269,166
2003........ 96,027 35,315 40,577 81,298 253,217
2002, ....... 92,817 39,208 16,963 56,187 205,175
Charges for losses on 2004 ... ... .. $ 51,108 $ 20,176 $ 16,643 — $ 87,927
receivables and inventories 2003...... .. 56,857 32,065 29,360 — 118,282
2002........ 36,627 36,991 19,602 — 93,220
Net earnings from equity 2004 . .... .. —_— — $ 16,171 —_ $ 16,171
method investments 2003........ — — 11,056 — 11,056
2002...... .. — — 9,279 — 9,279
Assets 2004 . ... . . .. $1,844,632 $1,054,216 $2,456,944 $1,4‘i1,559 $ 6,767,351
2003...... .. 1,599,697 992 830 2,253,243 1,348,909 6,194,679

*Amounts included in “Eliminations and Other” consist of inter-segment sales, which are generally recorded at the cost to the selling entity, and assets
{including all cash and equivalents) and depreciation related to corporate activities.
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Senior management evaluates the performance of each business segment based on segment operating profit, which is defined
as sales less cost of goods sold, and store and warehouse operating expenses. General and administrative expenses, financing
costs and certain other items currently are not allocated to the business segments because they are viewed as corporate functions
that support alf activities. A reconciliation of the measure of segment operating profit to consolidated earnings from continuing oper-
ations before income taxes follows.

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Segmentoperating profit. . .. ... .. L $1,218,882 $1,067,634 $992,606
{Add)/subtract:
General and administrative expenses. . .......... .. ... il 665,825 578,840 486,279
Other operating expenses. . .. ...t S 23,080 22,809 9,855
INterest expense, NeL. . . . .. ... . 41,066 40,609 27,686
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt ......... ... . ... ... ... L. 45,407 — —
Miscellaneous income, Net . .. .. ... .. ... (17,729) (15,392) (7,183)
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and .

cumulative effect of accountingchange . ......... ... ... ... ... $ 461,233 $ 440,768 $475,969

We sell office products and services through either wholly owned operations or through joint ventures or licensing arrangements,
in Austria, Belgium, Canada, Costa Rica, El Salvador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Hungary, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan,
Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Spain; Switzerland, Thailand, the United Kingdom and the United States.
There is no single country outside of the United States in which we generate 10% or more of our total revenues. Geographic finan-
cial information relating to our business is as follows (in thousands).

Sales . Property and Equipment

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003
UnitedStates . ..................... $ 9,846,856 3 9,469,563 $ 9,575,457 $1,055,460 $ 891,305
International . ...................... 3,717,843 2,889,003 1,781,176 407,568 402,450
Total ... ... ... $13,564,699 312,358,566  $11,356,633 $1,463,028 $1,293,755

in BSG, $2.8 million in the International Group, and $8.9 million
at the corporate level. As of December 25, 2004, approximately
$5.2 million of the severance-related costs remained accrued.
In addition to severance-related costs, we accrued $1.7 million
for lease termination costs which was paid in January 2005.
Al of the remaining payments will be made by the end of 2005.
An additional $1.4 million of lease termination costs, $2.7 of
termination benefits, and $6.1 of other exit activity costs are
expected to be recorded in BSG during 2005 as the liabilities
are incurred related to these announced programs.

NOTE O—EXxit Costs and Other Activities

During 2004, we conducted a cost review across all busi-
ness units with the intent of identifying ways to streamtiine oper-
ations. During the fourth quarter, we announced a series of
initiatives, including consolidating call centers, transferring cer-
tain employees and functions to an outsourcing company, and
reducing staffing levels. Over 1,500 positions were transferred
or eliminated. Additionally, during 2004, our former Chairman
and CEQ resigned and received severance payments under his
existing employment agreement. The severance-related costs

associated with these activities totaled $16.6 million, with $2.0
million incurred in North American Retail Division, $2.9 million
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During 2004, we also relocated one warehouse in Europe
and incurred exit related costs of $13.9 million.
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NOTE P—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following changes were made to the previously reported quarterly information in connection with the restatement:

{In thousands, except per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Fiscal Year Ended December 25, 2004 .
Netsales. ........ ... . . $3,605,153 $3,162,324 $3,327,804 $3,469,418
Gross profit, as previously reported . . .. ... ... ... ... 1,135,992 973,696 1,041,644 1,104,227
Gross profit (as restated, see Note B) . ............. ... .. 1,136,137 973,841 1,041,789 1,104,372
Net earnings, as previously reported . . .. ................ 115,564 79,857 89,946 52,792(1)
Net earnings (as restated, see Note B) . . ............ ... 114,900 79,193 89,282 52,129
Net earnings per share, as previously reported:
BasiC..................... P $ 0.37 $ 0.26 $ 0.29 $ 0.17
Diluted ........................ e 0.37 0.25 0.28 0.17
Net earnings per share (as restated, see Note B):
BasiC........... e $ 0.37 $ 0.25 $ 0.29 $ 0.17
Diluted ... .. 0.37 0.25 0.28 0.17

(1) Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2004 include charges of $45.4 million relating to debt extinguishment, $21.9 million relating to severance
arrangements, contract termination and property disposal costs, $11.5 million of goodwill impairment charges, and net benefit of $11.3 million
related to tax rate and position changes. '

First Quarter Second Quarter  Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Fiscal Year Ended December 27, 2003

Netsales. ... ... .. . . . . $3,055,869 $2,815,691 $3,235,580 $3,251,426
Gross profit, as previously reported. . ............. ... ... 958,978 860,116 1,015,596 1,039,456
Gross profit (as restated, see Note B) ................... 959,128 860,266 - 1,015,746 1,039,606
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative

effect of accounting change, as previously reported. . . .. . 103,935 59,629 91,666 46,794(2)
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative _

effect of accounting change (as restated, see Note B) . ...~ 103,240 58,934 90,971 46,099
Net earnings, as previously reported . ... ................ 79,196(1) 59,629 91,666 45,804
Net earnings (as restated, see Note B) . ... ............. 78,501 58,934 90,971 45,109

Earnings per share from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change,
as previously reported:
BasiC. . . ... ... $ 0.34 $ 0.19 $ 030 § 0.15
Diluted . ... . .. 0.33 0.19 0.29 0.15
Earnings per share from continuing cperations before
cumulative effect of accounting change
(as restated, see Note B): v
Basic. ... ... $ 0.34 $ 0.19 3 020 " % 0.15

Diluted . ... . .. .. 0.33 0.19 0.29 0.15
Net earnings per share, as previously reported: )
BasiC. ... . e $ 0.26 $ 0.19 $ 0.30 $ 0.15
Diluted ... ... . 0.25 0.19 0.29 0.15
Net earnings per share (as restated, see Note B):
BaSiC. .. .. $ 0.25 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.29 3 0.14
Diluted ... .. 0.25 0.19 0.29 0.14

(1) Net earnings in the first quarter of 2003 includes a net charge of $25.8 million for the cumulative effect of adopting EITF 02-16. See Note C for
further information.

(2) Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change in the fourth quarter of 2003 includes pre-tax charges of
$32.4 million to adjust our lease termination costs related to our stores closed in prior periods and our write-down of certain internet investments.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUN;I'ING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Office
Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of Decem-
ber 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003, and for each of the three
years in the period ended December 25, 2004, and have issued
our report thereon dated March 7, 2005 (which report expresses
an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph
reiating to the entity’'s change in method of accounting for
cooperative advertising arrangements in 2003); such consoli-
dated financial statements and report is included in item 15(a)1
in this Form 10-K. Qur audits also included the financial state-
ment schedules of Office Depot, Inc. listed in Item 15(a)2. These
financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the
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Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion based on our audits. In cur opinion, such financial state-
ment schedules, when considered in relation to the basic con-
solidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.

r\){\a;&& . /(-ouc;\..,_ LL P

Certified Public Accountants
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 7, 2005
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Schedule li—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves . . ... 70

All other schedules have been omitted because they' are not applicable, not required or the information is included elsewhere herein.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In thousands)

SCHEDULE It

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Deductions—
Balance at Additions— Write-offs, Balance at
Beginning Charged to Payments and End of
Description of Period Expense Other Adjustments Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts: :
2004 ... . e $34,173 $18,767 $14,933 $38,007
2003 .. 29,149 25,645 20,621 34,173
2002 . 32,228 22,103 25,182 29,149
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Exhibit
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation )
3.2 Bylaws 2)
4.1 Form of Certificate representing shares of Common Stock (3)
42 Rights Agreement dated as of September 4, 1996, as amended and restated as of
November 25, 2003, between Office Depot, inc. and Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C., as
Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the form of the Right Certificate (15)
43 indenture, dated as of August 11, 2003, for the $400 million 6.250% Senior Notes due
August 15, 2013, between Office Depot, inc. and SunTrust Bank (4)
4.4 Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of August 11, 2003, for the $400 miltion
6.250% Senior Notes due August 15, 2013, between Office Depot, Inc. and SunTrust Bank (5)
45 Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of October 9, 2003, for the $400 million :
6.250% Senior Notes due August 15, 2013, between Office Depot, Inc. and SunTrust Bank ' (5)
10.01 Office Depot, Inc. Amended Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan* ®) -
10.02 Form of Indemnification Agreement, dated as of September 4, 1996, by and between
‘ Office Depat, Inc.-and each of David I. Fuente, Cynthia R. Cohen, W. Scott Hedrick,
James L. Heskett, Michael J. Myers, Peter J. Solomon, William P. Seltzer, and Thomas Kroeger (7)
10.03 Severance Agreement, including Release and Non-Compétition Agreement, dated
September 19, 2000 by and between Office Depot, Inc. and David |. Fuente (schedules
and exhibits omitted)* ' (8)
10.04 Lifetime Consulting and Non-Competition Agreement dated as of March 1, 2002 by and
between Office Depot, Inc. and Irwin Helford” (9)
10.05 Letter Agreement between Office Depot, Inc. and Neil R. Austrian dated October 4, 2004* (10)
10.06 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of November 7, 2000 by and between Office
‘ Depot, Inc. and Rolf van Kaldekerken* (11)
10.07 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2000, by and between Office
Depot, Inc. and Rolf van Kaldekerken* ‘ (11)
10.08 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of October 8, 2001 by and between Office
Depot, Inc. and Charies E. Brown* (9)
10.09 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of May 28, 1998, by and between Office Depot Inc.
and Charles E. Brown* (12)
-10.10 First Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 7, 2005, by and
. between Office Depot, Inc. and Carl (Chuck) Rubin® J
10.11 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of March 1, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc.
and Carl (Chuck) Rubin* .
10.12 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
Carl (Chuck) Rubin* N
10.13 Letter Agreement dated as of March 1, 2004, by and between QOffice Depat, Inc. and Carl (Chuck) Rubin® ..
10.14 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of March 22, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc.
and Rick Lepley* .
10.15 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
Rick Lepley* .
10.16 Letter Agreement dated as of March 22, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and Rick Lepley” .
10.17 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of August 1, 2000 by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
David C. Fannin* (11)
10.18 Change in Control Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2000, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
David C. Fannin* (1)
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10.19 Executive Employment and Change of Control Agreement dated as of December 29, 2001 by and

10.20 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of January 30, 2001 by and between the Company
and Jerry Colley*
10.21 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2001, by and between the Company
and Jerry Colley”
10.22 Five Year Credit Agreement dated as of April 30, 2004 by and among Office Depot, Inc. and
Citicorp USA, Inc. as syndication agent, Wachovia Bank, National Association as administrative agent,
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC as lead arrangers, and Citigroup
Global Markets Inc. as the sole bookrunner
10.23 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of March 11, 2004, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
Toys "R" Us, Inc. and its affiliated companies ’
10.24 Master Agreement for Business Process Outsourcing Services between Office Depot, Inc. and
ACS Commercial Solutions, Inc. dated November 30, 2004, reported on Form 8-K dated December 6, 2004
10.25 Contract for Purchase and Sale for certain land and contractual rights dated December 29, 2004
between Office Depot, Inc. and Stiles Corporation, reported on Form 8-K dated December 30, 2004
10.26 First Amendment to Contract for Purchase and Sale for certain land and contractual rights dated
January 28, 2005 between Office Depot, Inc. and Stites Corporation
10.27 Second Amendment to Contract for Purchase and Sale for certain land and contractual rights dated
February 11, 2005 between Office Depot, Inc. and Stiles Corporation
10.28 Form of Purchase Money Note related to Second Amendment to Contract for Purchase and Sale
10.29 Form of Purchase Money Mortgage related to Second Amendment to Contract for Purchase and Sale
10.30 Amendmert to Office Depot, Inc. Amended Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan*
21 List of Office Depot, Inc.’s Significant Subsidiaries
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
311 Certification of CEO required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)
312 Certification of CFO required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)
32 Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)

between Office Depot, Inc. and M. Bruce Nelson*

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

This information appears only in the copy of this report filed electronically with the SEC.

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Proxy Statement for Office Depot, Inc.’s 1995 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders.

Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on November 2, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.'s Registration Statement No. 33-39473 on Form S-4.
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.'s Registration Statement No. 333-108602 on Form S-4.

Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on October 27, 2003.
Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 23, 2004.
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 1996.

Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on October 31, 2000.
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 29, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 5, 2004.
Incorporated by referénce from the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 27, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the respective exhibit to Office Depot, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 30, 2000. )

Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on July 22, 2004.
Incorporated by reference from Office Depot, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on April 22, 2004.
Incorporated by reference from Office Depot's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 25, 2003.

(12)

(12)

*(16)
*(16)
*(16)

Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.

Upon request, we will furnish a copy of any exhibit to this report upon the payment of reasonable copying and mailing expenses.
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LIST OF THE COMPANY’S SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Exhibit 21

Eastman Office Supplies, Inc.
OD International, Inc.

The Office Club, Inc.

Office Depot of Texas, L.P.
Viking Office Products, Inc.(1)
Office Depot International Bv(2)

(1} Includes 6 subsidiaries in the same line of business
(2} Includes 76 subsidiaries in the same line of business

Delaware
Delaware
California
Delaware
California
Netherlands
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Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-62478 of Office Depot, Inc. on Form S-3
and Registration Statements No. 333-45591, No. 333-59603, No. 333-63507, No. 333-68081, No. 333-69831, No. 333-41060,
No. 333-80123 and No. 333-90305 of Office Depot, Inc. on Forms S-8 of our reports dated March 7, 2005 relating to the consoli-
dated financial statements and the financial statement schedules of Office Depct, Inc. (which report on the financial statements
expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s change in method of account-
ing for cooperative advertising arrangements) and management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc. for the year ended December 25, 2004.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 10, 2005
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Exhibit 31.1

Office Depot, Inc.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Neil R. Austrian, certify that:
1. ' have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-
rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annuat report, fairly pre-
sent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report; \

4. The company's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and proce-
dures (as defined in Exchange Act Rutes 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the com-
pany's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materiaily
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over finan- -
cial reporting, to the registrant’s independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the registrant's
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and '

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s{ NEIL R. AUSTRIAN

Neil R. Austrian
Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman
Board of Directors

Date: March 10, 2005

Office Depot 2004 Annual Report | 75




Exhibit 31.2

Office Depot, Inc.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Charles E. Brown, certify that:
1. [ have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc ;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-
rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly pre-
sent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;

4. The company's other Certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and proce-
dures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consclidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia! reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and '

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the com-
pany’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in'the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, to.the registrant’s independent registered public accounting firm and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design.or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ CHARLES E. BROWN

Charles E. Brown
Executive Vice Prasident, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 10, 2005
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- Exhibit 32

Office Depot, Inc.

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc. (the "Company”) for the fiscal year ended Decem-
ber 25, 2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Neil R. Austrian, as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Charles E. Brown, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ NEIL R. AUSTRIAN

Name: Neil R. Austrian .
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date:  March 10, 2005

s/ CHARLES E. BROWN

Name: Charles E. Brown
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date:  March 10, 2005

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code has been provided to
the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to ltem 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and
Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the Report, irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing).

Office Depot 2004 Annual Report | 77



Shareholder Information

CORPORATE OFFICES

2200 Old Germantown Road
Delray Beach, FL 33445

{561) 438-4800

Website: www.officedepot.com

ANNUAL MEETING

May 13, 2005 at 10:00am (ET)
Boca Raton Marriott at Boca Center
5150 Town Center Circle

Boca Raton, FL 33486

(561) 620-3712

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Fort Lauderdale, FL

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR
Mellon Investor Services, LLC
P.O. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ 07606
(800) 681-8059

Website: www.melloninvestor.com

TRUSTEE FOR 6.25% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2013
SunTrust Bank

777 Brickell Avenue

Miami, FL 33131

COMMON STOCK

Office Depot’'s common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol ODP. As of December 25,
2004, there were 3,611 stockholders of record. This number
“excludes individual stockholders holding stock under nomi-
nee security position listings.

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

New investors and current stockholders of record may
acquire shares of Office Depot's common stock through
the Company's direct stock purchase plan. Enrollment
materials, including the prospectus, are available on the
Company’s website under Company Information/investor
Relations/Stock Purchase or by calling Mellon Investor
Services at (800) 681-8059.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our
common stock. While we regularly assess our dividend
policy, we have no current plans to declare a dividend.

FORM 10-K
A Form 10-K is available without charge online at
www.officedepot.com, or through www.sec.gov.

It is also available upon written request to:
Investor Relations

Office Depot, Inc.

2200 Old Germantown Road

Delray Beach, FL 33445

(561) 438-7641

QUARTERLY STOCKHOLDER REPORTS

Office Depot's quarterly stockholders’ information is
provided on the Company website under Company
Information/Investor Relations/SEC Filings.

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE RANGE

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the
high and low sales prices of the Company's common stock
quoted on the NYSE Composite Tape. These prices do not
include retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions:

2004 High Low
$18.180  $15.430
$19.500 $15.850
$18.660 $14.690
$17.380 $13.870

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2003 . High Low
$15.390 $10.280
$15.270 $11.150
$18.500 $14.190
$16.990 $13.600

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
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CORPORATE OFFICERS

NEIL R. AUSTRIAN®
Interim Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer

ROLF VAN KALDEKERKEN
President
European Operations

CHARLES E. BROWN
Executive Vice President
Finance & Chief Financial Officer

CYNTHIA H. CAMPRELL
Executive Vice President
Delivery Sales

DAVID FANNIN
Executive Vice President
General Counsel &
Corporate Secretary

MARK HOLIFIELD
Executive Vice President
Supply Chain

RICK A. LEPLEY
Executive Vice President
North American Retail

MONICA LUECHTEFELD
Executive Vice President
Strategy and Development

PATRICIA MORRISON
Executive Vice President
Chief Information Officer

CHUCK RUBIN
Executive Vice President
Chief Merchandising &
Marketing Officer

FRANK SCRUGGS
Executive Vice President
Human Resources

JEFFREY AIKEN
Senior Vice President
Tax

ROBERT BREWER
Senior Vice President
Chief Compliance Officer

JAMES A, WALKER
Senior Vice President
Controller

CAROLYN CLARKE
Vice President
Treasurer

BRIAN DAN
Vice President
Assistant Corporate Secretary

ANNE ZUCKERMAN
Vice President
Assistant Corporate Secretary

OPERATING OFFICERS

WIM VAN AALST
Senior Vice President
Supply Chain—Eurcpe

DENNIS ANDRUSKIEWICZ
Senior Vice President
Supply Chain Logistics

REX CIAVOLA, JR.
Senior Vice President
Global Marketing Production

GRAHAM CUNDICK
Senior Vice President
European Merchandising &
Marketing

GEORGE HILL
Senior Vice President
Retail Operations

BRUCE MARTIN
Senior Vice President & President
4Sure.com, Inc.

TIMOTHY TOEWS
Senior Vice President
Corporate Systems

DAVID J. TRUDNOWSKI
Senior Vice President
BSG Western Region

ROB VALE
Senior Vice President
European Operations

(O interim Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from Qctober 4, 2004 until March 11, 2008,

Steve Odland assumed Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director roies on March 11, 2005.

T

NEIL R. AUSTRIAN®
Interim Chairman of the Board
Chief Exscutive Officer

Office Depot, inc.

DAVID W. BERNAUER
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Walgreen Co.

X
DAVID I. FUENTE

Managing Partner
Dash Ventures

MYRA M. HART
Professor, Entrepreneurial
Management

" Harvard Business School

JAMES L. HESKETT
Baker Foundation Protessor
Harvard Business School

MICHAEL J. MYERS
President
First Century Partners

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board
In-Q-Tel, Inc.

ABELARDO (AL) E. BRU
Vice Chairman (retired)
PepsiCo, Inc,

BRENDA ]. GAINES

North American President {retired)
Biners Club international

Division of Citigroup

W. SCOTT HEDRICK
General Partner
InterWest Partners

PATRICIA A. MCKAY
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Restoration Hardware, Inc.
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